HPTN 096

Getting to Zero among Black Men who have Sex with Men (MSM) in the American South: Testing the Efficacy of an Integrated Strategy

DAIDS Document ID: 38561

A Study by the HIV Prevention Trials Network (HPTN)

Sponsored by:

Division of AIDS (DAIDS), United States (US) National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), US National Institutes of Health (NIH)

Non-IND Study

Protocol Co-Chair: LaRon E. Nelson, PhD, RN, FNP, FNAP, FAAN

> **Protocol Co-Chair:** Chris Beyrer, MD, MPH

Protocol Co-Chair: Robert H. Remien, PhD

FINAL Version 3.0 3 August 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PROT	OCOL	SIGNATURE PAGE	6
LIST	OF AB	BREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	7
PROT	OCOL	TEAM ROSTER	9
SCHE	CMA		. 17
1.0	Introd	uction	. 23
	1.1	Background	. 23
	1.2	Rationale for an Integrated Strategy Approach	. 28
2.0	Study	Objectives and Endpoints	. 44
	2.1	Primary Objectives	. 45
	2.2	Secondary Objectives	. 45
	2.3	Exploratory Objectives	. 46
	2.4	Endpoints and Data Sources for Primary and Secondary Objectives	. 47
3.0	Overv	iew of Study Design	. 48
	3.1	Study Duration	. 50
4.0	Study	Population	. 50
	4.1	Description and Selection of the 16 Study Communities	. 50
	4.2	Randomization	. 54
	4.3	Priority Population for Components of the Integrated Strategy	. 54
5 0	4.4	Priority Population for Cross-Sectional Assessments	. 54
5.0	Health	Equity Component	. 54
	5.1 5.2	Hypothesis.	. 54
	5.2 5.2	Logith Equity Component Activities	. 33
	5.5 5.4	Health Equily Component Activities	. 37
	5.4 5.5	Process Measures Delated to the Health Equity Component	. 01
60	S.S Social	Modie Influencer Component	. 02
0.0	Social	Wrothesis	· 03
	0.1 6 2	Component Description	. 05
	0.2 6 3	SMI Component Activities	. 05
	0.3 6 4	Human Subjects Consideration	68
	6.5	Process Measures Related to the SMI Component	69
7.0	Interse	ectional Stigma Reduction Component	. 70
/•0	7.1	Hypothesis	70
	7.2	Component Description	.70
	7.3	Intersectional Stigma Reduction Activities	.75
	7.4	Human Subjects Considerations	. 82
	7.5	Process Measures related to the Intersectional Stigma Reduction Component	. 83
8.0	Virtua	l Peer Support Component	. 84
	8.1	Hypothesis	. 84
	8.2	Component Description	. 84
	8.3	Component Activities and Timeline	. 87

	8.4	Human Subjects Considerations	88	
	8.5 Process Measures related to the Virtual Peer Support Component			
9.0	Moni	toring EHE Plans	90	
10.0	Cross	s-Sectional Assessments	90	
	10.1	Sampling Methodology	90	
	10.2	Cross-Sectional Assessment Locations	91	
	10.3	Cross-Sectional Assessment Components	92	
	10.4	Cross-Sectional Assessment Population and Sample Size	93	
	10.5	Participant Discontinuation	94	
	10.6	Human Subjects Considerations	94	
11.0	Provi	sion of Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis and Antiretroviral Therapy	94	
12.0	Statis	stical Considerations	95	
	12.1	Review of Study Design	95	
	12.2	Endpoints	95	
	12.3	Sample Size	97	
	12.4	Accrual and Retention	98	
	12.5	Random Assignment/Study Arm Assignment	98	
	12.6	Blinding	98	
	12.7	Study Monitoring and Interim Analyses	98	
	12.8	Statistical Analysis	99	
13.0	Socia	l Harms Reporting	103	
14.0	Hum	an Subjects Considerations	104	
	14.1	Collaborative Community Partnerships	. 104	
	14.2	Risk-Benefit Assessment	. 104	
	14.3	Ethical Review	. 107	
	14.4	Informed Consent	. 108	
	14.5	Study Discontinuation	. 108	
15.0	Labo	ratory Specimens and Biohazard Containment	109	
	15.1	Local Laboratory Specimens	. 109	
	15.2	Laboratory Center Specimens	. 109	
	15.3	Specimen Storage at Local Laboratories	. 109	
	15.4	Virology	. 109	
	15.5	Pharmacology	. 110	
	15.6	Quality Control and Quality Assurance Procedures	. 110	
	15.7	HIV Diagnostic Testing	. 111	
	15.8	Long-Term Local Specimen Storage and Possible Future Research Testing	. 111	
	15.9	Biohazard Containment	. 111	
16.0	Admi	inistrative Procedures	111	
	16.1	Protocol Registration	. 111	
	16.2	Study Activation	. 112	
	16.3	Study Coordination	. 112	
	16.4	Study Monitoring	. 112	
	16.5	Protocol Compliance	. 112	
	16.6	Study Records	. 113	
	16.7	Use of Information and Publications	. 113	
	16.8	ClinicalTrials.gov	. 114	

17.0	Refer	ences	115
Appen	ndix IA	: Schedule of Evaluations and Procedures (Local LDMS)	132
Appen	ndix IB	: Schedule of Evaluations and Procedures (No Local LDMS)	133
Appen	ndix II:	HPTN 096 Pilot Schema, Protocol, and Informed Consent Forms	134
Appen	ndix IIA	A: HPTN 096 Pilot Schema	134
Appen	ndix III	3: HPTN 096 Pilot Protocol	137
1.0	Purpo	se of the Pilot	137
2.0	Overv	view of the Pilot Design	137
	2.1	Assessment of Pilot Outcome Measures	138
	2.2	Timeline for Pilot	138
	2.3	Activities in Non-Pilot Communities during Pilot Implementation	139
3.0	Pilot S	Study Communities	140
4.0	Healtl	h Equity Pilot Component	140
	4.1	Pilot Component Description	140
	4.2	Preparatory Activities in Non-Pilot Communities	143
	4.3	Pilot Outcome Measures	143
	4.4	Human Subjects Considerations	144
5.0	SMI F	Pilot Component	144
	5.1	Pilot Component Description	144
	5.2	Pilot Outcome Measures	145
	5.3	Human Subjects Considerations	147
	5.4	Preparatory Activities in Non-Pilot Communities	147
6.0	Inters	ectional Stigma Reduction Pilot Component	147
	6.1	Pilot Component Description	147
	6.2	Preparatory Activities in Non-Pilot Communities	153
	6.3	Pilot Outcome Measures	153
	6.4	Human Subjects Considerations	154
7.0	Peer S	Support Pilot Component	155
	7.1	Pilot Component Description	155
	7.2	Pilot Outcome Measures	156
	7.3	Human Subjects Considerations/Confidentiality	157
	7.4	Preparatory Activities in Non-Pilot Communities	157
8.0	Baseli	ne Cross-Sectional Assessment Pilot	158
	8.1	Pilot Cross-Sectional Assessment Description	158
	8.2	Collection of AMIS Data During Pilot	158
	8.3	Pilot Outcome Measures	158
	8.4	Human Subjects Considerations	159
	8.5	Preparatory Activities in Non-Pilot Communities	159
9.0	PrEP	Provision during Pilot	159
10.0	Comn	nunity Engagement for Pilot	160
	10.1	Levels of Engagement	160
	10.2	Component-Specific Community Engagement Activities and Pilot Outcomes	
		Measures	161
	10.3	Cross-Sectional Assessment Community Engagement Activities and Pilot	
		Outcome Measures	163

11.0	Statis	tical Considerations	163			
	11.1	Inclusion of Pilot Data into Overall Study Analysis	. 163			
	11.2	Inclusion of Staggered Start into Overall Study Analysis	163			
	11.3	Provision of HIV Surveillance and PrEP Prescription Data	. 164			
	11.4	Summaries of Pilot Data	164			
	11.5	Comparison of AMIS and Pilot Surveys	5164			
12.0	Trans	ition from Pilot to Full Implementation	165			
APPE	NDIX	IIC: Sample Informed Consent Forms For Adults and Assent Forms for				
	Indivi	iduals Under Age 18	165			
Appen	ndix IIO	C-I: Sample ICF for Pilot Peer Support	166			
Appen	ndix IIO	C-II: – Sample Informed Consent Form for Adults and Assent for Individu	uals			
••	Ages 1	15 to Age of Majority for Pilot Baseline Cross-sectional Assessments with				
	LDMS (Communities with Local LDMS Laboratory)					
Appen	ndix IIO	C-III: Sample Informed Consent Form for Adults and Assent for Individu	als			
	Ages	15 to Age of Majority for Pilot Baseline Cross-Sectional Assessments				
	(Com	munities without Local LDMS Laboratory)	180			

PROTOCOL SIGNATURE PAGE

DAIDS Document ID #38561

FINAL Version 3.0 3 August 2023

I will conduct the study in accordance with the provisions of this protocol and all applicable protocol-related documents. I agree to conduct this study in compliance with United States (US) Health and Human Service regulations (45 CFR 46); applicable US Food and Drug Administration regulations; standards of the International Conference on Harmonization Guideline for Good Clinical Practice (E6); Institutional Review Board/Ethics Committee determinations; all applicable in-country, state, and local laws and regulations; and other applicable requirements (e.g., US National Institutes of Health, Division of AIDS) and institutional policies.

I have read and understand the information in this protocol and will ensure that all associates, colleagues, and employees assisting in the conduct of the study are informed about the obligations incurred by their contribution to the study.

Name of Investigator (print name)

Signature of Investigator

Date (DD/MONTH/YYY)

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ACCURE	Accountability for Cancer Care through Undoing Racism & Equity
AIDS	acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
AMIS	American Men's Internet Survey
AOR	adjusted odds ratio
ART	antiretroviral therapy
BAC	blood alcohol content
BAI	Black AIDS Institute
BTAN	Black Treatment Advocates Network
CAB-LA	long-acting injectable cabotegravir
CABs	Community Advisory Boards
CAG	Community Advisory Group
CASI	computer-assisted self-interview
CBO	community-based organization
CBPR	community-based participatory research
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CFIR	consolidated framework for implementation research
CI	confidence interval
COVID-19	Coronavirus Disease 2019
CRFs	case report forms
CRISP	Culturally Responsive Intersectional Stigma Prevention
CSG	Community Strategies Group
CV	coefficient of variation
DAIDS	Division of AIDS
DBS	dried blood spot
DHHS	(US) Department of Health and Human Services
ECHO	Extension for Community Healthcare Outcomes
EHE	Ending the HIV Epidemic: A Plan for America
ESAP	Expanded Syringe Access Program
HCCQ	healthcare climate questionnaire
HCF	healthcare facilities
HIPAA	Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HPTN	HIV Prevention Trials Network
HRSA	Health Resources and Services Administration
ICFs	informed consent forms
IRB	institutional review board
IRLM	Implementation Research Logic Model
LC	(HPTN) Laboratory Center
LDMS	Laboratory Data Management System
LGBT	lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender

LOC	(HPTN) Leadership and Operations Center
MOP	(HPTN) Manual of Operations
MSM	men who have sex with men
NIAID	(US) National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases
NIH	(US) National Institutes of Health
NIR	network-individual-resource
OR	odds ratio
nPEP	non-occupational post-exposure prophylaxis
POL(s)	popular opinion leader(s)
PrEP	pre-exposure prophylaxis
PTID	participant ID
QA	quality assurance
QC	quality control
QI	quality improvement
RCT(s)	randomized controlled trial(s)
RR	relative risk
SBPAN	Southern Black Policy & Advocacy Network
SDMC	(HPTN) Statistical and Data Management Center
SDT	self-determination theory
sIRB	single IRB
SMC	(HPTN) Study Monitoring Committee
SMI	social media influencer
SOC	standard-of-care
SSP	Study-specific Procedures (Manual)
STI(s)	sexually transmitted infection(s)
TA	technical assistance
US	United States
VL	viral load

PROTOCOL TEAM ROSTER

Protocol Co-Chairs:

LaRon E. Nelson, PhD, RN, FNP, FNAP, FAAN

Independence Foundation Professor and Associate Professor of Nursing Associate Dean for Global Affairs & Planetary Health Yale University 400 West Campus Drive New Haven, CT 06477 Phone: (203) 785-5797 Email: laron.nelson@yale.edu

Chris Beyrer, MD, MPH

Professor of Epidemiology, International Health, and Health, Behavior and Society Director, Center for Public Health and Human Rights Associate Director, Johns Hopkins Center for AIDS Research Johns Hopkins University 615 N. Wolfe St, E 7152 Baltimore, MD 21205 Phone: 410-614-5247 Email: cbeyrer@jhu.edu

Robert H. Remien, PhD

Professor of Clinical Psychology (in Psychiatry) Director, HIV Center for Clinical and Behavioral Studies Co-Director, Division of Gender, Sexuality and Health, NY State Psychiatric Institute and Columbia University 722 West 168th Street, Floor R3, Room 308 New York, NY 10032 Phone: 646-774-6933 Email: rhr1@cumc.columbia.edu

National Institutes of Health (NIH):

Dale Burwen, MD, MPH Medical Officer

Clinical Prevention Research Branch, Prevention Sciences Program, Division of AIDS, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health 5601 Fishers Lane, Room 8B49 Rockville, MD 20852 Phone: 240-669-2867 Email: dale.burwen@nih.gov

Michael J. Stirratt, PhD Scientific Program Officer

NIMH Division of AIDS Research 5601 Fishers Lane, Room 9G28, MSC 9831 Rockville, MD 20852 Phone: 240-627-3875 Email: michael.stirratt@nih.gov

<u>Centers for Disease Control and</u> <u>Prevention (CDC)</u>:

Kevin P. Delaney, PhD, MPH

Division of HIV/AIDS Prevention, NCHHSTP, CDC 1600 Clifton Road, Mailstop US8-4 Atlanta, GA 30329 Phone: 404-639-8630 Email: kdelaney@cdc.gov

CAPT Anna Satcher Johnson, MPH

Division of HIV/AIDS Prevention, NCHHSTP, CDC 1600 Clifton Road, Mailstop US8-2 Atlanta, GA 30329 Phone: 404-639-6167 Email: asatcherjohnson@cdc.gov

Dawn K. Smith, MD, MS, MPH

Division of HIV/AIDS Prevention, NCHHSTP, CDC 1600 Clifton Road, Mailstop US8-4 Atlanta, GA 30329 Phone: 404-639-5166 Email: dks0@cdc.gov

<u>Health Resources and Services</u> <u>Administration (HRSA)</u>:

Kirsten Argueta, MHS

Health Resources and Services Administration Bureau of Primary Health Care 5600 Fishers Lane Rockville, MD 20857 Phone: 202-427-6421 Email: KArgueta@hrsa.gov

Stacy Cohen, MPH

Health Resources and Services Administration HIV/AIDS Bureau 5600 Fishers Lane, #09N160 Rockville, MD 20857 Phone: 301-443-3259 Email: scohen@hrsa.gov

Shelita Merchant, PhD, MPH

Health Resources and Services Administration HIV/AIDS Bureau 5600 Fishers Lane, #09N176D Rockville, MD 20857 Phone: 240-535-8700 Email: smerchant1@hrsa.gov

<u>HPTN Leadership and Operations Center</u> (LOC):

Kevin Bokoch, BA

Sr. Communications Officer 359 Blackwell Street, Suite 200 Durham, NC 27701 Phone: 919-321-3856 Email: kbokoch@fhi360.org

Marcus D. Bryan, PhD, RN

Sr. Community Programs Manager FHI 360 359 Blackwell Street, Suite 200 Durham, NC 27701 Phone: 919-638-9850 Email: mbryan@fhi360.org

Theresa Gamble, PhD

Scientist II FHI 360 359 Blackwell Street, Suite 200 Durham, NC 27701 Phone: 919-321-3520 Email: tgamble@fhi360.org

Elizabeth Greene, MPH

Sr. Clinical Research Manager FHI 360 359 Blackwell Street, Suite 200 Durham, NC 27701 Phone: 919-321-3411 Email: egreene@fhi360.org

Sherri Johnson, MPH

Sr. Clinical Research Manager FHI 360 1825 Connecticut Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20009 Phone: 202-884-8677 Email: sjohnson@fhi360.org

Rita Labbett, MPH, CCRC

Clinical Research Manager FHI 360 359 Blackwell Street, Suite 200 Durham, NC 27701 Phone: 919-544-7040 Email: rlabbett@fhi360.org

Laura Long, MA

Digital Media Manager FHI 360 359 Blackwell Street, Suite 200 Durham, NC 27701 Phone: 919-321-3742 Email: lsmith@fhi360.org

Jonathan Paul Lucas, MPH

Director, Community Programs FHI 360 359 Blackwell Street Suite 200 Durham, North Carolina 27701 Phone: 919-321-3574 jlucas@fhi360.org

HPTN Ethics Representative:

Kathleen M. MacQueen, PhD, MPH

FHI 360 359 Blackwell Street, Suite 200 Durham, NC 27701 Phone: 919-544-7040, x11587 Email: kmacqueen@fhi360.org

Community Representatives:

Daniel D. Driffin, MPH

THRIVE Support Services 2038 Stanton Road Atlanta, GA 30344 Phone: 678-852-3959 Email: ddriffin@gmail.com

Christopher Hucks-Ortiz, MPH

Chair, HPTN Black Caucus HealthHIV 1630 Connecticut Ave, NW, Ste 500 Washington DC, 20009 Phone: 202-232-6749 Cell: 323-404-4101 Email: chortiz@live.com

Craig S. Hutchinson, MPH

Co-Chair, HPTN Black Caucus Stanford University School of Medicine Stanford Center for Biomedical Informatics Research MSOB, 1265 Welch Road Stanford, CA 94305 Phone: 510-410-5734 Email: CraigSHutchinson@gmail.com

Melissa M. Turner, MSW, MPA

HPTN Community Working Group Representative Veterans Affairs Medical Center 50 Irving Street NW, Mail Code: 151B Washington, DC 20422 Phone: 202-494-7933 Email: Melissa.Turner@va.gov

<u>HPTN Statistical and Data Management</u> <u>Center (SDMC)</u>:

Lynda Marie Emel, PhD HPTN SDMC Associate Director SCHARP-FHCRC 1100 Fairview Ave N, M2C-118 Seattle, WA 98109 Phone: 206-667-5803 Email: lemel@scharp.org

Tanya Harrell Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center 1100 Fairview Ave. N. P.0. Box 19024 Seattle, WA 98109-1024 Phone: 206-667-6568 Email: tharrell@scharp.org

James P. Hughes, PhD

Protocol Biostatistician University of Washington; Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center Department of Biostatistics MS 357232 Seattle, WA 98195 Phone: 206-616-2721 Email: jphughes@uw.edu

Allison Meisner, PhD

Protocol Biostatistician Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Vaccine and Infectious Disease Division 1100 Fairview Ave N, M2-C200 Seattle, WA 98109 Phone: 206-667-4218 Email: ameisner@fredhutch.org

Julie Ngo, MPH

Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center 1100 Fairview Ave. N. P.0. Box 19024 Seattle, WA 98109-1024 Phone: 206-667-2094 Email: jhngo@scharp.org

HPTN Laboratory Center (LC):

Susan Eshleman, MD, PhD Virologist

Johns Hopkins Univ. School of Medicine 646 Ross Building, 720 Rutland Ave. Baltimore, MD 21287 Phone: 410-614-4734 Email: seshlem@jhmi.edu

Philip A. Sullivan, MPH, MLS (ASCP)^{CM} QA/QC Coordinator

Johns Hopkins Univ. Dept. of Pathology 600 North Wolfe St. Pathology 311 Baltimore, MD 21287 Phone: 410-502-5720 Email: PSulli22@jhmi.edu

Charlotte A. Gaydos, DrPH, MS, MPH

Division of Infectious Diseases Johns Hopkins University 725 North Wolfe St. 211 Preclinical Teaching Bldg. Fisher Center Baltimore, MD 21205 Phone: 410-614-0932 Email: cgaydos@jhmi.edu

<u>Pharmaceutical Company</u> <u>Representatives</u>:

Christoph C. Carter, MD, PhD

Gilead Sciences 300 Lakeside Drive Foster City, CA 94404 Phone: 650-378-8127 Email: christoph.carter7@gilead.com

James F. Rooney, MD

Gilead Sciences 333 Lakeside Drive Foster City, CA 94404 Phone: 650-522-5708 Email: jim.rooney@gilead.com

Study Community Representatives

Melverta Bender, MLS, MPH

Director, Office of STD/HIV Mississippi State Department of Health 570 E. Woodrow Wilson Ave., Suite 350 PO Box 1700 Jackson, MS 39215-1700 Phone: 601-576-7723, x7711 Email: melverta.bender@msdh.ms.gov

Melvin L. Cauthen, MSW, LCSW-C

Administrator HIV Services/Public Health Services Montgomery County Department of Health and Human Services 2000 Dennis Avenue, Suite 22 Silver Spring, MD 20902 Phone: 240-777-4837 Email: melvin.cauthen@montgomerycountymd.gov

Kendrick Clack, APRN, FNP-C, AAHIVS

AIDS Healthcare Foundation Houston 6260 Westpark Dr, Ste 100 Houston, TX 77057 Phone: 713-623-6796, x270 Email: clackk@afhouston.org

Rochelle Cole

Baton Rouge EHE Coordinator City of Baton Rouge/Parrish of East Baton Rouge Office of Mayor-President 222 Saint Louis Street Baton Rouge, LA 70802 Phone: 504-360-5469 Email: racole@brla.gov

Matthew Jenkins, BS/HSM

EHE Health Program Manager Mecklenburg County Public Health 2845 Beatties Ford Road Charlotte, NC 28216 Phone: 980-314-9307 Email: Matthew.Jenkins@mecklenburgcountync.gov

Venton C. Hill-Jones, MSHCAD

Southern Black Policy and Advocacy Network 1075 Griffin Street West, Suite 211 Dallas, TX 75216 Phone: 214-335-2227 Email: vhill-jones@SBPAN.org

Daniel Murdock, PhD, MPH

Ending the HIV Epidemic Coordinator Office of Health Policy & AIDS Funding 1515 Poydras Street, STE 1170 New Orleans, LA 70112 Phone: 504-658-2809 Email: daniel.murdock@nola.gov

Ashley Ross, MPH

EHE Coordinator St. Jude Children's Research Hospital 262 Danny Thomas Place Memphis, TN 38105 Phone: 901-595-3920 Email: Ashley.ross@stjude.org

Justin C. Smith, MS, MPH

Director, Campaign to End AIDS Positive Impact Health Centers 2800 Century Parkway NE Suite 550 Atlanta, GA 30345 Phone: 404-977-5133 Email: justin.smith@PIHCGA.org

Protocol Team Members:

Bruce Agins, MD, MPH

Division of Infectious Disease Epidemiology Institute for Global Health Sciences University of California San Francisco Phone: 646-267-0644 Email: Bruce.Agins@ucsf.edu

Marlon M. Bailey, PhD, MFA

Women and Gender Studies School of Social Transformation Arizona State University Wilson Hall Room 307 PO Box 876403 Tempe, AZ 85287 Phone: 510-484-6440 Email: marlon.bailey@asu.edu

Donte T. Boyd, PhD, MSW

The Ohio State University, College of Social Work 1947 College Rd N Columbus, OH 43210 Phone: 323-540-9783 Email: Boyd.465@osu.edu

Donaldson Conserve, PhD, MS

George Washington University Milken Institute School of Public Health 950 New Hampshire Ave, NW Washington DC 20052 Phone: 917-443-6124 Email: dxc341@gmail.com

Patricia Coury-Doniger, FNP, ANCC-FNP-C

University of Rochester, Infectious Diseases Division 2737 Lake Road Williamson, NY 14589 Phone: 315-589-5150 Email: patricia_courydoniger@urmc.rochester.edu

Stephan Davis, DNP, MHSA, FACHE

University of North Texas Health Science Center, School of Public Health 3500 Camp Bowie Blvd. Fort Worth, TX 76107 Phone: 817-935-8499 Email: Stephan.Davis@aya.yale.edu

Dustin T. Duncan, ScD

Columbia University Mailman School of Public Health 722 West 168th Street, Room 715 New York, NY 10032 Phone: 212-304-6591 Email: dd3018@columbia.edu

Errol L. Fields, MD, PhD, MPH

Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine 733 N Broadway Baltimore, MD 21205 Phone: 410-502-8317 Email: errol.fields@jhmi.edu

Sheldon D. Fields, PhD, RN, FNP-BC,

AACRN, FAANP, FNAP, FAAN Harriet Rothkopf Heilbrunn School of Nursing, Long Island University-Brooklyn 1 University Plaza Brooklyn, NY 11201 Phone: 585-315-8725 Email: Sheldon.fields@liu.edu

Lisa Hightow-Weidman, MD, MPH

Institute for Global Health and Infectious Diseases University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill 130 Mason Farm Road Suite 2154 Bioinformatics Building Chapel Hill, NC 27599 Phone: 919-843-0033 Email: Lisa_hightow@med.unc.edu

Mandy J. Hill, DrPH, MPH

Department of Emergency Medicine McGovern Medical School The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston 6431 Fannin Street, JJL 475G Houston, Texas 77030 Phone: 713-500-7661 Email: Mandy.J.Hill@uth.tmc.edu

Risha Irvin, MD, MPH

Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine 1830 E. Monument Street Division of Infectious Diseases, 4th Floor Baltimore, MD 21205 Phone: 443-287-4843 Email: rirvin1@jhmi.edu

Alex S. Keuroghlian, MD, MPH

The Fenway Institute 126 Brookline Avenue, 3rd Floor Boston, MA 02215 Phone: 617-927-6204 Email: akeuroghlian@fenwayhealth.org

Tavell L. Kindall, PhD, DNP, APRN, FNP-BC, AACRN, AAHIVS

St. Thomas Community Health Center 1936 Magazine Street New Orleans, LA 70130 Phone: 504-529-5558 Email: tkindall@stthomaschc.org

Carmen Logie, PhD, MSW

Factor-Inwentash Faculty of Social Work University of Toronto 246 Bloor Street West Toronto, ON M5S 1V4 Phone: 647-454-4203 Email: carmen.logie@utoronto.ca

Kenneth H. Mayer, MD

Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Harvard Medical School Harvard T. H. Chan School of Public Health The Fenway Institute, Fenway Health 1340 Boylston St. Boston, MA 02215 Phone: 617-927-6087 Email: kmayer@fenwayhealth.org

Leisha McKinley-Beach

Independent Public Health Consultant Phone: 850-766-8067 Email: leishamckinleybeach@gmail.com

Leandro A. Mena, MD, MPH

University of Mississippi Medical Center 2500 North State Street Jackson, MS 39216 Phone: 601-984-5560 Email: Lmena@umc.edu

Ofole Mgbako, MD

Columbia University Medical Center 630 W. 168th St. Box 32 New York, NY 10032 Phone: 908-797-9637 Email: om2292@cumc.columbia.edu

Kate M. Mitchell, PhD

Imperial College London Department of Infectious Diseases Epidemiology, School of Public Health Imperial College London Norfolk Place, St-Mary's Campus London, UK W2 1PG Phone: +44 (0) 20 7594 3007 Email: kate.mitchell@imperial.ac.uk

Steve North, MD, MPH

Eleanor Health 3711 University Drive, Suite B Durham, NC 27707 Phone: 828-467-4859 Email: Steve.north@crhi.org

Gjvar M. Payne

Executive Director Capitol Area Reentry Program Inc. 1364 Swan Ave. Baton Rouge, LA 70807 Phone: 225-775-7988 Email: gjvarmikael@gmail.com

Julie Pulerwitz, ScD

Population Council 4301 Connecticut Avenue, NW Suite 280 Washington, DC 20008 Phone: 202-237-9400 Email: julterwitz@popcouncil.org

Patrick Sullivan, DVM, PhD

Emory University, Rollins School of Public Health 1518 Clifton Road NE Atlanta, GA 30322 Phone: 404-727-2038 Email: pssulli@emory.edu

DeAnne Turner, PhD, MPH

Center for Interdisciplinary Research on AIDS (CIRA) Yale University 135 College Street, Suite 200 New Haven, CT 06510 Phone: 727-515-8187 Email: deanne.turner@yale.edu

David Vlahov, PhD, RN

Yale School of Nursing 250 E. 87th St., Apt 25AJ New York, NY 10128 Phone: 646-232-3583 Email: David.Vlahov@yale.edu

Stephaun Wallace, PhD, MS

HIV Vaccine Trials Network/Fred Hutch/University of Washington 1100 Fairview Ave. N., Mailstop E3-300 Seattle, WA 98109 Phone: 206-667-3108 Email: sewallac@fredhutch.org

Darren L. Whitfield, PhD, MSW

University of Pittsburgh School of Social Work 2217F Cathedral of Learning 4200 Fifth Ave Pittsburgh, PA 15260 Phone: 412-648-7481 Email: Dlw83@pitt.edu

SCHEMA

Purpose: The purpose of this study is to evaluate an integrated, population-based approach designed to reduce human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) incidence among Black men who have sex with men (MSM) in the southern US by increasing HIV testing, uptake and use of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) among Black MSM living without HIV, and viral suppression rates among Black MSM living with HIV. A status-neutral approach will be taken such that Black MSM, regardless of HIV status (both those living with and without HIV), will be included in the study.

Design: This study is a community-randomized, controlled, hybrid type III implementation effectiveness study. The study will deliver an integrated strategy that includes a combination of four community-, organizational-, and interpersonal-level components designed to impact individual-level outcomes. A cross-sectional assessment will be conducted at baseline and at the end of the 3-year implementation period. Study endpoints will be assessed using study-collected data, routinely collected HIV surveillance data and commercially available prescription data.

Integrated Strategy Components: The four study components are described below.

- **Health equity:** This community-level structural component will use a standardized, nationally replicable community coalition model (Black Treatment Advocates Networks [BTAN]) to implement an enhanced program model geared to 1) <u>facilitate</u> the effects of the other HPTN 096 interventions by minimizing barriers to HIV testing, PrEP use and viral suppression through sensitizing a local network of service providers (e.g., social, legal, economic sectors) to the needs of Black MSM and maintaining an online platform for exchanging information about the local network that can be used to link Black MSM to resources and services, and 2) <u>amplify</u> the effects of other HPTN 096 components by increasing Black MSM's receptivity to those activities through the integration and promotion of HPTN 096 into the activities of the community coalition model.
- Social media influencers: In this community-level component, social media influencers (SMI) will be defined for the purposes of this study as users on social media who have established credibility, trust and access to a large audience of Black MSM, and who can persuade them by virtue of their authenticity and reach. SMI will provide tailored messaging for Black MSM in intervention communities on the topics of:
 - HIV/sexually transmitted infections (STI) testing promotion
 - PrEP (and general HIV prevention) awareness and promotion
 - Definition and benefits of viral suppression.

Messages may include direction towards health care facilities (HCFs) involved in the intersectional stigma reduction component and information about the virtual peer support platform or BTAN+ events.

- **Intersectional stigma reduction:** This organizational-level component will take place in HCFs and is designed to improve cultural responsiveness in the provision of HIV prevention and health care services to Black MSM. It is expected to contribute to a reduction in HIV incidence by creating an affirming and autonomy-supportive healthcare environment that supports Black MSM engagement in HIV-related care and services and that promotes increased HIV/STI testing, PrEP uptake and viral suppression rates.
- Virtual peer support: In this interpersonal-level component, peer support workers will be trained and compensated to provide emotional and practical support services via a virtual platform. These peer support workers will have shared lived experiences with those whom they are supporting, be self-reflective of those experiences, and know when to share those experiences with others in an appropriate and supportive manner. These activities will be closely supervised and managed centrally and will not be directly affiliated with any specific HIV prevention or treatment HCF. Once trained, the peer support workers will have demonstrated competencies in the following domains:
 - HIV, PrEP, non-occupational post-exposure prophylaxis (nPEP), other HIV prevention options and antiretroviral therapy (ART) education
 - Adherence to PrEP, ART and medical care
 - HIV/STI testing
 - New HIV diagnosis
 - Addressing intersectional stigma (anti-Black racism, sexual stigmas, HIV-related stigma)
 - Self-care
 - Information about national and local resources and assistance programs, Black MSM-centered health services, and the cost and insurance coverage of medications (PrEP/ART) and medical care
 - Multicultural competency (as it relates to a range of self-identities and the heterogeneity of the HIV epidemic for Black MSM in the southern US)

Baseline and Post-Implementation Cross-Sectional Assessments: Two cross-sectional assessments will be conducted for this study: one at baseline, the other after the three-year integrated strategy ends (post-implementation assessment). A starfish sampling approach (the combination of venue-time-based and respondent-driven sampling) will be employed to recruit and enroll individual participants in both intervention and control communities. All participants will be offered mail-in HIV test kits, have blood samples collected for HIV status determination, viral load testing, HIV incidence estimation and testing for PrEP use, and will complete two surveys. At a subset of communities, additional blood will be taken for multi-drug testing to evaluate HIV drug resistance testing, expanded HIV incidence assessments, and other exploratory assessments. The purpose of the baseline assessment is to provide data to control for baseline differences, optimize the methodology, and improve the power of the post-implementation assessment. The purpose of the post-implementation assessment is to provide data for primary, secondary and exploratory objectives.

• **Cross-Sectional Assessment Sample Size:** The baseline cross-sectional assessment will include 100 Black MSM in each of the 8 participating intervention communities and 8 participating control communities for a total of 1600 individuals. The post-implementation cross-sectional assessment will include 200 Black MSM in each of the 16 participating communities (intervention and control) for a total of 3200 individuals.

Study Sites: 16 communities will participate in the study, each made up of one or more counties selected from the southern counties and states identified in the Ending the HIV Epidemic (EHE) plan. The communities will be matched into 8 pairs based on population, HIV prevalence and viral suppression. Within each pair, one community will be randomized by public ceremony to receive the components of the integrated strategy, and the other will serve as the standard-of-care (SOC).

Study Population: The study population for the cross-sectional assessments will be Black MSM in the intervention and control communities. The following study populations will be prioritized for each component of the integrated strategy:

Health equity: Social media influencers: Intersectional stigma reduction: Virtual peer support: Black MSM and local community Black MSM Healthcare facility staff Black MSM

PrEP Provision: In order to support HIV prevention in Black MSM and to engage both intervention and SOC communities, HPTN 096 will provide PrEP, and potentially ART for treatment, to at least one facility in each community.

Study Duration: Study duration is approximately 6 years total. After a one-year implementation ramp-up phase prior to the start of the implementation period, the integrated strategy will be delivered over three years. The cross-sectional assessments will be conducted prior to and immediately following implementation of the 3-year integrated strategy. Each assessment will take approximately 6 months to complete, and the baseline assessment will take place during the ramp-up period. Laboratory testing, data analysis, and analysis of surveillance data will require approximately 1.5 years after completion of the post-implementation assessment.

Study Objectives:

Primary Study Objectives:

- To increase the proportion of Black MSM living with diagnosed HIV who are virally suppressed (<200 copies/mL) in the intervention communities compared to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on HIV surveillance data
- To increase PrEP use by Black MSM not living with HIV in the intervention communities compared to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on laboratory data generated from the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment

Secondary Study Objectives:

- To compare self-reported HIV testing behavior in Black MSM in the intervention communities to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment
- To compare social support, intersectional stigma, barriers to healthcare, and individual agency in Black MSM in the intervention communities to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on the post implementation cross-sectional assessment
- To increase the proportion of Black MSM living with HIV newly diagnosed in the past year who are virally suppressed (<200 copies/mL) within six months of diagnosis in the intervention communities compared to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on HIV surveillance data
- To track ongoing EHE implementation activities for Black MSM (e.g., outlined by the EHE plans) of both intervention and control communities (used for adjustment in analyses and to assess implementation outcomes of acceptability/compatibility)
- To assess measures of care quality, and care responsiveness to Black MSM needs at HCFs participating in the Culturally Responsive Intersectional Stigma Prevention (CRISP) component, pre- and post-implementation (used to assess service outcomes)

Exploratory Objectives:

- To compare the estimated HIV incidence in Black MSM in the intervention communities to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on laboratory data generated from the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment
- To compare use of antiretroviral drugs by Black MSM living with HIV in the intervention communities to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on laboratory data generated from the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment (this analysis will be limited to a subset of communities)

• To compare HIV drug resistance in Black MSM living with HIV in the intervention communities to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on laboratory data generated from the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment (this analysis may be limited to a subset of communities)

To use mathematical modeling to

- inform interim analysis by using HIV surveillance data on viral suppression during the trial to predict the expected impact on HIV incidence at the end of the trial
- estimate the longer-term impact of the integrated strategy on HIV incidence among Black MSM in the southern US
- estimate the contribution to the overall impact on HIV incidence made by each of the integrated strategy components
- Using attribution analysis, estimate the contribution made by each of the integrated strategy components (health equity, social influencers, intersectional stigma reduction, and peer support) to changes in viral suppression and PrEP use among Black MSM in the southern US
- Stored specimens may be used for laboratory assessments that include phylogenetic analysis of HIV in the study communities; characterization of HIV; development, validation, evaluation of laboratory assays relevant to the HIV epidemic and study objectives, and testing associated with SARS-CoV-2 and other related viruses.



Schema Figure 1: Overall HPTN 096 Study Design

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Men who have sex with men (MSM) bear the most disproportionate burden of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) incidence and prevalence of any community in the US (1). Despite accounting for only 2-3% of adults in the US, gay, bisexual and other MSM accounted for more than 70% of new HIV diagnoses in the US in 2018 (2). Within this relatively small and highly burdened population there are also racial health disparities. Black MSM accounted for 37% of all new diagnoses of HIV infection among MSM, despite accounting for only 12-13% of all US MSM (2). Geographic disparities also exist with this racial disparity; nearly two thirds (63%) of all US Black MSM with diagnosed HIV infection reside in the southern US (2), making HIV prevention activities for Black MSM in this region critical. An added concern for primary prevention is that young MSM of color have the highest HIV incidence densities of any MSM subgroup (1). In 2018, young people accounted for 21% of the new HIV diagnoses in the US, with most being among young gay and bisexual men (3). Youth aged 13 to 24, in particular, accounted for more than 1 in 5 these new HIV diagnoses (3, 4). The period of adolescence is a time when young people have increasing independence and accountability for their own individual sexual and reproductive health and well-being (5, 6); relatedly, research shows that stigma, homophobia, and discrimination put young MSM at increased risk for poor prevention and treatment outcomes and can affect whether they seek or receive quality health services, including HIV testing, treatment, and other prevention services, including PrEP (7). This environment leads to higher rates of undiagnosed or unsuppressed HIV and increased risk for HIV acquisition (8).

The epidemiology of HIV in the US demands that we prioritize Black MSM for intensified testing, prevention and treatment. The imperative of equity, and to reduce HIV stigma in terminology, demands that we use the term 'living with HIV' rather than terms like "HIV-infected", to describe the community we seek to serve.

In the era of widely available HIV testing, highly effective antiretroviral therapy (ART), and effective biomedical prevention of sexual transmission between men in the form of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP), the HIV epidemic among this community persists. Health inequalities continue to drive poor outcomes in diagnoses, prevention, and care for Black MSM across the prevention and treatment continua. At a time of heightened awareness of racial injustice and the many social and health impacts of structural anti-Black racism in the US, these stark health inequalities are increasingly understood as the outcomes of social determinants of health that must be addressed if we are to achieve meaningful improvements in outcomes for these men and their communities.

A large number of publications in the epidemiologic, sociologic, and health services literature have described and investigated these inequities and sought to understand and address them. The findings across multiple disciplines have been consistent — individual level behaviors play only modest roles in risks for infection and poor clinical HIV outcomes. The critical drivers for HIV outcomes among Black MSM and their communities are social, structural and health care system level ones — what are often referred to as the structural determinants of health (9-11). Lower levels of health care access and insurance, lower rates of disease screening, poverty, and

intersectional stigma, including stigma in health care settings, all play determinative roles in the longstanding health inequities seen among Black MSM.

Yet interventions that seek to address the structural determinants of health for Black MSM have been few, and none have been studied in community randomized controlled trials. HPTN 096 is a pioneering integrated strategies trial that seeks to improve outcomes for Black MSM in HIV testing, prevention, and treatment across the most HIV-affected region in the country—the South.

1.1.1 HIV Epidemic in the Southern US

The epidemiology of HIV in the US shows an increasing concentration of the epidemic in a relatively small number of high prevalence ("hot spot") zones. The US has over 3100 counties, but just 48, along with the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico, accounted for more than half of all new HIV diagnoses in 2017 (12). The South has roughly one-third of the US population but accounted for 51% of new infections in 2018 (13). This is also the region with many of the lowest rates of health care access and health insurance, since many southern state governments chose not to expand health care insurance for low income citizens through the Medicaid expansion component of the Affordable Care Act (14). In this region, both HIV testing (15) and viral suppression rates (16) are lower and, in many communities, stigma and discrimination based on race, ethnicity, and sexual and gender minority status remain high (17). All of these factors have been described as part of a syndemic of multiple overlapping risks and vulnerabilities that have generated and maintain this striking health inequity (18). The persistence of structural racism in the region, including disparities in housing, economic opportunity, high rates of arrest and incarceration, and the current social reckoning with these realities underway across the country, have heightened the awareness that interventions by and for Black MSM must be based on the recognition that the legacies of the past must be addressed to make lasting change in health equity and access.

1.1.2 Ending the HIV Epidemic Initiative

HPTN 096 has been designed to strategically align with the recently announced US federal initiative "Ending the HIV Epidemic: A Plan for America," referred to as EHE. The EHE plan is based on the current epidemiology of HIV in the US (19). The plan asserts that we now have the scientific and public health tools to end HIV in the US by 2030, but that a relatively small number of high transmission jurisdictions will require greatly intensified efforts to reduce the health disparities at the heart of the US epidemic. As such, the plan identifies the 48 counties, Washington, DC and San Juan, Puerto Rico (which collectively account for over 50% of new HIV infections), as well as seven states with disproportionately high HIV incidence in rural areas, as the priority areas for these intensified EHE efforts (12). The plan also recognizes, in the words of Secretary Azar of the US Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), that "...stigma, which can be a debilitating barrier preventing someone living with HIV or at risk for HIV from receiving the healthcare, services, and respect they need and deserve—still tragically surrounds HIV" (20). Four key areas are targeted for funding increases to implement the plan: Diagnose, increase the proportion of Americans living with HIV who know their status and link them immediately to care; *Treat*, rapidly and effectively achieve viral suppression; *Prevent*, rapidly increase the proportion of at-risk persons on PrEP; and Respond, detect and respond to

HIV clusters and prevent new infections. HPTN 096 will address the first 3 pillars of EHE in its integrated strategy.

A number of federal agencies are tasked with engagement in the EHE plan and with its implementation including the NIH, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), and Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA). NIH, specifically the Division of AIDS (DAIDS) within the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), will lead the research effort for EHE, which centers on implementation science for the plan. The CDC and HRSA efforts in these counties will be led and funded by the respective agencies, with CDC taking a lead in enhancing diagnoses and prevention efforts, and HRSA, through its Ryan White Program, supporting enhanced treatment and viral suppression outcomes. HPTN 096 is sponsored by the NIH and will be a collaborative partnership with the other federal agencies above, namely CDC and HRSA. The study will engage with 16 communities (some comprised of multiple counties) selected from among the 28 southern EHE counties; Washington, DC; and the six southern EHE states (see Section 4.1 for additional detail). HPTN 096 will enhance these ongoing EHE efforts by adding "Getting to Zero in the American South," a four-component integrated strategy with interpersonal, organizational and community level components.

1.1.3 Proven HIV Prevention Methods: HIV Testing, PrEP, and Viral Suppression

There now exists an evidence-based repertoire of biomedical strategies for HIV prevention that include rapid and self-testing for HIV, PrEP for those who are not living with HIV but are at risk of acquiring HIV, and effective ART and treatment as prevention for those living with HIV. Yet, it has been known for years now that many people – particularly those affected by health, social, and economic disparities – are left behind in the HIV prevention and treatment continua (21). Identifying people living with HIV who are unaware of their HIV infection status and linking them to care services, linking those not living with HIV to prevention services, and reducing health disparities are important national HIV prevention and treatment goals (22).

1.1.3.1 HIV Testing

In 2016, analysis of CDC-funded HIV testing data for MSM from 20 health departments in the southern US revealed that Black MSM received 6% of HIV tests while accounting for 36% of new diagnoses in non–HCFs (23).

The CDC encourages health departments to consider HIV self-testing as an additional testing strategy to reach persons most affected by HIV (24). There is sound evidence to support the benefits of HIV self-testing. For example, a national randomized controlled trial (RCT), the "eSTAMP" study, was designed to evaluate the public health benefits of mailing HIV self-tests to internet-recruited gay, bisexual and other MSM in the US during 2015 and 2016 (25, 26). Compared to men in the control arm, men who were mailed HIV self-testing kits tested themselves more frequently and had a significantly higher rate of HIV positivity. There was also no difference in sexual risk behaviors. In addition to using HIV self-tests themselves, participants were able to share the study HIV self-test with members of their social network, resulting in many more persons becoming aware of their HIV infection. While 42% of the sample was from the South US Census Region, only 10% of the sample was Black.

Increasing awareness of HIV status through HIV testing, especially among Black MSM in the South, is essential for reducing the risk for transmission and addressing HIV related health disparities. HIV testing programs in the South can reach more Black MSM by conducting targeted risk-based testing in non-health care settings and by routine HIV screening in agencies that also provide health care services to Black MSM. HIV self-testing provides greater access by allowing people to take an HIV test and find out their result in their own home or other private location. Self-testing increases the options for Black MSM to know their HIV status, and, along with clinic and community-based testing, is paramount and an essential starting place for achieving EHE goals.

1.1.3.2 PrEP

Several randomized clinical trials have demonstrated the efficacy of PrEP in preventing HIV acquisition (27, 28). The CDC recommends PrEP as an HIV prevention strategy, based on evidence that taking PrEP medication as prescribed reduces the risk of HIV transmission via sexual contact by about 99% (29). Currently there are two medications - emtricitabine and tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (Truvada), and emtricitabine and tenofovir alafenamide (Descovy) - approved for daily use as HIV PrEP. Furthermore, although an off-label use, on-demand oral PrEP is highly effective at preventing HIV infection among high-risk MSM, is endorsed for MSM by the WHO (30) (although not yet by the CDC (31)), and represents an alternative to daily PrEP and expanding choices for HIV prevention (32). However, racial disparities remain, with Black MSM consistently demonstrating lower levels of PrEP awareness, access, and utilization, compared to White MSM (33). Also, healthcare system barriers and intersecting stigmas (PrEP-stigma, HIV-stigma, homophobia, and anti-Black racism) are prevalent, with limited interventions developed to address these barriers (34). Recent and exciting results from HPTN 083, a global randomized, controlled, double-blind study that compared the safety and efficacy of long-acting injectable cabotegravir (CAB LA) to daily oral Truvada PrEP, showed that CAB LA lowered HIV incidence among cisgender men and transgender women who have sex with men (35), and was superior to daily oral Truvada. It is likely that CAB-LA will be approved for general use soon, thus providing an added alternative to oral PrEP. It is critical to ensure that Black MSM in the South have equitable access to all available HIV prevention strategies, including PrEP.

1.1.3.3 Viral Suppression

HIV testing and prompt linkage to and retention in HIV medical care are essential to achieve viral suppression among those persons living with HIV who are unaware of their infection and those who are aware but not in care. It is now well established that early ART initiation carries clear short and long-term benefits to the person living with HIV (36) and also significantly contributes to reduced onward transmission of HIV to sexual partners when there is sustained viral suppression (37). As with HIV testing and PrEP, disparities exist among Black MSM with ART access, uptake, and retention. In an analysis of seven studies from Canada, 13 from the UK, and 174 from the US, Black MSM in each country were less likely to initiate combination ART compared to other MSM living with HIV. US Black MSM living with HIV were also less likely to have health insurance, have a low CD4 count, adhere to ART, or be virally suppressed than were other US MSM living with HIV (21). There were also greater structural barriers (i.e., unemployment, low income, previous incarceration, less education) associated with poor HIV

health outcomes among Black MSM compared to other MSM (21). These structural factors affect availability and choice of sex partners and are also associated with living in neighborhoods with a high background HIV prevalence and community viral load, which raises infection risks for sexually active persons. Elimination of disparities in HIV infection in Black MSM cannot be accomplished without addressing social determinants of health associated with HIV clinical care access and outcomes, an important focus of our integrated strategies approach in HPTN 096.

1.1.4 HIV Surveillance Data for Community Randomized Design

HPTN 096 will use data from the CDC's National HIV Surveillance System to measure the outcomes of both primary and secondary objectives, in addition to data from the baseline and post-implementation cross-sectional assessments and data from commercially available prescription databases. The CDC maintains the National HIV Surveillance System, which is the primary source of data for monitoring HIV-related trends in the US (38). The CDC does this by funding and assisting state and local health departments to collect information about the incidence and prevalence of HIV infection. In turn, these health departments report de-identified data to the CDC so that HIV-related information from around the country can be consolidated and analyzed. Some of the critical parameters collected include basic demographic information (e.g., age, race, gender), date of diagnosis, acquisition risk and laboratory values (CD4 and viral load measurements) (38). The ultimate goal of this surveillance system is to provide an integrated database that includes HIV infection, disease progression, and the behaviors and characteristics of people at high risk. The CDC uses this living database to understand the HIV epidemic in the US and to direct HIV prevention and treatment funding where it is needed most.

In addition to guiding public health policy, the CDC's National HIV Surveillance System can be used for research purposes, as data are continuously collected in a prospective manner. As the data are geographically linked, they can be categorized by location (e.g., state, county, city, facility), which allows the data to be used to measure outcomes for interventions made at the community-level. HPTN 065, another integrated-strategy protocol, used HIV surveillance data to compare two financial incentive interventions across HIV testing and care facilities in Washington, DC and the Bronx, NY (39, 40). In this study, facilities were randomized to the intervention or control arm, and laboratory values from the surveillance system were used for outcome analysis, which compared the percentage of those linked to care and the percentage of those who achieved and maintained viral suppression across arms.

The use of surveillance data for this study is feasible because all of the study communities are contributing data to the CDC's National HIV Surveillance System. For the primary objective, viral load data from diagnosed Black MSM who are alive at the end of each year will be used to compare rates of viral suppression between the intervention and control communities at baseline, annually throughout the intervention period and at the end of the study. For one of the secondary objectives, the date of new HIV diagnoses and viral load data from Black MSM who are alive at the end of each year will be used to determine if the intervention is able to increase the proportion of Black MSM who are virally suppressed within six months of diagnosis compared to the control arm.

1.1.5 HPTN 096 Development and Implementation in the Context of the COVID-19 Epidemic

The ongoing and severe epidemic of SARS-CoV-2 and the disease it causes, COVID-19, has disrupted and challenged virtually every aspect of social life in the US, impacting our health system, preventive services, and social services. All of the integrated strategy components, as well as recruitment and sampling for the cross-sectional assessments, are adaptable to the virtual and socially distanced reality of our country in 2020 and into the foreseeable future as long as COVID-19 persists. Even with effective vaccines available, we estimate that limited access to them will persist throughout 2021 and potentially longer. While the future of the epidemic and of the response is unpredictable, the study has been developed with the expectation that a significant majority of study activities will be conducted virtually and that those elements requiring direct participant contact, such as the baseline and post-implementation blood draws as part of the cross-sectional assessments, will be done while maintaining appropriate safety precautions, social distancing, and maximal possible protection for study staff, participants and investigators.

1.2 Rationale for an Integrated Strategy Approach

HPTN 096 is based on scientific and programmatic evidence that individual-level behaviorallyfocused interventions alone are insufficient to have a population effect on HIV incidence among Black MSM (41-43). While highly efficacious biomedical HIV prevention tools—such as HIV PrEP—are available to consumers within the healthcare market (44-46), its broad availability alone has not translated into prevention gains for Black MSM (47, 48), despite evidence that Black MSM are interested in and willing to take PrEP (49, 50). Cost is a known barrier to accessing PrEP and other healthcare services, but other evidence indicates that anti-Black and anti-gay attitudes, as well as the prescribing practices of healthcare providers, are also barriers for Black MSM's access to these products and services (49, 51). These attitudes are manifested in institutional policies and practices of HCFs and HCF staff and are not isolated phenomena, but reflect larger social attitudes that stigmatize Blackness, gayness, HIV seropositive status and HIV-related health seeking behaviors. In sum, the key factors driving HIV infection among Black MSM operate at multiple levels that intersect to reinforce barriers that undermine HIV testing, uptake of biomedical HIV prevention, treatment engagement, and viral suppression goals (52-54). These levels include community, organizational and interpersonal levels.

The overall approach to HPTN 096 is based on a socioecological framework (Figure 1) (55, 56) and utilizes the convergence framework (Figure 2) (57) for integrating strategies across multiple levels.



Figure 1. Socioecological framework in HPTN 096





The four components will be combined into one integrated strategy implemented to address the multi-level drivers of HIV incidence in Black MSM. Intervening at multiple levels is needed because structural inequities, community-level stigma norms, intersectional stigma in HCFs, and decreased access to peer-based social support act <u>interdependently</u> to impede HIV testing, PrEP use and HIV viral suppression; therefore, intervening at a single level—while necessary—is insufficient to achieve population-level reductions in HIV incidence among Black MSM (58).

Community Level – *Structural Inequities in Local Municipalities Are Barriers to HIV Prevention and Care.* Data from HPTN 061 identified economic, social and legal hardships across six sites that were associated with increased HIV/STI risks among Black MSM (59). These economic (e.g., job loss, recent financial crisis) and social (e.g., unstable housing) hardships may have particular salience for HIV prevention and care among Black MSM in communities without robust social safety net programs. Other social hardships (e.g., no health insurance) can have a more severe impact on Black MSM who are unemployed in states without Medicaid expansion programs. HPTN 061 also found very high levels of police contact among Black MSM (60), with an estimated incarceration incidence of 35% (95% confidence interval [CI] 31-38) during the study period (54). Black MSM who reported legal hardships (i.e., recent conviction) were more likely to have an STI in the past 6-months (adjusted odds ratio [AOR]=3.97; 95% CI 1.58-9.94) (59). In another national sample of Black MSM (N=1,172), a high percentage (43%) reported police discrimination that was associated with recent arrest (61). Recent arrest and an incarceration history were both associated with sexual risk. Additionally, incarceration and recent arrests were associated with lower willingness to use PrEP (61). The impacts of these structural inequities on HIV incidence are problems that are not solved by HIV testing, PrEP use, or treatment access alone; on the contrary, structural inequities thwart the attempts of Black MSM to prioritize HIV prevention and care approaches due to other daily, tangible and immediate threats to their health and survival (62, 63). Consequently, health equity promotion approaches that engage multi-sectoral coalition building are needed to mitigate the impact of structural inequities on HIV testing, PrEP use and viral suppression among Black MSM.

Community Level – *Stigmatizing Attitudes and Social Norms Against Black MSM Undermine Health Seeking Behaviors.* Black MSM who live in the South must make decisions whether to seek healthcare services in social contexts where their race, in addition to disclosure of their health status, health seeking behavior (e.g., using PrEP) or sexual orientation can make them the subject of mistreatment, discrimination and harassment. In addition, these stigmatizing attitudes are sometimes applied directly to the products (e.g., PrEP), services (e.g., HIV testing) or HCFs (e.g., lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender (LGBT)-centered care) themselves, which can lead Black MSM to evade prevention services to avoid the stigma and potential material consequences (e.g., job loss, housing loss) of being associated with them. Moreover, these community-level attitudes can be internalized by Black MSM themselves and increase the likelihood of HIV infection (64). Social media has emerged as a powerful platform that can be leveraged to positively influence community-level social norms—counteracting the intersectional stigma attitudes and norms that undermine HIV prevention and treatment outcomes for Black MSM.

Organizational Level – *HCF Policies, Practices and Staff Attitudes and Behaviors Impede Access and Retention in HIV Prevention and Treatment Services.* HCFs are selected as one of the targets for integrated strategy because, even if Black MSM are sufficiently motivated to seek an HIV test, attempt to access PrEP or HIV treatment services, these are typically performed in an HCF. The socio-environmental conditions in HCFs can either be synergistic or antagonistic to the men's motivation to test for HIV, engage in PrEP services or engage in treatment services (65, 66). There are a number of studies documenting that intersectional stigma embedded in attitudes, logics and practices of healthcare workers actively impede access to HIV-related services (including HIV testing and PrEP) and undermine the quality of healthcare encounter experience and, consequently the diminishes the effectiveness of care in improving health (51, 65, 67, 68).

Interpersonal Level – A peer support component was chosen because of the positive influence that Black MSM can have on one another. Peers can positively influence health behaviors of other Black MSM as well as address the potential negative influence of enacted and internalized forms of intersectional stigma (anti-Black racism with HIV stigma and sexual stigmas) (69-74). Another key reason that the HPTN 096 integrated strategy is targeted to the interpersonal-level is because chronic exposure to stigma (whether at the larger community-level or the organizational-level) can lead to internalization of the stigmas, which can impede HIV testing and prevention service engagement (75-77). Stigma can also compromise psychological wellbeing due to the gender role strain that Black MSM may experience in response to pressures from peers and families to conform to expectations of masculinity that can often conflict with sexual identity expression (78). Incongruence between one's sexual and racial identity was associated with increased odds of condomless receptive anal intercourse (odds ration [OR]=1.38; 95% CI: 1.22, 1.55) and HIV infection (OR=1.22; 95% CI: 1.06, 1.41) among Black MSM in HPTN 061 (64). Peer-support is designed to combat the internalization of stigma through the provision of affirming, educative and emotionally supportive encounters with other Black MSM, while also guiding men towards culturally appropriate and comprehensive health and social services and supporting PrEP and ART initiation and adherence.

|--|

			INTERVENTIONS IMPACTED		
LEVEL	DRIVER	COMPONENT	Testing	PrEP	Viral Suppression
Community	Structural inequities manifested through economic, social and legal hardships that impede HIV prevention.	Health Equity	Indirect	Indirect	Indirect
Community	Stigma and social norms non-supportive of HIV- related service use.	Social Media Influencers	Indirect	Indirect	Indirect
Organizational	Stigma that is institutionalized in policies and practices of HCFs and staff.	Intersectional Stigma Reduction	Indirect	Indirect	Indirect
Interpersonal	Internalized stigma Lack of social support.	Virtual Peer Support	Indirect	Indirect	Indirect

 Table 1. Levels, Drivers, Integrated Strategy Components and Interventions for HPTN 096

1.2.1 The Implementation Research Logic Model: A Method for Explaining the Influence of the Integrated Strategy on Clinical Interventions and Study Outcomes

HPTN 096, as previously described, is a classic community-randomized controlled trial. It will include assessments of the effect and impact of an integrated strategy of three locally implemented clinical interventions (HIV testing, PrEP use/adherence, ART use/adherence) on rates of HIV viral suppression and PrEP use among Black MSM. This is classified in the literature as a hybrid type III implementation-effectiveness study (79). We employ the Implementation Research Logic Model (IRLM) as an explanatory method that accommodates the hybrid implementation-effectiveness character of HPTN 096 (80) by framing the relationships between the implementation, service, and clinical). Our use of an implementation science framework necessitates that we define "the communities" as the site of implementation. We also take into account the theorized pathway of the integrated strategy's effect on the study outcomes (Figure 2) and situate it within the context of implementation determinants, implementation outcomes and service outcomes (Figure 3). Together these are the core elements of the IRLM: clinical interventions, strategies, mechanisms and outcomes.





Clinical Interventions are evidence-based practices that have been shown through rigorous research testing to have efficacy in producing a particular health outcome. In HPTN 096, the three interventions are HIV testing, which has been shown to be able to definitively identify or rule out an HIV infection, PrEP, which has demonstrated efficacy in prevention acquisition of an HIV infection, and ART, which has demonstrated efficacy in suppressing viral load and preventing the onward transmission of HIV.

Determinants are factors that can either impede or facilitate the effective local implementation of the adoption of the clinical intervention. The IRLM uses determinants drawn from the consolidated framework for implementation research (CFIR) (81). These determinants are categorized into five domains: intervention characteristics, outer setting, inner setting, characteristics of individuals and process. These five domains are represented in the HPTN 096 IRLM (Figure 3). We identified 16 relevant determinants from across the five domains. The general conceptual CFIR definitions of each of the selected determinants used in HPTN 096 are listed below. Their corresponding operational descriptions are listed in the HPTN 096 IRLM (Figure 3).

Intervention Characteristics

- Relevant Advantage Stakeholder's perception of the advantage of implementing the intervention versus an alternate solution.
- Complexity Perceived difficulty of implementing the intervention reflected by the radicalness, disruptiveness, and intricacy of the steps required to implement.
- Cost Costs of the intervention or costs associated with its implementation.

Inner Setting

- Networks and Communication The nature and quality of webs of social networks and the formal and informal communications in the implementation context.
- Culture Norms, values and basic assumptions in the implementation context.
- Implementation Climate/Relative Priority The shared perception of the importance of the intervention and the extent to which the use of the intervention will be supported and rewarded within the implementation context.

Outer Setting

- Patient Needs and Resources The extent to which patient needs, as well as barriers and facilitators to meet those needs, are accurately known and prioritized in the implementation context.
- Peer Pressure Competitive pressure to implement an intervention, typically because key peer implementers have already implemented or are trying to gain a competitive edge.
- External Policies and Incentives External strategies to spread interventions, including external mandates and public or benchmarking reporting.

Characteristics of Individuals

- Knowledge/Beliefs about Intervention Individuals' attitudes toward and value placed on the intervention as well as familiarity with facts, truths and principles related to the intervention.
- Self-Efficacy Individual's belief in their own capabilities to execute course of action to achieve implementation goals.
- Tolerance of Ambiguity/Learning Style The degree to which implementers are able to cope with and benefit from any needs to "learn as you go" versus knowing in advance exactly what are all the steps.

Process

- Engaging Attracting and involving appropriate individuals in the implementation and use of the intervention through a combined strategy of social marketing, education, training and other similar activities.
- Planning The degree to which a scheme or method of behavior and tasks for implementing an intervention are developed in advance and is high quality.
- Executing Carrying out or accomplishing the implementation according to plan
- Reflecting and Evaluating Quantitative and qualitative feedback about the progress and quality of the implementation accompanied with regular debriefing on the experience.

Implementation Strategies are techniques and methods used to optimize the implementation of clinical interventions, including products/tools, programs or healthcare practices (82). Strategies optimize the local implementation of clinical interventions by addressing determinants—either mitigating determinants that impede implementation or enhancing determinants that facilitate intervention implementation (83). Research has identified a great number of potential implementation strategies (82, 84). In HPTN 096, we selected strategies from among the 73 identified in the Expert Recommendations for Implementing Change project (82). Detailed background (see Section 1.2.3), theoretical rationale (see Section 1.2.4) and description of each component of the integrated strategy (see Sections 5.0, 6.0, 70, 8.0) are presented in subsequent Section of this protocol. Figure 3 itemizes the specific discrete activities involved in each component of the integrated strategy.

Mechanisms of Action are the ways in which the implementation strategies are theorized to impact on outcomes. The mechanisms of action of HPTN 096 are shown in Figures 2 and 4.

Outcomes. In using the IRLM, we are concerned with effecting three types of outcomes. Implementation outcomes are the indicators of the success of the process of implementing the integrated strategy and precedes service outcomes and clinical outcomes. Services outcomes relate to the quality of clinical operations and/or patient care which should be positively affected by successful implementation. The implementation and service outcomes selected for HPTN 096 are drawn from the research evidence-base (80, 85, 86) as well as formative information gained from our consultations with community stakeholders and EHE councils from across the south. Clinical outcomes are individual/patient-level indicators directly impacted by the optimized implementation of the clinical interventions. The general conceptual definitions of each the selected implementation and service outcomes used in HPTN 096 are listed below. Their corresponding operational definitions are listed in the HPTN 096 IRLM (Figure 3).

Implementation Outcomes

- Appropriateness The perceived fit of the innovation or evidence-based practice to address a particular issue or problem (80, 86).
- Fidelity The degree to which an intervention was implemented as prescribed in the protocol or as it was intended by the program developers (80, 86).
- Penetration The integration of a practice within an implementation setting (80, 86).

Service Outcomes

- Equity Providing care that does not vary in quality because of personal characteristics such as gender, ethnicity, geographic location and socioeconomic status (86).
- Patient-centeredness Providing care that is responsive to individual patient preferences, needs and values (86).

Clinical Outcomes.

• In HPTN 096 these are what we have described in this protocol as our primary study objectives—that is—viral suppression and PrEP use among Black MSM.

1.2.2 Primacy of Community Engagement for an Integrated Strategy

The HPTN 096 integrated strategy also builds skills, supports collective efficacy and harnesses sociocultural assets in Black communities to mobilize coalitions and collective action to identify and address barriers to HIV testing, PrEP use and viral suppression among Black MSM (63, 87). The study team used a community-based participatory research (CBPR) (88, 89) approach by conceptualizing HPTN 096 in collaboration with broad and frequent input from gay-identified and non-gay identified Black MSM-including same-gender loving Black men-from communities across the South. The CBPR approach to engaging with community members began with identifying forums where Black MSM, allies and stakeholders were convening to specifically discuss strategies to improve the health and wellness of Black MSM. The first formal step in the HPTN 096 CBPR process was a consultation of Black LGBT community stakeholders convened by the HPTN 096 co-chairs during the 2019 National HIV Prevention Conference (Atlanta, Georgia). The consultation included representatives from the HPTN Black Caucus, the Black Gay Research Group, National Black Gay Men's Advocacy Coalition, Southern Black Policy & Advocacy Network (SBPAN), Abounding Prosperity Inc., The House of Blahnik Inc., Thrive Support Services, Inc., Us Helping Us, Inc., and others. This initial engagement was followed by a series of onsite community listening sessions including the 2019
National CFAR Community Advisory Board Meeting (Chapel Hill, NC), the 2019 Saving Our Selves/SOS conference (Charleston, South Carolina), the 2019 Southern Region Ball House & Pageant Conference (Dallas, Texas), and the 2019 South Carolina MSM HIV Prevention Institute (Columbia, South Carolina). The prioritization of Black MSM voices in the development of the protocol was key to ensuring the integrated strategy advanced beyond addressing individual-level behavioral factors towards addressing social/structural impediments to HIV prevention among Black MSM.

Additionally, the CBPR process led the HPTN 096 co-chairs to actively avoid colonial approaches that position Black communities as sites of risk and vulnerability that require external intervention and instead adopted a lens which recognized (a) the resilience and sociocultural assets that already exist in Black communities and (b) that HPTN 096 would be strengthened by working in partnership with Black-led national and southern region community organizers, such as the Black AIDS Institute and SBPAN, to achieve the study objectives. HPTN 096 is further institutionalizing the community engagement process through the intentional inclusion of Black MSM as members of the protocol team and by building two community engagement components into the infrastructure of the study design via the Community Strategies Group (CSG) and the Community Advisory Group (CAG).

- (1) HPTN 096 CSG The primary focus of this standing committee of the HPTN protocol team will be to develop and guide the community engagement activities for HPTN 096. In addition, this group will be the primary point of community input on HPTN 096 study design and components of the integrated strategy from a community perspective to inform the protocol writing and review process.
- (2) HPTN 096 CAG This will be the primary community advisory body for the study, active during pre-implementation and implementation periods, with broader representation from both intervention and control communities. The CAG will work directly with the CSG.

Community engagement in HPTN 096's integrated strategy builds on successful approaches in previous multi-level studies (50, 63, 87, 90). This integrated strategy seeks to strengthen partnerships between Black MSM, HCFs and local community stakeholders whose collaborative efforts will support implementation.

1.2.3 Critical Partnerships: CDC, HRSA, EHE Committees and Local Health Departments

As outlined in Section 1.1.2, the overall EHE strategy depends on the collaborative work of the CDC, HRSA, local health departments and EHE committees. In order for this study to work synergistically with these efforts, strong partnerships with these entities are critical. Key colleagues from Division of HIV/AIDS Prevention at the CDC and from both the Bureau of Primary Health Care and the HIV/AIDS Bureau at HRSA have helped design the study, are members of the protocol team and will continue to guide ramp-up and implementation activities. Specifically, the CDC will provide the aggregated data for the study endpoints that rely on HIV surveillance data (see Section 1.1.4). We have sought buy-in for community participation from all EHE committees, which are housed in local health departments, and include representation

from community-based organizations and HIV-related service facilities. The EHE committees and health departments are invited to serve as protocol team members, actively engage in our working groups if randomized to the intervention arm, work with the team to identify facilities for the intersectional stigma reduction intervention and potentially staff the baseline and post-implementation assessments.

1.2.4 Components of the Integrated Strategy

1.2.4.1 Health Equity

The current (and historically) observed differences in HIV incidence and clinical outcomes are not randomly distributed across the US population, but exhibit characteristics that are systematic (21, 91-93). These systematic differences often manifest in patterns of disease between social groups (e.g., Blacks compared to Whites; Straight vs Gay; southern states versus northern states). There are no biologically plausible explanations for why HIV infection rates would be consistently higher among Black people, MSM and Southerners compared to any other population or region in the US (94-97). These social patterns of disease are observed across multiple health domains, including Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) case and mortality rates (98). The current state of the science is unequivocal that these health inequities are the product of structured social arrangements that assign underserved vulnerability and hardship (economic, social, legal) to one group while conferring unearned protections and benefits to another group (59, 99). The character and enforcement of these structured social arrangements, as well as their impacts on health inequities, may vary from one city to another (or from one region to another). Moreover, the interoperable systems that maintain structural inequities in health are not only "healthcare systems" but involve (1) multiple human social institutions such as education, law, employment and housing sectors (100-102) and (2) multiple processes of exclusion of communities from exercising self-determination over the material conditions of their lives (17, 103). Therefore, approaches to promoting health equity (reducing unjust social gaps in disease rates and outcomes) must include approaches that extend beyond the healthcare sector to include education, legal, employment, civic and housing sectors and that are tailored to the realities affecting HIV prevention for Black MSM in their local community context (104, 105).

The current scientific evidence indicates that health equity interventions with the highest impact on reducing racial disparities in health involve local community mobilization that foster collaboration with governmental and non-governmental partners inside and outside of the health sectors (106-110). The patterns that characterize effective health equity interventions are principally (1) information <u>sharing</u> and exchange, (2) optimizing the impact of scarce resources through <u>cooperation</u> between partners and (3) actively working together in joint <u>coordination</u> to increase efficiency of access to services and resources (109, 111). One example of health equity intervention is an intersectoral partnership formed between community-based organizations, local health department, and academic institutions in Harlem, New York (112). This partnership identified HIV prevention as a shared priority and sought to reduce sharing and re-using of injection drug equipment by launching the Expanded Syringe Access Program (ESAP) coalition. The ESAP coalition cooperated on the development of materials describing the benefits of syringe exchange through dissemination of consistent messaging through their individual platforms (e.g., churches, community forums, drug counseling programs) in an effort to raise awareness of ESAP among injecting drug users (IDUs), to sensitize the community to the needs of injection drug users and to reduce stigma (87, 112). The ESAP coalition developed a survival guide for substances users (information sharing) that included evidence-based health education guidance, a reference list of community services such as drug treatment, housing services and job placement services (87). The ESAP also developed and implemented a web-based resource for service providers (information exchange) that served as a database in which organizations could both update information on their available services as well as search to quickly identify externally available services for IDUs based on their needs and preferences. The efforts to increase efficiency of access to clean syringes was accomplished in coordination with local pharmacists who agreed to provide the non-prescription sale of syringes. The intersectional coalition resulted in a significant increase in their awareness of ESAP and decrease in the proportion of pharmacist with unsupportive attitudes about ESAP (87). Moreover, there was an increase in use of pharmacies for obtaining syringes among Black IDUs (22% v. 5%, p<.02) in the intervention community and no significant change in pharmacy use among Black IDUs in the comparison community (87).

These three characteristics (sharing, cooperating and coordinating) of successful health equity interventions are observed in other studies that range from an intervention that demonstrated evidence in increasing service engagement among MSM living with HIV through increasing community-level sensitization and acceptance in India (113) to an HIV prevention intervention in San Francisco that engaged gay bar owners to collaboratively provide free self-service access to water and used media inside their bars to share information encouraging the use of water to pace alcohol intake (114). The bars also coordinated an online networked platform in which patrons who used a breathalyzer could visualize their individual blood alcohol content (BAC) on an iPad alongside real-time comparisons to the average BAC of patrons in the bar as well as the average BACs of patrons in the other intervention bars (114). The health equity model in HPTN 096 is grounded in promoting principles of fairness and justice and is premised on the abundance of scientific evidence that local community coalitions and intersectoral collaborations are the most effective approach to tackling the enduring structural impediments driving HIV inequities among Black MSM in the South.

1.2.4.2 Social Media Influencers

Social Media Influencers (SMIs) are increasingly employed in a variety of fields to use the power of social media to reach large and diverse audiences. We will employ a combination of known and well established SMI practices and tools in HPTN 096, along with several innovations in use of these approaches. Innovative components will include the use of SMIs to address intersectional stigma for Black MSM.

The "diffusion of innovations model" suggests that behavior change in a population can be initiated and diffused to others if a behavior is visibly endorsed by enough natural and influential popular opinion leaders (POLs) within that population (115). Interventions that have identified (116) and trained POLs to disseminate HIV prevention messages through their social networks have successfully engaged vulnerable communities leading to adoption of prevention strategies including safer sex behaviors, HIV testing and PrEP uptake (117, 118). Further, a cultural adaptation of a POL intervention designed to promote the social normalization of condom use

and assist Black MSM in recognizing and handling risk-related racial and sexual bias, demonstrated significant reductions in HIV risk behaviors out to 12-months (119).

Coincident with the growth of digital technology, MSM increasingly utilize social media to obtain and engage with relevant sexual health information (120, 121). SMIs are users of social media with domain expertise who have established credibility, access to a large audience and can shape followers' attitudes and persuade them to act based on their recommendations (122). By constantly producing valuable content and cultivating reciprocal relationships with their followers (122), SMIs can facilitate engagement and receptivity of a brand (i.e. campaign message) by increasing its perceived authenticity, credibility and trustworthiness (123). Given their status as (micro-) celebrities, they can be a powerful resource for spreading campaign messages within communities. Further, SMIs can stimulate online conversations, introduce new information and ideas, and model healthy behaviors (124).

While there has been an explosion among health care providers, medical groups and pharmaceutical companies aiming to capitalize on the power and persuasion of SMIs to increase disease and drug awareness (125, 126), use of SMIs within public health to promote engagement in prevention behaviors is newly emerging. Findings from the Fresh Empire tobacco public education campaign suggest that SMIs can successfully disseminate tobacco prevention messages that resonate positively with their intended audience (127). Through collaborations with NIH, popular video bloggers and famous rappers, the STD AIDS Foundation in the Netherlands (*Beat the Macho* campaign) effectively engaged boys to challenge community norms on masculinity (128). With regard to HIV prevention, recent data from the COPE4YMSM study in Thailand provides evidence of the effectiveness of SMI to engage young MSM and young transgender women (aged 18-26) in a combination HIV preventive intervention (129).

1.2.4.3 Intersectional Stigma Reduction

The intersection of distinct stigmas (e.g., anti-Black racism, sexual stigmas, and HIV stigma), hereafter called intersectional stigma, produces a unique and synergistic effect on access and engagement in HIV prevention and treatment services. Racism is a system of structuring opportunity and distributing both privilege and disadvantage based on an individual's or community's assignment to social categories that are referred to as "races" (130). The system is multi-dimensional in that it operates at societal, institutional, interpersonal and intrapersonal levels (131-134). Racism is inherently anti-Black because it operates on a hierarchy where "whiteness" is assigned the highest value and "blackness" is assigned lowest value—while other groups experience benefit and/or disadvantage of racism based on their perceived social proximity to (and sometimes assignment to or revocation of) whiteness (135-137). Black MSM are subjected to anti-Black racism intertwined with HIV and sexual stigmas and this intersectional stigma can be experienced, perceived, anticipated and internalized. At the organizational (HCF) level, sexual stigmas (e.g. homophobia, heterosexism, gender non-conformity stigma) (138) are imposed on clients in a range of forms from verbal harassment (e.g. harsh, intrusive, unnecessary questioning) to unwillingness to provide care (or an attitudinal preference not to provide care) to MSM (67, 139). HIV stigma manifests globally in multiple forms ranging from verbal abuse to refusal to treat and avoidance behaviors like double gloving only with patients living with HIV; the latter driven by unwarranted fears of HIV transmission (140, 141).

Intersectional stigma is a significant barrier to engagement in the HIV prevention and treatment cascades. Intersectional stigma prevents Black MSM from seeking HIV testing and can undermine motivation for engaging in HIV prevention practices—such as PrEP use or treatment adherence that is critical for viral suppression among people living with HIV. The presence of intersectional stigma, including gossiping and a lack of supportive interpersonal disclosure, leads to guarded disclosures that are disruptive to HIV testing and early linkage to care (142, 143). Qualitative studies found sexual stigma undermines HIV testing for MSM and was a barrier to seeking general health and HIV treatment services (67, 144, 145). Within HCFs, negative interactions with staff can discourage MSM from seeking HIV testing or disrupt linkage to care (65). At the interpersonal and individual levels, perceived stigma can lead MSM to avoid health care services due to fear that someone will discover they have sex with men. Anticipated stigma can generate fear of potential discriminatory treatment at HCFs, which may lead MSM to avoid or delay accessing services (146, 147). At the individual level, internalized stigma may undermine motivation for engagement in HIV prevention and care activities and services (148).

The science of intersectional stigma is not yet mature and is currently characterized by a high level of exploration and innovation, driven partly by recent calls from the National Institute of Mental Health, National Institute of Nursing Research and the National Institute of Minority Health Disparities for more research on intersectional stigma reduction interventions to optimize HIV prevention and treatment outcomes (149). The current evidence-based stigma-reduction interventions in HCF only address one type of stigma such as HIV stigma, LGBT- stigma or mental illness stigma (150, 151). Nonetheless, there are key insights that can be learned from the current stigma-reduction interventions and applied to intersectional stigma-reduction intervent (QI) approaches to reducing stigma and improving quality of care in HIV-related healthcare settings (152, 153).

A recent systematic review of HCF-based stigma reduction interventions identified six key approaches across the 42 studies reviewed: (1) providing core information about stigma manifestations and drivers, (2) skills-building activities that improve HCF workers abilities to work with stigmatized groups, (3) participatory learning, (4) facilitating contact with the stigmatized group by involving them in the intervention, (5) an empowerment approach that helps build resiliency among HCF clients and (6) structural or policy changes in the HCF (65). For example, in an HIV stigma-reduction intervention study conducted across four hospitals, whole-facility staff training, institutional policy development and capacity-building were used to significantly reduce both fear-based and social value-based HIV stigma (154). None of the studies in the systematic review addressed anti-Black racism with stigma; however, there is substantial literature on HCF-based racial disparities (110, 155-157). These interventions use many of the same approaches used in HCF-based stigma reduction. For example, the Accountability for Cancer Care through Undoing Racism & Equity (ACCURE) intervention eliminated post-intervention racial disparities in cancer screenings (158). The intervention included the provision of foundational information on structural racism, participation in a historical analysis of how race and racism operate across sectors of society; however, the ACCURE intervention went beyond "facilitating contact" with stigmatized groups and worked in sustained collaboration with a local community coalition to examine the institutional practices

and policies of the HCF (158, 159). The ACCURE project also included skills-building through an electronic health record-based audit and feedback procedure, and structural change through the implementation of a nurse navigator trained to use a racial equity lens in identifying and responding to patient's needs (158). Audit and feedback approaches have been used in other interventions to reduce racial disparities (157), although there are very few that have integrated contact with stigmatized patient with audit/feedback into one cohesive approach (160). HPTN 096 will contribute to advancing the knowledge about HCF-based intersectional stigma reduction for HIV prevention through the implementation of key approaches that have been shown to reduce the prevalence and intensity of stigma in HCFs and integrate them with approaches shown to be effective at addressing institutional racism and its negative impacts on health care service use and health outcomes.

While not the only element, the provision of intensive, participatory, skills-based training has emerged as an integral piece of comprehensive and effective stigma (including intersectional stigma) reduction interventions in HCFs (65, 161). Current stigma reduction approaches can provide important insights into the dose and training approach that may be most useful in successfully shifting attitudes and skills towards a more culturally responsive healthcare environment for Black MSM in a way that will lead to meaningful change.

Adult learning theories can inform the training approach. Transformative learning theory and Miller's pyramid provide useful frameworks (162). Knowledge transfer is the foundation of Miller's pyramid, "but not the pyramid itself" – the intent is to convert knowledge into action (162). Transformative learning theory posits that learners must consider new knowledge to critically reflect on beliefs and assumptions and move through a process to ultimately restructure their perspectives (163). Both the research-derived and practice-derived evidence bases on training methods are conclusive that transformation to awareness and understanding of these biases and how they impact on clinical encounters, environments and outcomes, as well as mastery of skills and strategies to overcome them, cannot occur through brief, didactic provision of information in the way that typical clinical competencies may be taught (164).

There exists a precedent for an intensive workshop approach to address stigma-reduction in HCFs. For example, the Health Policy Project, a global HIV stigma reduction program funded by USAID, published an extensive training guide describing a modular training program with prescribed content that can be flexibly implemented, and recommended that a base training program be a whole facility approach (training all staff) over a minimum of a 2-days (165). Nyblade et al. describe elements of successful stigma reduction programs, including one in Vietnam that involved a participatory multi-day training (161). A systematic review of HIV stigma reduction interventions describes the majority as skills-building and delivered over multiple sessions and over the course of many hours or days (166). Likewise, within the arena of anti-racism training, many popular models (such as The People's Institute for Survival and Beyond Undoing Racism Workshop TM, the Racial Equity Institute, and the National Conference for Community and Justice's Dismantling Racism Institute) are multi-day immersive, transformative learning workshops. The Aspen Institute's guide to Training for Racial Equity and Inclusion highlights these programs and recognizes time and financial constraints as challenges to be overcome in implementing this kind of workshop approach in order to effectively address the multi-dimensional facets of racism and implicit bias to achieve

long-term outcomes (167). The successful ACCURE project utilized Undoing Racism as a cornerstone of their HCF-level intervention (168). While feasibility is an important consideration, changing complex organizational- and healthcare worker-level psychosocial processes and behaviors requires complex training modalities.

1.2.4.4 Peer Support

Peer support programs in various forms have been an important intervention for Black MSM in both preventing HIV and maintaining HIV care and treatment adherence. A recent study focused on acceptability of peer navigators among Black, Brown and other MSM of color in navigating PrEP and HIV testing showed overwhelming openness to peer interventions, particularly if peers were of the same sexual orientation or racial identity (169). Studies have shown that effective peer support and social networks can serve to increase PrEP education and trust, and to also help overcome PrEP stigma and mistrust that are contributing to PrEP disparities for Black MSM. This study points to the potential role of peers to increase PrEP uptake in this population (107). Several studies have shown that peer support, whether with peer outreach workers proficient in motivational interviewing or other Black MSM within social networks, is associated with higher rates of HIV testing and a reduction in HIV risk behavior (119, 170). For example, Project HOPE (Harnessing Online Peer Education), an online peer health education intervention using social media tools for HIV prevention led to increased HIV testing rates among young Black MSM (171). The use of technology in delivering peer support interventions, including through text messaging or through the use of other virtual platforms, has been proven effective for Black MSM in HIV care engagement (172).

A recent global meta-analysis of peer interventions for people living with HIV confirmed an overall trend towards increased linkage and retention (173). The CDC has endorsed multiple peer support interventions for people living with HIV, which have been shown to increase HIV care engagement and treatment adherence (174), and in turn reduce risk of transmission to uninfected partners. Successful evidence-informed community-based peer interventions specifically focused on Black MSM, including d-up: Defend Yourself! and STYLE (Strength Through Livin' Empowered), have shown promising outcomes along the HIV care continuum (175, 176).

1.2.5 Theoretical Premise for Integrated Strategies

The design of this study is informed by the network-individual-resource (NIR) model of HIV prevention with components integrated from self-determination theory (SDT) (177). The NIR model is one recent innovation in HIV prevention theory development that takes into account the influence of communities, institutional systems and close others (e.g., peers, families) on an individual's agency (i.e., motivation to act and capacity to act) for enactment of behaviors that contribute to HIV prevention (e.g., PrEP use and HIV treatment adherence) (177). This model also proposes that peers can affect health through social support, social behavioral regulation, and facilitating access to resources. In the NIR model both mental and tangible resources must be engaged in order to optimize HIV prevention (177). Tangible resources are assets that structure conditions that facilitate healthy behaviors. Mental resources refer to the psychosocial characteristics of people and networks that serve as assets for the avoidance of HIV/STI risk behaviors. In this study, we used NIR to guide the selection of integrated strategy components that serve as assets that have a positive influence at the community (SMIs), organizational

(increasing culturally responsive care in HCFs) and interpersonal (peer social support) levels, as well tangible resources at the community (health equity promotion), organizational (reducing intersectional stigma as access barriers in healthcare facilities), and interpersonal (decentralized virtual access to peer support) levels.

SDT is a social psychological theory of human motivation that contends that healthy behavior change is optimized in environments that support humans' basic psychological needs for autonomy (freedom from control), competence (acquisition of skills and resources needed to master goal attainment), and relatedness (authentic connection) (178). In this study, SDT concepts of autonomy, competence, and relatedness are integrated into the NIR model by operationalizing them as qualities of the psychosocial assets operating within the HCF and virtual peer support environments to facilitate PrEP use, HIV testing and HIV treatment adherence among Black MSM. SDT concepts are further integrated by operationalizing them as qualities of tangible resources that support autonomy and competence at the community level (addressing local community-identified priority issues impeding PrEP use, testing and viral suppression) and competence support at the organizational (increasing proportion of HCF staff trained in culturally responsive approaches to care) and interpersonal (increased access to support with navigating health system and identifying resources) levels. It is also important to distinguish "independence" from the concept of "autonomy" as defined in SDT. Independence is the exercise of thought or action without external input. This is different from autonomy that involves the experience of one's actions as fully willing and without external controls, while accommodating the input and influence of important others such as SMIs, healthcare providers and peers (179). Moreover, as demonstrated in studies across various cultural contextsincluding US, Brazil, Canada, China, Ghana, India, Nigeria, Russia and Ukraine-SDT is similar to the local community coalition approach that characterizes the health equity component of HPTN 096, in that SDT does not presume "independence" in decision-making (180-184). Decisions and/or behaviors that are derived from collective-centered thought can still be experienced as willful and volitional (not forced) with those involved assenting to act "together" or in the interest of the group. SDT accommodates the reality that, for many MSM in Black communities across the American South, even while behaviors are expressed at the individuallevel, antecedent psychosocial processes and social/structural determinants are at times influenced at the group or community-level.

2.0 STUDY OBJECTIVES AND ENDPOINTS

The overall goal of this study is to decrease HIV incidence in Black MSM in the southern US by increasing HIV testing, PrEP uptake and viral suppression in the intervention communities. The primary and secondary objectives reflect this goal, using a mix of study-collected data and routinely collected HIV surveillance data. Commercially available PrEP prescription data will also be used in supportive analysis. HIV surveillance data are collected continuously by the CDC via local health departments and prescription data are updated on a quarterly basis. There is no central database that captures all PrEP prescriptions and includes both race and risk. At this point in time, commercial prescription databases exist, which include a subset of prescriptions, and attempts are being made to collect race information. The protocol team will use the PrEP prescription databases currently available in supportive analysis (e.g., Symphony Health or IQVIA being purchased by the CDC and/or AIDSVu) and will use Black men as a proxy for

Black MSM. If over the course of the study a more complete PrEP prescription database that includes risk and race emerges, the protocol team will consider modifying the current PrEP prescription data source.

While the parameters of PrEP uptake and viral suppression are captured in the primary objectives, increases in HIV testing are not. This is because there is no systematic way that overall HIV testing is collected in US. Although subsets can be captured via funders (e.g., CDC-funded tests) or testing laboratories (e.g., private laboratory testing databases), these do not represent an overall picture, and more importantly, they do not systematically report data that includes race and risk. HIV surveillance data does capture new HIV diagnoses, but this is not a direct measure of HIV testing uptake. Because HIV testing is a critical element in the pathway of decreasing HIV incidence, self-reported HIV testing is included as a secondary objective measured through the cross-sectional assessments. If over the course of the study an HIV testing database that includes risk and race emerges, the protocol team will consider adding an objective to the study.

2.1 Primary Objectives

The primary objectives of this study are:

- **2.1.1** To increase the proportion of Black MSM living with diagnosed HIV who are virally suppressed (<200 copies/mL) in the intervention communities compared to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on HIV surveillance data
- **2.1.2** To increase PrEP use by Black MSM not living with HIV in the intervention communities compared to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on laboratory data generated from the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment

2.2 Secondary Objectives

The secondary objectives of this study are:

- **2.2.1** To compare self-reported HIV testing behavior in Black MSM in the intervention communities to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment
- **2.2.2** To compare social support, intersectional stigma, barriers to healthcare, and individual agency in Black MSM in the intervention communities to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment

- **2.2.3** To increase the proportion of Black MSM living with HIV newly diagnosed in the past year who are virally suppressed (<200 copies/mL) within six months of diagnosis in the intervention communities compared to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on HIV surveillance data
- **2.2.4** To track ongoing EHE implementation activities for Black MSM (e.g., outlined by the EHE plans) of both intervention and control communities (used for adjustment in analyses and to assess implementation outcomes of acceptability/compatibility)
- **2.2.5** To assess measures of care quality, and care responsiveness to Black MSM needs at HCFs participating in the Culturally Responsive Intersectional Stigma Prevention (CRISP) component, pre- and post-implementation (used to assess service outcomes)

2.3 Exploratory Objectives

The exploratory objectives of this study are:

- **2.3.1** To compare the estimated HIV incidence in Black MSM in the intervention communities to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on laboratory data generated from the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment
- **2.3.2** To compare use of antiretroviral drugs by Black MSM living with HIV in the intervention communities to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on laboratory data generated from the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment (this analysis will be limited to a subset of communities)
- **2.3.3** To compare HIV drug resistance in Black MSM living with HIV in the intervention communities to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on laboratory data generated from the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment (this analysis will be limited to a subset of communities)
- **2.3.4** To use mathematical modeling to
 - inform interim analysis by using HIV surveillance data on viral suppression during the trial to predict the expected impact on HIV incidence at the end of the trial
 - estimate the longer-term impact of the integrated strategy on HIV incidence among Black MSM in the southern US
 - estimate the contribution to the overall impact on HIV incidence made by each of the integrated strategy components
- **2.3.5** Using attribution analysis, estimate the contribution made by each of the integrated strategy components (health equity, social influencers, intersectional stigma reduction, and peer support) to changes in viral suppression and PrEP use among Black MSM in the southern US

2.3.6 Stored specimens may be used for laboratory assessments that include phylogenetic analysis of HIV in the study communities; characterization of HIV; development, validation, evaluation of laboratory assays relevant to the HIV epidemic and study objectives, and testing associated with SARS-CoV-2 and other related viruses

2.4 Endpoints and Data Sources for Primary and Secondary Objectives

Table 2 below presents the endpoints and data sources for each objective.

Objective (Summary)	Endpoints	Data Source
Primary Objectives		
2.1.1 Viral suppression in Black MSM living with diagnosed HIV	 (primary) The ratio of the number of Black MSM living with diagnosed HIV who are virally suppressed (<200 copies/mL) as measured by HIV surveillance data divided by the number of Black MSM living with diagnosed HIV as measured by HIV surveillance data (supportive) HIV viral load measured in the cross-sectional assessments 	National HIV Surveillance System Data from CDC For supportive analysis: Cross-sectional laboratory assessment (plasma HIV viral load)
2.1.2 PrEP use by Black MSM not living with HIV	 (primary) The presence of PrEP agents measured in a dried blood spot (DBS) collected during the cross-sectional assessments (supportive) The ratio of the number of Black men with PrEP prescriptions (from AIDSVu) divided by the number of Black men with PrEP indications (from CDC) 	Cross-sectional laboratory assessment (DBS) For supportive analysis: commercially available PrEP prescription data from AIDSVu/CDC and PrEP indication data from the CDC
Secondary Objectives		
2.2.1 Self-reported HIV Testing behavior in Black MSM	Responses to survey questions collected during the post implementation cross-sectional assessment	Post-implementation cross-sectional questionnaire
2.2.2 Social support, intersectional stigma, barriers to healthcare, and individual agency in Black MSM	Responses to survey questions collected during the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment	Post-implementation cross-sectional questionnaire
2.2.3 Viral suppression within 6 months of new diagnosis in Black MSM living with HIV	The ratio of the number of Black MSM with HIV newly diagnosed in Year 3 who have a suppressed viral load (VL) within six months of diagnosis as measured by HIV surveillance data divided by the number of Black MSM with HIV newly diagnosed in Year 3 based on HIV surveillance data	National HIV Surveillance System Data from CDC

 Table 2. Map of HPTN 096 Objectives to Endpoints and Source of Evaluation Data

 Objective (Summary)

Objective (Summary)	Endpoints	Data Source
2.2.4 Tracking EHE implementation activities for Black MSM	Information about EHE implementation activities affecting Black MSM in the EHE plans of all intervention and control communities, as well as additional information from local health departments and EHE committees	EHE plans of intervention and control communities, as well as additional information from local health departments and EHE committees
2.2.5 Care quality and responsiveness to Black MSM needs at HCFs participating in CRISP	 Self-reported survey data from health care workers who participate in the CRISP component Aggregated, facility-level independent ratings of HCF workers Self-reported survey data from Black MSM receiving services at HCFs participating in CRISP activities 	 Surveys of health care workers who participate in CRISP component Ratings by independent raters Surveys of Black MSM receiving services at CRISP health care facilities

3.0 OVERVIEW OF STUDY DESIGN

HPTN 096 is a community-randomized, controlled, hybrid type III implementation effectiveness study focused on Black MSM in selected EHE communities in the US South (See Schema Figure 1 for an overview of the study design). HPTN 096 is a four component, multi-level integrated strategy. The four components of the integrated strategy include: 1) a health equity component using a community coalition model as a basis; 2) use of SMIs to raise awareness, reduce stigma, increase motivation for positive health behaviors, and inform Black MSM of available health and other relevant services within their communities; 3) an intersectional stigma reduction component aimed at HCFs and staff; and 4) virtual peer support for HIV/STI testing, PrEP and HIV prevention, ART initiation and ongoing adherence, and provision of information about access/assistance programs. These four components will be implemented over the course of three years (after a one-year ramp-up period). The goal of this study is to capture both the short and long-term term impact and sustainability of the integrated strategy. It is expected that it will take substantial time for the components to diffuse - spread and take hold - within the entire community to the degree that would allow the effects to be observable in a cross-sectional endpoint assessment. This assumption is supported by Hallett and colleagues who postulate that "HIV prevention interventions, especially those targeted at high-risk groups may take longer to work at the population level and need more follow-up time in a CRCT to generate statistically significant results" (185). Although we plan to begin the study when the full integrated strategy is functional within the communities, we expect there to be a substantial change over time with regard to the number of people who know about and benefit from specific components of the implementation strategy (peer support), for attitudinal changes to take place (social media influencers and intersectional stigma reduction) and for changes in policies and practices to be made (health equity). Modeling data from Boily and colleagues support this approach, estimating that it will take 3-4 years for multi-component interventions to have optimal impact on HIV incidence (186).

The study seeks to reduce new HIV infections among Black MSM by increasing rates of HIV testing, increasing rates of viral suppression among Black MSM living with HIV infection, and by increasing PrEP uptake, adherence and persistence among Black MSM at risk for HIV infection. Application of a model previously developed for HPTN 078 suggests (188) that a 10 percentage point increase in viral load suppression and 15 percentage point increases in PrEP uptake (assuming good adherence) would lead to a 35% relative decrease in HIV incidence. These results are, of course, dependent on model assumptions, but are calibrated to current data on viral suppression and PrEP uptake. Also, the model suggests that if the additional PrEP reaches those at higher risk, the impact on HIV incidence would be greater. This analysis suggests that our target intervention effects on viral suppression and PrEP uptake, when combined, are predicted to have a meaningful impact on HIV incidence in Black MSM.

The study will randomize eight matched pairs of EHE communities; 16 communities will participate overall, which have been selected from the 28 EHE counties and Washington, DC, and six high burden rural EHE states in the South. The selected EHE "hotspots" were based on high burdens of HIV prevalence and on recent HIV diagnoses. Pair selection and matching has been done on an epidemiologic basis, using CDC surveillance and other available data on demographics, geographic distance, HIV burdens in men, MSM, and Black MSM and viral suppression in Black MSM. While imperfect, other studies suggest that the great majority of Black men on PrEP are MSM, which is also the case for men of other races and ethnicities using PrEP. As is generally true of community randomized designs, there is no blinding scheme in this study.

The baseline assessment is smaller than the final post-implementation assessment, sampling 100 men in each community (approximately 1600 in total across the arms) while the post-implementation assessment will include approximately 200 men per community, 3,200 in total. Because a population-based sampling frame with a known denominator is not possible for this hidden and marginalized population, and actual denominators cannot be known, the study will use a recently developed sampling approach, starfish sampling, which utilizes the principles of both venue-time sampling and respondent-driven sampling, the two available strategies often used to reach Black MSM (187).

The design uses endpoints from CDC surveillance, commercially available prescription data, as well as cross-sectional data collected at baseline and at the end of implementation of the threeyear integrated strategy in each intervention and control community. The two co-primary endpoints are derived from different sources. The first endpoint is rates of viral suppression in each community among diagnosed Black MSM living with HIV infection and alive at the end of each study year, data made available by a partnership with the CDC through their HIV surveillance reporting systems. Since the CDC will be collecting and reporting on these data in each year of the study, data on rates of viral suppression among Black MSM in each intervention and control community will be used in years one, two and three (the final year). The second co-primary endpoint will be the proportion of Black MSM in each community on PrEP, which will be assessed at baseline and post-implementation assessments through biological specimen collection. Both primary objectives will use additional data for supportive analysis (see Table 2). During the study, periodic review of interim CDC surveillance viral suppression data, interim PrEP prescription data, and the study process measures outlined for each component will be conducted to assess progress; if needed, implementation will be adjusted accordingly. A key exploratory endpoint will be an assessment of the rate of recent HIV infection in intervention vs control communities, which will be assessed with biological specimen collection at baseline and post-implementation.

The study will be sponsored by the NIH but will be a collaboration with the other two main federal agencies tasked with implementing EHE: the CDC (for surveillance) and HRSA (for clinical care). It will also include a range of Black community partner organizations, and the EHE planning councils that have been established in each of the EHE jurisdictions.

3.1 Study Duration

Study duration is approximately 6 years total, which includes a one-year ramp up period prior to the start of the 3-year study implementation period. Based on the Network's experience with previous integrated strategies and individual studies (e.g., HPTN 071, HPTN 065 and HPTN 078), at least 36 months are required to measure the impact of such a large, community-wide strategy. The cross-sectional assessments will be conducted prior to and immediately following implementation of the 3-year integrated strategy. Each assessment will take approximately 6 months to complete, and the baseline assessment will take place during the ramp-up period. The ramp-up period may take less than one year, if all ramp-up activities and the baseline assessment are complete sooner than expected; the implementation period will begin as soon as the ramp-up period is complete. Laboratory testing, data analysis, and analysis of surveillance data will require approximately 1.5 years after completion of the post-implementation assessment. No individual participants will be followed on study.

4.0 STUDY POPULATION

4.1 Description and Selection of the 16 Study Communities

The potential universe of communities for this study includes those of highest HIV burden within the Southern US as identified by the EHE plan. Specifically, this includes Washington DC, 23 counties within Florida, Georgia, Louisiana, Maryland, North Carolina, Tennessee, and Texas, as well as counties within the six rural states of Alabama, Arkansas, Kentucky, Mississippi, South Carolina, and Oklahoma. Each community will be made up of one to four counties, taking into account contiguous and non-contiguous counties where the Black MSM population lives, works and socializes. These communities will be the "randomizable units" for the study. Eight matched pairs of communities will be chosen based on several criteria that require each pair to:

- Be geographically distinct (at least 120 miles apart from one another)
- Include proximal counties where Black MSM frequently travel
- Have roughly equivalent populations (overall, male, Black male)
- Have roughly equivalent (target of +/- 35%) HIV prevalence for Black men
- Share similar rates (target of +/- 30%) of viral suppression for Black MSM

The possible communities, as defined by the study team, are listed in Table 3 and shown in Figure 4. Note that the number of Black MSM living with HIV in Oklahoma and Kentucky is very small and not concentrated in one location. This fact raised concerns regarding the potential ability for the integrated strategy to reach such a small and non-localized population, as well as the feasibility of conducting a cross-sectional assessment successfully. Thus, no locations in Oklahoma or Kentucky will be considered for study participation.



Figure 4: Map of Potential Communities for Study Participation

Community	State	County
Ť		Jefferson County
Birmingham	AL	Shelby County
0		Tuscaloosa Countv
	AL	Mobile County
Mobile		Baldwin County
	MS	Jackson County
	AL	Montgomery County
Montgomerv		Elmore County
		Autauga Countv
		Faulkner County
Little Rock	AR	Jefferson County
		Pulaski County
	DC	Washington DC
DC/MD		Montgomery County
suburbs	MD	Prince George's
		County
Jacksonville	FL	Duval County
Ft.	FL	Broward County
Lauderdale		
Urlando	FL	Orange County
Tampa/St.	FL	Pinellas County
Petersburg		Hillsborough County
		Cobb County
Atlanta	GA	DeKalb County
		Fulton County
		Gwinnett County
Baton		East Baton Rouge
Rouge/New	LA	ralisii Orleong Dorigh
Orleans		Uneally Parish
		Jenerson Parish*
Baltimore	MD	County
		Hinds County
Jackson	MS	Madison County
UMUINDUII		Rankin County
Charlotto	NC	Mecklenburg County
		Charleston County
Charlector	SC	Dorchester County
		Berkelev County
Charlotte Charleston	NC SC	Rankin CountyMecklenburg CountyCharleston CountyDorchester CountyBerkeley County

Fable 3: List of Potential	Communities for	r Study Participation
-----------------------------------	------------------------	-----------------------

Community	State	County
Columbia	SC	Lexington County
		Richland County
		Sumter County
Greenville	SC	Greenville County
		Spartanburg County
Memphis	5 TN	Shelby County
Dallas	TV	Dallas County
	IX	Tarrant County
Houston	ton TX Harris County	

*This is not an EHE identified jurisdiction; however, it is contiguous with Orleans Parish and is part of the overall New Orleans community where Black MSM live, work and socialize.

4.2 Randomization

Prior to randomization, communities will be paired based on demographics (community size and percent of the population that are Black) and baseline rates of viral suppression (based on CDC data). Within each pair, one community will be randomized to receive the integrated strategy components and one will be randomized to the SOC. Randomization will take place in a public ceremony.

4.3 **Priority Population for Components of the Integrated Strategy**

The primary population being prioritized for this study comprises all Black MSM in the participating intervention communities within the southern US, regardless of HIV status. However, populations that will participate in each component of the integrated strategy may extend beyond this population, and each component may target additional populations. The following study populations will be prioritized for each component of the integrated strategy:

- Health Equity: Black MSM and local community
- Social Media Influencers: Black MSM
- Intersectional Stigma Reduction: Healthcare facility staff
- Virtual Peer Support: Black MSM

Any specific inclusion or exclusion criteria for each component of the integrated strategy are listed in the specific component Sections below.

4.4 Priority Population for Cross-Sectional Assessments

The baseline and post-implementation cross-sectional assessments will include Black MSM in both the intervention and control communities. The specific inclusion and exclusion criteria are listed in Section 10 (Cross-Sectional Assessments).

5.0 HEALTH EQUITY COMPONENT

5.1 Hypothesis

Implementing a standardized, nationally replicable community coalition model will contribute to the reduction of HIV incidence among Black MSM in intervention communities by:

1) <u>Facilitating</u> the effects of the other HPTN 096 components of the integrated strategy by minimizing barriers to HIV testing, PrEP use and viral suppression through sensitizing a local network of service providers (e.g., social, legal, economic sectors) to the needs of Black MSM and maintaining an online platform for exchanging information about the local network that can be used to link Black MSM to resources and services.

2) <u>Amplifying</u> the effects of the other HPTN 096 components of the integrated strategy by increasing the Black MSM's receptivity to those interventions through the integration and promotion of HPTN 096 into the activities of the community coalition model.

5.2 Component Description

The health equity component will use a community coalition program as its base model for shaping community social norms within the local service sectors to be supportive of wide-scale adoption of HIV testing, PrEP use and treatment engagement to reduce HIV inequities among Black MSM. The community coalition program will be implemented through the BTAN as the base model for the health equity intervention. The Black Treatment Advocates Network (BTAN)—an existing program of the Black AIDS Institute (BAI)—is a national network of HIV stakeholders including service providers, community members and leaders, educators, and people living with HIV who mobilize Black communities to confront HIV. The national BTAN is comprised of community coalitions across the country that are locally organized, but centrally supported with administrative and technical assistance by the BAI. Local coalitions that maintain a minimum number of members and agree to implement the BTAN's standard training and program activities are designated as "chapters" (see Section 5.2.4). Chapters serve to unify and magnify the work of Black communities. Coalitions that do not meet the minimum membership threshold or who do not implement the standard program activities are designated as "affiliates"; however, as described further in Section 5.2.4, HPTN 096 will strive to implement the health equity component through local coalitions that are designated as BTAN chapters, specifically.

As the BTAN is an existing national network of HIV stakeholders, existing BTAN chapters in communities randomized to the intervention arm of the study will be engaged as implementers of this study. In intervention communities that do not have an active BTAN chapter, BAI will establish new BTAN chapters so that there is at least one in each intervention community. The standard BTAN chapter model consists of three domains (education, leadership development and community mobilization) from which all BTAN activities are derived. The health equity intervention BTAN chapters (defined as those BTANs – new or existing - in each HPTN 096 intervention community) will be referred to as BTAN*Plus* (+) chapters to designate that, in HPTN 096, BTAN+ chapters will implement enhanced activities above and beyond their standard chapter activities across the three domains (see Section 5.3 for component activities). The engagement/establishment of BTAN+ chapters in each intervention community implementing this enhanced operating model will comprise the health equity component of this study.

The BTAN+ chapter enhanced operating model will impact the study outcomes through two strategy pathways: facilitation and amplification (57). BTAN+ chapters will <u>facilitate</u> the effects of the other HPTN 096 components by promoting norms within the local service sectors (e.g., social, legal, economic) that support the strategic prioritization of access to resources and services for Black MSM that can minimize barriers to HIV testing, PrEP use and viral suppression. BTAN+ chapters will <u>amplify</u> the effect of the other HPTN 096 components through the integration and promotion of HPTN 096 into its community mobilization activities, thereby increasing Black MSM's receptivity to the use of HIV testing, PrEP and other HIV prevention services, ART, and virtual peer support. Section 5.3 further details the specific activities that are expected to facilitate these strategy pathways.

5.2.1 Integration of BTAN+ Chapters within the Existing BTAN Network

As previously noted, BTAN chapters or affiliates already exist in communities across the nation, some of which may be randomized to the SOC arm of the study. Existing BTAN chapters in communities randomized to the intervention arm will be transitioned to the BTAN+ chapter operating model; one key defining characteristic of this model is the careful and distinct prioritization of Black MSM in all facets of the chapter activities, which is not a defining characteristic of the existing BTAN chapters in SOC communities will not be offered the opportunity to implement the BTAN+ chapter program model and will be expected to continue their normal operations. If an existing BTAN chapter is at the state-level, a new local-level BTAN+ chapter will be established for the intervention community, and the state-level BTAN chapter will continue under the standard operating model (see Section 5.2.4).

In order to prevent issues of inequity and potential harm that a differential operating model may cause within the existing BTAN network and with BAI, and in order to preserve the strength of BTAN chapters that is derived from being part of this national network, BTAN+ chapters (existing and new) will continue to participate in all national-level BTAN activities and convenings (e.g., monthly all-BTAN leadership calls). Additionally, the core leadership of all BTANs/BTAN+ chapters within SOC and intervention communities will be compensated for their leadership efforts (see Section 5.4.3). However, BTAN+ chapters will also participate in additive, HPTN 096-only activities and convenings, such as monthly leadership and/or technical assistance calls with BTAN+ chapter leaders only and may be offered the opportunity to participate in other BTAN+ chapter trainings. This will provide an opportunity for BAI administration of BTAN+ chapters to focus specifically on integrated strategy-related items and activities, while not precluding these intervention community chapters from being actively engaged in the broader national BTAN network. BTAN chapter members from both SOC and intervention communities will undergo education and training around the concept of the HPTN 096 study, the community randomized design, and BAI/BTAN's role in this study. Additionally, indicators of contamination will be captured as part of the process measures for this component (see Section 5.5). While these measures combined will not entirely remove any possibility for contamination between SOC and intervention community BTAN chapters, they will mitigate this risk as much as can be controlled by the study team and BAI while still preserving the integrity and functioning of the existing national organization.

5.2.2 Implementers

The health equity component will be implemented by local BTAN+ chapter leadership and members, administered and overseen by BAI, and in partnership with other community-based organizations in the intervention communities. BAI will be responsible for establishing and/or maintaining BTAN+ chapters in all intervention communities and ensuring the BTAN+ chapters are fully supported to implement the enhanced operating model (see Section 5.3). Local BTAN+ chapters' leaderships are also responsible for ensuring their BTAN+ chapter follows the enhanced operating model. Where beneficial, BTAN+ chapters will work in partnership with existing community-based organizations (particularly those that are led by and for Black MSM and Black communities) that have similar goals and objectives (see Section 5.3.1).

5.2.3 Location

At least one local BTAN+ chapter will be established in each intervention community. Local BTAN+ chapter leadership will determine the meeting location for their chapter within the intervention community, and if preferable or necessary, may meet virtually. In-person chapter activities may take place at any location deemed suitable within the boundaries of the intervention community.

5.2.4 BTAN+ Chapter Definitions

Each BTAN+ coalition will be supported to achieve and maintain BAI requirements for official chapter status. To meet these requirements, BTAN+ groups must:

- Have at least 20 members (defined as the individuals registered with the chapter at each assessment period);
- Have regular monthly meetings;
- Have leadership comprised of a chair and co-chair; and
- Participate in regular all-BTAN leadership calls.

Additionally, BTAN+ chapters must be comprised of members and organizations located solely within the geographic bounds of an HPTN 096 intervention community. State-level BTAN chapters may not operate as BTAN+ chapters. In the case of pre-existing state-level BTAN, new BTAN+ chapters will be established that are limited to the confines of the intervention community.

BTAN+ coalitions will have the goal of achieving chapter status by at least the first year of study implementation and maintaining that status with BAI over the 3-year study implementation period. BAI will assess the status of each BTAN+ chapter at least twice yearly. In the situation where a BTAN+ coalition falls below chapter status, BAI will work closely with the group to understand challenges preventing the achievement or maintenance of chapter status, and to make adjustments as necessary to increase the engagement and/or membership of the group in order to achieve chapter status.

5.3 Health Equity Component Activities

5.3.1 Formative Work

In many HPTN 096 communities, it is likely that at least some efforts are already ongoing by grassroots community organizations for Black MSM with similar goals as this study. Prior to establishing the local BTAN+ chapters and implementing this component of the integrated strategy, formative work will take place during the pre-implementation and ramp-up periods to better understand the existing community structures and organizations in each intervention community that are currently operating within the HIV field and/or doing work related to Black MSM. Formative work will also take place to describe the make-up and dynamics of any existing BTAN chapters in HPTN 096 communities. Attempts will be made to engage with these existing

organizations and foster partnerships with and between them, for example through involving them as members in the BTAN+ chapters, partnering with them for BTAN+ activities, or seeking their expertise in planning of the BTAN+ chapters' community efforts and activities. The goal of this formative work will be to understand the existing Black MSM community coalition landscape and seek to further potentiate it through combined efforts rather than competition. In some cases where BTAN chapters do not currently exist in intervention communities, these already-active organizations may form the foundation of the new BTAN+ chapter, and BTAN+ chapters (new or existing) may bring in additional membership from these organizations. In this way, a synergy will be formed between various organizations working on the ground towards common goals related to health and social welfare of Black MSM. These partnerships will serve to broaden the local BTAN+ coalition and further strengthen the reach and capacity of BTAN+ in each community.

5.3.2 Facilitation Component

The first step in promoting multi-sector norms in which organizations/programs leverage their services (e.g., medico-legal, social services, housing, addiction, mental health, food security) to support reducing HIV among Black MSM will be for BTAN+ chapter members to participate in the CRISP intervention Foundation Training (see Section 7.0) and complete four hours of training on structural competency as part of their BTAN+ chapter training. Structural competency is the understanding of how the health of individuals is influenced by upstream factors across multiple sectors (189-191). BTAN+ chapter members will be trained in structural competency by the HPTN 096 study team using an open source curriculum (192) and a train-thetrainer approach that will allow BTAN+ chapters to provide training periodically for new members who join the chapter. After a BTAN+ chapter completes these trainings, it will then conduct a rapid mapping of local community resources. BTAN+ chapters will be supported and trained by the HPTN 096 study team to conduct a community resources mapping exercise (193, 194). BTAN+ chapters will identify local services and resources that address social determinants, convene an equity forum (or forums) to raise awareness among the identified organizations of the goals of EHE and HPTN 096 and secure their cooperation to support these goals by finding ways to prioritize the service needs of Black MSM. These equity forums will include brief presentations of research evidence and case examples to illustrate the ways in which their services can be harnessed to help alleviate hardships experienced by Black MSM that, if unaddressed, can undermine HIV prevention and EHE goals. For example, agencies offering pro bono legal services can assist in alleviating an economic hardship by assisting an eligible individual to apply for and/or appeal unemployment benefits, which may be key for him being able to afford food and utilities needed to maintain his adherence to ART. Equity forums together with the BTAN+ chapters will identify barriers to Black MSM accessing services and collaboratively discuss ways to address these barriers. BTAN+ chapters may then look for additional community-driven solutions where possible.

As a follow-up to the equity forums, curated rosters of services, agencies, and individuals willing to provide these services will be compiled and maintained by the local BTAN+ chapters. The curated roster will be publicly accessible via a website maintained by BAI and serve as a referral tool that can be used by HPTN 096 peer supporters, HPTN 096 SMIs, staff at CRISP HCFs and/or directly by Black MSM for self-referrals. This approach integrates the activities of the BTAN+ chapters, SMIs, peers and CRISP-trained HCFs in a coordinated manner that will

expand Black MSM's awareness of services across multiple sectors in the intervention communities. Equity forums are expected to continue periodically over the course of the 3-year intervention period to facilitate sustained engagement with and sensitization of these multi-sector service providers.

5.3.3 Amplification Component

BTAN+ chapters will <u>amplify</u> the effects of the other HPTN 096 activities via increasing Black MSM's receptivity to those components by increasing efforts within the chapter that are focused on HIV testing, PrEP use, and viral suppression in Black MSM. This will include, for example, amplifying prevention messages (from public health sources and potentially from SMIs) or by integrating content endorsing virtual peer support, local HIV/STI testing and/or the range and availability of options for HIV PrEP and ART into their programming and communications strategies. Amplification activities could also involve the dissemination of information that links Black MSM directly to HPTN 096 integrated strategy components, including directing them to the local BTAN+ chapter website where they can access a list of HCFs participating in the CRISP intervention (those HCFs that agree to be listed on the website), the rosters of available local resources cooperating to support HIV prevention needs of Black MSM and instructions on how to access virtual peer support.

5.3.4 BTAN Chapters: Standard versus Enhanced Activities

Table 4 below displays the activities in the standard BTAN chapter model alongside the enhanced activities of BTAN+ chapters arranged by how they integrate into the existing three BTAN chapter program model domains of education, leadership development and mobilization, as well as how each activity supports the strategy pathway of facilitation or amplification. This model provides the minimum and standardized activity requirements that BTAN+ chapters will be expected to conduct each year of the implementation period; however, chapters may choose to engage in additional activities beyond these. As all communities are different, it is not expected that all activities will be implemented in exactly the same manner, and flexibility is provided to each BTAN+ chapter to address issues and conduct their work in ways that are most resonant to their communities. All activities will be documented as part of process measures (Section 5.5) to assess levels of uniformity and adherence to the enhanced and/or standard operating model.

Damain	Comparison of Standard and Enhanced Activities			
Domain	BTAN Standard Model	BTAN Standard Model BTAN + Enhanced Model*		
Education	 Initial Intensive BTAN Establishment Training: HIV prevention and treatment science literacy Policy advocacy and civic-engagement strategies. 	 Facilitation Participate in CRISP (intersectional stigma reduction) foundation training (see Section 7.3.1) (Year 0). Participate in structural competency training within first year of implementation. Participate in at least one annual refresher training on HIV prevention, scientific literacy policy, advocacy, civil engagement, and structural competency. 	 Amplification Localize and incorporate HPTN 096 messages through coalition outreach, other community outreach and communication, and educational channels, including raising awareness of other HPTN 096 study components (Years 0-3). 	
	 Monthly technical 	Facilitation	Amplification	
Leadership Development	 assistance call Monthly leaders' call Annual National Leaders Summit Quarterly leadership development sessions Opt-in professional learning communities 	 Monthly BTAN+ chapter leaders/technical assistance call (Years 0-3). Initial rapid mapping exercise to identify local resources and services that may help alleviate structural impediments to HIV testing, PrEP and/or treatment for Black MSM (by end of Year 1). Annual "booster" mapping activity to assess changes in landscape of local resources and services (Years 1-3). 	 Collaborate on HCFs action planning to support CRISP intervention (Years 1-3, see Section 7.3). Annual Knowledge Exchange Symposium for BTAN+ chapters to share best practices re: HCF collaborations, resource mapping exercise, and any other amplification strategies (Years 1-3). 	
	 12 Chapter meetings 	Facilitation	Amplification	
Mobilization	 per year 1 Advocacy event per year 1 Science event per year 	 Convene multi-sector (e.g., education, housing, legal services, drug treatment and addiction, human services) service provider equity forum(s) in Year 1 (with follow-up events at most annually thereafter) to: Raise awareness of EHE goals Raise awareness of HPTN 096 Illustrate the connection between their services and EHE goals Encourage cooperation to leverage their services to reducing structural barriers to HIV prevention for Black MSM Create and maintain curated roster of service organizations for Black MSM 	 One annual advocacy event focused on intersectional stigma reduction with Black MSM One annual science event focused on current advances in HIV prevention and treatment (e.g., PrEP options, ART options, HIV/STI self-testing options). 	

Table 4: Comparison of Standard BTAN and BTAN+ Activities

*Note: Activities in the BTAN+ Enhanced Model are in addition to those in the Standard model.

5.3.5 Timeline of Activities

Pre-Implementation

- BAI resourced for scale-up and activities of BTAN+ chapters
- Formative work and partnerships with other organizations on the ground, as well as existing BTAN chapters
- Identification of communities without existing BTAN chapters and prioritization of BTAN+ chapter establishment

Ramp-Up

- Establishment of BTAN+ chapters in each intervention community
- BTAN+ chapters participate in CRISP foundation training

Full Implementation

- BTAN chapters fully operational and begin activities (may begin prior to full implementation period)
- Data/process measure metrics provided to study team

5.4 Human Subjects Considerations

The health equity strategy involves collection of descriptive organizational information over time about BTAN chapters and other service organizations in each community and does not include collection of data or private identifiable information about any individuals. As such, this activity does not meet the definition of human subjects research and 45 CFR 46 does not apply.

5.4.1 Informed Consent

As 45 CFR 46 does not apply to the health equity strategy activities, informed consent is not applicable to this activity. However, in the interest of transparency and trust-building within the community, members of BTAN and BTAN+ chapters that are located in SOC and intervention communities will be actively engaged in and informed of these activities, and will be informed that descriptive information on their BTAN/BTAN+ chapter will be collected for the purposes of this research study (see Section 5.5 for process data to be collected). They will also be informed that no data or identifiable information about individual members will be obtained by the HPTN 096 study team, analyzed, or included in any publication. SOC and intervention community BTAN and BTAN+ chapter members will also be informed that BAI will receive financial support from the HPTN to support chapter participation in these activities (see Section 5.4.3). Existing BTAN chapters in potential study communities will receive this information through engagement webinars organized by BAI prior to study implementation; this information will also be included as part of new BTAN+ chapter initiation training. Any new members to existing or

new BTAN chapters in study communities will receive this information as part of their onboarding process.

5.4.2 Confidentiality

Descriptive organizational information collected about BTAN/BTAN+ chapter membership, activity and performance will be kept confidential. No personal information about individual BTAN/BTAN+ chapter members will be collected or shared with the HPTN 096 study team, analyzed, or included in any HPTN 096 publications.

5.4.3 Compensation

Core members of each BTAN (SOC) and BTAN+ (intervention) chapter leadership will receive stipends for their roles in leading the chapter. Funding will be administered through BAI to each chapter. BAI will also receive funding for administration of BTAN and BTAN+ chapters involved in the study in SOC and intervention communities. This funding will be used to support activities related to establishment of new BTAN+ chapters in intervention communities, enhanced activities of BTAN+ chapters, increased administrative burden due to increased number of BTAN chapters, and process data collection activities in SOC BTAN and intervention BTAN+ chapters in support of the study.

5.5 Process Measures Related to the Health Equity Component

Process measure data at the BTAN/BTAN+ chapter level will be collected on an annual basis or more frequently to evaluate fidelity to and penetration of the planned health equity component. These measures are intermediary between the implementation of the component activities and achievement of the primary and secondary outcomes, and also reflect key implementation outcomes of the logic model framework (see Section 1.2.1), and thus will be important in understanding the role that this particular strategy may (or may not) have in producing the primary and secondary outcomes. Process measure data will be reviewed by the study team and Study Monitoring Committee (SMC – see Section 12.7) during the study period to make real-time adjustments to deployment of the component to improve its effectiveness. Process measures for health equity may include:

- Measures of penetration of the component activities:
 - Number of BTAN+ established in each intervention community and length of time required for establishment
 - Number of BTAN+ and BTAN coalitions achieving chapter status and time to achievement of chapter status
 - Number of meetings and attendance at each meeting for each intervention/SOC BTAN+/BTAN chapter
 - Composition of each intervention/SOC BTAN+/BTAN chapter (number of people, number and types of organizations represented, roles/positions of members)

- Number and frequency of meetings between BTAN+ chapters and local HCFs participating in the CRISP intervention, and number of different HCF engaged with BTAN+ chapter
- Metrics of engagement of BTAN/BTAN+ chapter members (e.g., number and percentage of members who participate in each type of chapter activity)
- Analytics of use of the curated resources list developed by BTAN+ chapters (e.g., website hits, repeat visitors, etc.)
- Measures of fidelity to the planned implementation of the component:
 - $\circ~$ Number, type and timing of enhanced BTAN+ model activities completed by each intervention BTAN+ chapter
 - Number, type and timing of standard BTAN activities completed by each BTAN chapter or affiliate located in a SOC community
 - Number of sectors and agencies represented in the BTAN+ chapter equity forum (including % that agree to be on resource list)
 - Successful creation of curated resource lists within the first year of implementation (number of BTAN+ chapters who create lists and number of organizations listed)
- Indicators of contamination between BTAN+ chapters and SOC BTAN chapters (e.g. source of inspiration for activities)

6.0 SOCIAL MEDIA INFLUENCER COMPONENT

6.1 Hypothesis

Tailored messaging on the topics of HIV/STI testing, PrEP and viral suppression prioritizing Black MSM and delivered by SMIs will facilitate a reduction in intersectional stigma and an increase in feelings of social support around these topics, ultimately contributing to a reduction in HIV incidence by increasing HIV/STI testing uptake, PrEP uptake, and ART adherence among Black MSM in the intervention communities compared to the control communities.

6.2 Component Description

The SMI component will be focused around of three primary elements: HIV/STI testing promotion, PrEP awareness and promotion, and viral suppression promotion. Secondary elements will involve direct SMI support and promotion of other components of the integrated strategy. For the purposes of this study, we define a SMI as a user on social media who has established credibility in a specific industry, brand, or content area. The SMIs have access to a large audience and can persuade others by virtue of their authenticity and reach. For this study, local SMIs, defined as those whose reach is limited to a population defined mainly by their geographical area or specific sub-populations within that area, will be engaged as implementers.

6.2.1 Primary Elements

For the three primary elements, tailored, status-neutral, culturally-resonant messaging prioritizing Black MSM in intervention communities will be developed and delivered by SMIs on the topics of:

- **HIV/STI testing promotion**: The SMIs will promote messaging (self-developed or developed by others) reinforcing the importance of HIV/STI testing and providing information on how HIV/STI testing can be obtained in the community.
- **PrEP and HIV prevention awareness and promotion**: The SMIs will develop and/or push PrEP and other HIV prevention promotion content prioritizing Black MSM in their communities and provide information on where PrEP is available in the local community.
- Viral Suppression promotion messaging: The SMIs will push content promoting viral suppression and ART adherence prioritizing Black MSM in their communities.

6.2.2 Secondary Elements

In addition to the above primary elements which are directly related to study outcomes, the SMIs will also be asked to support and promote other components of the HPTN 096 integrated strategy, which will serve to synergistically amplify the effect of those components within the intervention communities and facilitate the transition to action. As examples:

- **Health equity**: The SMIs may promote events put on by local BTAN+ chapters (see Section 5.0), as well as community resource lists developed by BTAN+ chapters with the organizations or services included therein. BTAN+ chapters may advise SMI on content. The SMIs will be offered participation in their local BTAN+ chapter, and BTAN+ members may be identified as influencers.
- **Intersectional stigma reduction**: The SMIs may promote HCFs involved in the CRISP component (see Section 7.0), if agreed to by those HCFs, as culturally responsive locations to receive HIV/STI testing, HIV care and/or PrEP services.
- **Virtual Peer support**: The SMIs may promote the virtual, status-neutral peer support platform to Black MSM community members (see Section 8.0).

6.2.3 Implementers

SMIs will be identified according to the criteria listed in Section 6.2.4 and will be compensated to promote and/or develop content relevant to the primary and secondary elements of this component (see Sections 6.2.1 and 6.2.2 above). After undertaking a comprehensive SMI selection process (see Section 6.2.4), where adequate local influencer capacity does not exist, it will be developed (described further in the Study-specific Procedures (SSP) Manual). Section 6.3 describes SMI activities.

It is expected that 2-4 SMIs will be engaged at any given time in each intervention community for implementation of this study intervention. The exact number of SMIs in each community may change and will be determined per the process described in Section 6.2.4. Additionally,

individual SMI may change over time. While SMIs will be selected based on their access to Black MSM in the intervention community locality, in reality, there are no real geographic parameters around the reach of social media platforms and/or the SMIs. Instead, local influencers will be identified and defined as such by who their followers are, through the use of analytics of social media activity, and messages/content related to the study objectives will be geographically tailored when possible. While platforms may span borders, influencers themselves may have more of a local rather than national/global following, often referred to as micro-influencers, and will tailor content to local audiences. Social media analytics on geographic location of followers can be compared to existing data on the population of Black MSM in each community to describe potential reach of the SMIs within this population. There are a number of techniques that SMIs may also use, such as location tagging and engagement in local events, to help target study-related information to more local audiences. Additional information on mitigation of contamination risks is described in Section 6.2.5.

All SMIs will be trained by the study team on the science and objectives of the HPTN 096 study (see Section 6.3.1) but will develop their own content. In this way, content pushed by SMI will remain authentic to their social media persona, and the trust that each SMI has built with their followers will be maintained (see Section 6.3.2).

6.2.4 SMI Selection

An SMI selection process will be used to identify and formally select SMIs to participate as implementers of this component of the integrated strategy. A community advisory approach will be the foundation of SMI selection. Members of the HPTN 096 CSG and/or CAG will be enlisted to identify an initial list of SMIs that are felt to have influence within the Black MSM population generally within the geographic locale of the randomizable units, or with subpopulations of Black MSM based on age and other cultural subsets in those communities. CSG/CAG members making these recommendations will likewise be representative of broad and varied subsets of the Black MSM population in the southern US and intervention communities. After or in parallel with initial identification, a social media firm, preferably with experience in the Black southern US context, will be contracted to assess the identified SMI. This firm will be solicited following FHI 360 standard procurement procedures. The firm will conduct a brand congruence analysis on each SMI to further describe their analytics, demographics and geographic reach of followers, engagement of followers, and confirm that SMI brand/messaging do not directly conflict with the objectives of HPTN 096 (e.g., SMIs are not spreading mistruths related to HIV). Given their access to social media data and analysis tools, the SMI firm may also be asked to assess the landscape of SMIs for the purposes of identifying additional SMI candidates who could be approached to be implementers. SMIs who are deemed congruent will be invited to participate in the SMI component. Those who accept will be contracted with on an annual basis to serve as implementers of the SMI component. Compensation will be provided to each SMI commensurate with activities undertaken as implementers of this component of HPTN 096. The SMIs will be permitted to exit the contract with the HPTN 096 study and end their role as implementers.

Initial selection of SMIs will be completed within the first half of the 1-year ramp up period. Subsequently, SMI qualifications will be reviewed on a semi-annual basis with the assistance of the social media firm and CAG. If needed, additional SMIs may be engaged and brought on, and SMIs who are no longer a good fit for the study or who remain disengaged after a process of reengagement and quality improvement will no longer serve as a SMI for the study.

6.2.5 Limiting Contamination

Influencers will promote and share content via web-based social media platforms. Such platforms do not operate within prescribed geographic bounds. In order to reduce contamination from intervention communities into control communities, SMIs will be selected based on analytics related to their geographic reach (as described in Section 6.2.4). To the extent possible, SMIs will promote content to individuals within the intervention communities by using techniques such as the use of micro-influencers and location tagging (i.e., geotagging) to limit the reach of their messaging to the specific geographic location of the intervention community. While it is likely that SMI content and messages containing geographically-based or HPTN 096-specific information (e.g. referrals to clinics that have been through the CRISP training program or promotion of local HIV/STI testing options) may reach control communities, such messages will have limited ability to contaminate those communities, as the infrastructure and/or resources related to those components are not available to Black MSM residing in control or non-intervention communities (e.g., Black MSM residing outside of an intervention community will not have access to local HIV/STI testing options).

6.3 SMI Component Activities

6.3.1 Training

The SMIs will be trained by the HPTN 096 study team beginning in the second half of the 1-year ramp up period. They will be trained on scientific literacy, the science behind the HPTN 096 study, intersectional stigma related to Black MSM and HIV-related outcomes, technical information specific to the SMI component (i.e., PrEP, HIV/STI testing, and viral suppression), and how SMI techniques may be most impactful in a public health context. The SMIs will be trained in how to handle difficult questions related to the topic areas, and how to report social harms or other destructive conversation (e.g., dealing with "trolls" or others who intentionally post inflammatory or provocative content for the purposes of instigating controversy or conflict) to the study team. Performance expectations will be shared with the SMI. Refresher trainings will be conducted on an annual basis as a condition of contract renewal. Opportunities may be provided for sharing lessons learned and best practices among SMIs. If new SMIs are identified and engaged after study implementation, they will initially be trained separately from existing SMIs.

6.3.2 Content Development and Iteration

6.3.2.1 Development

The SMIs will be expected to develop their own content, authentic to their brand, but which serves to promote HPTN 096 messaging, integrated strategy components, and elements as described in Sections 6.2.1 and 6.2.2. The SMIs will be trained in topic areas of interest for HPTN 096 as described above in Section 6.3.1. Additionally, the HPTN 096 study team will provide SMIs with a content guide describing parameters and technical information for study-related content (see SSP Manual), and members of the study team will be accessible to SMI to

provide technical assistance. Content developed by SMIs for the purposes of this study is expected to meet the parameters in the content guide. The SMIs may also post or promote related content developed by other influencers (either involved with or not involved with the HPTN 096 study), as well as content developed by the HPTN 096 study team for other purposes. The SMIs may create content that supports or promotes HPTN 096 components either directly (for example, promoting the virtual peer support program) or indirectly (for example, more general messaging about being healthy or knowing your HIV status).

Content developed by SMIs will be pushed/posted on social media platforms. There are no parameters around the format of content that SMI may develop; acceptable content may include (but is not limited to) text-based posts, videos, images, songs, or other online media. The SMIs may post on any social media platform that they feel will reach Black MSM. This may include Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, YouTube, TikTok, personal blogs, or any other platform or app that can reach the intended audience.

6.3.2.2 Iteration

SMI messaging will need to be iterated and periodically refreshed throughout the implementation period. This will be facilitated through content monitoring and feedback by the study team (see Section 6.3.4), as well as annual refresher trainings (see Section 6.3.1).

6.3.3 Frequency of Messaging

The SMIs will be expected to have a regular social media presence, conversation, and engagement around the three main elements over the course of the three-year implementation period. Exact frequency of messaging will vary depending on message type, engagement of followers, and activity level of the SMI. Conversation and content delivery may be fluid, and other times, prescribed. If prescribed messaging is needed, the study team will communicate this via email to the SMIs.

6.3.4 Content Monitoring

The HPTN 096 study team will not attempt to change the SMI brand or police their content (particularly content unrelated to HPTN 096). However, periodic review of content by the study team, with the assistance of the contracted social media firm, will occur to ensure thematic fidelity to the study parameters and content guide. This monitoring will also confirm that SMIs are still active influencers in the social media world and still have audiences in the local geosphere of their intervention community (i.e., confirming that a local SMI for a particular community is still actively posting social media content that is reaching that community). The SMI contract renewal will be based on confirmation that the SMI is producing content for the purposes of HPTN 096 and are still active influencers in their community. The SMIs are expected to operate with integrity and abide by the community guidelines established by each individual social media platform on which they are active. Additionally, messaging that promotes mistruths related to HIV or that is in direct conflict with study themes (e.g., messaging discouraging PrEP use) will be cause for retraining the SMI and potentially for contract termination.

It is expected that SMIs will also continue developing and pushing content that is authentic to their original brand and unrelated to HPTN 096. In order to maintain brand authenticity and particularly when promoting general public health messages, SMIs will not be required to state a direct or advertised affiliation with the HPTN or this study but may do so if they wish. This is in line with standard practice of how SMIs operate. The SMIs may state an affiliation to HPTN when promoting specific HPTN 096 components or events.

6.3.5 Timeline of Activities

Pre-Implementation

- Identification and procurement of social media firm
- Enumeration of SMIs by CAG
- Brand congruence analysis of SMIs by social media firm

Ramp-Up

- Final selection of the SMIs, including contracting with each SMI
- Training of SMIs
- Development of content by SMIs

Full Implementation

- Development and promotion of content by SMIs
- Content monitoring, refresher trainings, and iteration
- Collection of process data

6.4 Human Subjects Consideration

As SMIs are considered implementers of this study component and are not research subjects or participants, and as no private identifiable information will be collected from any individuals whom the SMIs intervene upon with their social media messaging, the SMI activities are not considered human subjects research and 45 CFR 46 does not apply. As this field is expected to evolve over the course of study implementation, emerging standards related to the use of social media in the research setting will be consulted in order to minimize potential harms such as confidentiality violations and stigma.

6.4.1 Informed Consent

As 45 CFR 46 does not apply to the SMI component, informed consent is not applicable to this activity.

6.4.2 Confidentiality

Permission will be obtained from the SMIs as part of their contracting process to monitor their implementation of these study activities in order to assess fidelity to and penetration of the study activities. This monitoring will involve content analysis of each SMI's public social media content, as well as collection and assessment of metrics of engagement (see process measure data to be collected in Section 6.5). Social media content that is within the public realm only will be monitored for study purposes (i.e., private messages to and from other social media users will not be accessed by the study team or its contractors). Metrics of social media activity will only be evaluated for the purposes of process measures assessment and monitoring of SMI activity and will not be used or sold for targeting of advertising or other information towards SMIs or their followers. Individual usage of social media will not be assessed. Social media content will be collected using the publicly available posts on platforms such as Twitter, Instagram, Facebook, Tumblr, Reddit, TikTok, YouTube, and any other relevant platforms. Relevant public posts will be downloaded periodically over the study period. This data may include image and video links, posts, tweets, retweets, comments and social media demographics (i.e., number of likes, favorites). Social media platforms identify users by assigning unique ID numbers (i.e., Twitter ID), not usernames.

While identifiable fields will not be intentionally downloaded from social media (e.g., birthdate, address, email, phone number), identifiable data may be inadvertently captured as individuals post information in status updates (e.g., RT @funnyjen). Usernames will not be included as part of any analysis or coding procedures, and computer algorithms or human coders will not be used to cull, collect, and analyze identifiable information.

6.4.3 Compensation

As described in Section 6.2.3, the SMIs will be compensated for their activities directly related to implementation of this component. Compensation will not be provided to any individual social media users interacting with SMIs as part of this study.

6.5 Process Measures Related to the SMI Component

Process measure data will be collected on an annual basis or more frequently to evaluate fidelity to and penetration of the planned SMI activities. These measures are intermediary between the implementation of the SMI component and achievement of the primary and secondary outcomes and also reflect key implementation outcomes of the logic model framework (see Section 1.2.1), and thus will be important in understanding the role that this particular component of the integrated strategy may (or may not) have in producing the primary and secondary outcomes. Process measure data will be reviewed by the study team and SMC during the study period to make real-time adjustments to deployment of the component to improve its effectiveness. Process measures for SMI may include:

- Measures of penetration of the SMI activities:
 - Number of SMIs in each region/community
 - Metrics of social media engagement, including the following:

- Clicks on links/videos
- Time spent on links/videos
- Number/types/demographics of followers of SMIs
- Number and types of reposts/retweets
- Comments (stratified by social media platform and SMI components)
- Types of content developed
- Measures of fidelity to the planned SMI activities:
 - Retention rate of SMIs in each community
 - Frequency of SMIs postings and activity
 - Content analysis of SMIs' postings and activity as compared to content guide

7.0 INTERSECTIONAL STIGMA REDUCTION COMPONENT

7.1 Hypothesis

An HCF-level intersectional stigma reduction component to improve cultural responsiveness in the provision of health care services for Black MSM will contribute to a reduction in HIV incidence. This will be done by creating an affirming and autonomy-supportive healthcare environment that supports Black MSM engagement in HIV-related care and services and that promotes increased HIV/STI testing, PrEP uptake, and viral suppression rates.

7.2 Component Description

The CRISP component of the integrated strategy will take place at selected HCFs (see Section 7.2.3). The CRISP component is designed to optimize the healthcare environment for Black MSM by addressing the intersectionality experience of anti-Black racism, sexual stigmas, and HIV-related stigma. This will be accomplished through three phases (foundation, installation and implementation) that are aligned with the EPIS (exploration, preparation, implementation and sustainment) model (195) over the course of a one-year ramp-up period and three-year implementation period:

- **Foundation Phase:** A majority of *relevant* staff (e.g., the clinical staff who directly provide HIV treatment or prevention services, and the non-clinical staff who support or provide administrative leadership to them) at each HCF will participate in the CRISP Foundation training workshop on culturally responsive services for Black MSM, including content on integrative anti-racism and intersectional stigma, structural competency, skills practice, and accountability (see Section 7.3.1 for details).
- **Installation Phase:** HCFs representatives from key clinical and non-clinical roles (including but not limited to Champion teams) will engage in continued learning and skills application within their HIV prevention and/or care practice settings, achieved through Extension of Community Healthcare Outcomes (ECHO) activities, quality

improvement (QI) collaborative orientation, client-instructor experiences, development of CRISP action plans, implementation of a self-monitoring strategy, and collaborative problem-solving with community support (see Section 7.3.2 for details).

• **Implementation Phase:** HCFs will implement and report on site-specific CRISP action plans and self-monitoring strategies, including collaborative problem-solving with community support, as well as QI collaboratives that will foster practice transformation by facilitating knowledge exchange and technical assistance between the HCFs in the collaborative.

The CRISP model is shown below in Figure 5 and further described in Section 7.3. The CRISP component will generally employ a "whole facility" approach, recognizing the sources of intersectional stigma do not only come from clinical providers, but also any HCF staff that may encounter patients, such as front desk and administrative personnel.

7.2.1 Implementers

CRISP will primarily be implemented by local teams of interventionists who may include, but not be limited to individuals with expertise in intersectionality, training methodologies used with HCFs, clinical provision of HIV services, and working with HCFs to improve the quality of service provision for Black MSM. CRISP interventionists will be contracted following FHI 360 procurement procedures.

In each community, the local CRISP interventionists will be responsible for implementing the Foundation phase, as well as carrying out the ECHO curricula, facilitating QI collaboratives, and providing technical assistance. Throughout the study, CRISP interventionists will receive technical assistance and central administrative oversight by the CRISP leadership team comprised of key study team technical leads. A small team of Black MSM from each community will be trained to implement a client-instructor methodology which involves enacting a simulated client/patient role in the HCF and then rating the service quality of the experience that had with the specific HCF staff with whom they came in contact with during the simulation (see Section 7.3.2.3). The client-instructors will also be overseen by the CRISP leadership team.

Champion teams will be assembled at each HCF and will include at least one representative from key functional areas at each facility; for example, a combination of clinical staff, front-line staff, peer navigator, C-suite member, data manager and human resources representative. Champion team composition specific to each HCF will be based on organizational composition of each HCF and determined as part of the contracting process with the HCF. Champions must complete the Foundation phase of CRISP. If staff who are designated as Champions leave their position at the HCF, a new staff member will be selected to replace that person, and periodic Foundation retrainings will be offered as needed to ensure new staff receive this training (re-trainings may be offered virtually and may combine new staff from different intervention communities for efficiency). Foundation re-trainings will be open to additional staff beyond Champion roles as resources permit. Each HCF will be compensated to subsidize Champion time for study-related activities (see Section 7.4.3).

In the Installation and Implementation phases, development and implementation of CRISP action plans and self-monitoring strategies will be led by the Champions teams at each HCF, with ongoing coaching and technical assistance provided by the local CRISP interventionist team and collaborative problem-solving done in partnership with community advisory structures, such as local BTAN+ chapters and local community advisory boards (CABs).


Figure 5: CRISP Model

7.2.2 Location

The Foundation phase of the CRISP component will involve a synchronous training that will take place, ideally in person, at central locations in each community accessible to participating HCF staff. If necessary or preferable, the Foundation training may be delivered virtually. Installation and Implementation of the CRISP component will take place at each HCF and will involve a combination of virtual synchronous and asynchronous web-based activities as well as virtual or on-site technical assistance.

7.2.3 Health Care Facility (HCF) Selection

HCF selection will involve two processes that may be iterative: 1) identification of facilities that are most likely to serve (and those with the capacity to serve) Black MSM, those that demonstrate the most need for improvement in services to Black MSM, and those that comprise a sufficient set of facilities to make an impact at the Black MSM community level; and 2) robust recruitment of the target facilities in order to gain their buy-in and willingness to participate.

7.2.3.1 HCF Identification

HCFs may include any type of facility that provides HIV-related care and/or PrEP services, including but not limited to primary care clinics, health system and/or hospital outpatient clinics, health department sexual health clinics, federally-qualified health centers, Ryan White-funded clinics, general medicine clinics, private health care offices, infectious disease clinics, pharmacies providing walk-in clinic services, and community-based organizations within the PrEP continuum. HCFs must be located within a county randomized to the HPTN 096 intervention arm.

An iterative and formative HCF identification process will use a combination of information from quantitative databases and qualitative data sources. Information from databases will be used to enumerate and characterize facilities that are current providers of HIV care and/or PrEP. Additional sources may be used to supplement information about current providers or to identify potential new providers (e.g., of PrEP).

Database sources include:

- Facility-based viral suppression surveillance data for Black MSM (CDC)
- Ryan White-funded clinics (HRSA)
- Health Center Program Awardee Data (HRSA)
- HIV care and PrEP service locations (AIDSVu)

Supplemental qualitative information will be elicited from the sources below:

- HCF preferences and perceptions survey data (formative web-based survey implemented with Black MSM in potential HPTN 096 communities)
- HPTN 096 CAG and CSG input

• EHE planning council and local health department recommendations

7.2.3.2 HCF Recruitment

A comprehensive HCF recruitment strategy will be developed with input from community members, partners (i.e., CDC, HRSA, local health departments and EHE councils), and individuals with expertise in health care leadership and quality improvement, practice transformation, and provision of HIV services in the southern US. The strategy will include proactive measures to address feasibility, such as soliciting HCF feedback on incentives (e.g. financial compensation, continuing education credits, facility certification, access to technical assistance, etc.) that may facilitate their participation, and how the training approach could be tailored to meet their preferences. The strategy will also emphasize how participation in this component can help communities achieve EHE goals.

The recruitment strategy will be implemented with the target HCFs after community randomization has been completed and target HCFs have been identified in each intervention community. Members of the study team will implement the strategy by undertaking HCF education and engagement activities, in order to gain HCF buy-in and commitment to participate.

HCF agreement to participate in this study will confer a commitment to participation in all trainings as specified in the protocol, a commitment to identification of a Champion team within the HCF, a commitment to development of a CRISP action plan, a willingness to engage with local community organizations and partners for collaborative problem-solving, and provision of process measure data to the study team. HCF participation will be confirmed upon signing an agreement to participate in the study. The agreement will include compensation to HCF for their participation in this study component as described in Section 7.4.3.

7.2.3.3 Number of HCF

Due to the variability across potential communities, the qualitative nature of some of the data to be assessed, and the need for HCFs to agree to participate, it is difficult to estimate the number of HCFs that would participate in any given community. It is anticipated that between 10 and 20 facilities will participate in each community, on average.

7.3 Intersectional Stigma Reduction Activities

7.3.1 Foundation Phase

In the Foundation phase, staff from each participating HCF in an intervention community will participate in a regional (i.e., inclusive of all participating HCFs in a given community) synchronous training on Culturally Responsive Services for Black MSM. The training will require a minimum of 12 training hours, but delivery may be tailored to the preferences of each intervention community (for example, segmented into shorter sessions provided over a number of days or period of weeks, or condensed into longer sessions provided intensively over 1.5-2 days). Multiple training dates will be offered in each community in order allow HCF staff to cycle through the training rather than all being away from regular duties at one time, and to provide enough opportunities to ensure the target number of HCF staff and providers are

reached. Ideally, the training will be provided in an in-person setting; if necessary due to COVID-19 or other factors, it may be provided virtually. While the curriculum content will be standard across all intervention communities, the CRISP interventionist teams will work with the HCF in their community to determine the most appropriate schedule for training delivery. A target of >75% of relevant (i.e., related to provision of HIV services) staff at each participating HCF will be trained.

The standard curriculum to be used for this Foundation training will be derived from existing evidence-based training curricula on cultural responsiveness, HIV stigma reduction, anti-racist practices in health care, anti-Black racism, contributions and resilience of Black gay Southerners and similar topics, but will be refined by the CRISP training team to meet the specific needs of this study. Topics covered in the training will include (but are not limited to) the following:

- Presentation of HIV epidemiological inequities, including intersectional patterns of race, transmission category and geography
- Review of evidence related to PrEP, general HIV prevention, viral suppression, and HIV testing
- Discussion on integrative anti-racism
- Understanding intersectional stigma: anti-Black racism, sexual stigmas, and HIV-related stigma
- Identification of sociocultural assets of Black MSM
- Building structural competency in HIV prevention and treatment services
- Skills practice for affirming interactions
- Trauma-informed care
- Creating culturally responsive health care climates for Black MSM
- Creating an accountable practice community

Implementation of the Foundation phase will occur in parallel across all intervention communities during the second half of the ramp-up period. Interventionist teams will undergo training during the first half of the ramp-up period.

7.3.2 Installation Phase

CRISP Installation will begin for any given intervention community after that community completes the CRISP Foundation phase. Completion of the CRISP Foundation will occur when all offered trainings have been conducted in that community and the target number of staff at all participating HCF have been trained. Installation will include the following elements: 1) QI collaborative orientation, 2) ECHO, 3) knowledge exchange, 4) e-learning modules, 5) client-instructor experience, 6) technical assistance, 7) self-monitoring, 8) collaborative problemsolving, and 9) development of CRISP action plans. The Installation component will be supported through a web-based portal that will provide HCF staff with a central location to access all elements and track their utilization, and to connect with their QI collaborative and

other participating HCFs, and will provide the CRISP interventionist teams with a tool to organize trainings and other CRISP activities and materials.

7.3.2.1 QI Collaborative Orientation

Early in the Installation phase, HCFs will participate in an asynchronous, web-based orientation to QI collaboratives, including expectations for working within a QI collaborative for this study, as well as measurement and self-monitoring expectations and strategies. QI collaboratives will begin to be organized during Installation with participating HCFs, as is further described in the SSP.

7.3.2.2 ECHO

The CRISP interventionist teams will build on themes highlighted in the Foundation phase by using an ECHO-based model for case-based learning and knowledge exchange (196, 197) to facilitate translation of the Foundational phase concepts into best practices for providing HIV prevention and care services to Black MSM within HCF settings. The ECHO-based model will employ a train-the-trainer approach and will be delivered over a series of synchronous webbased sessions to a subset of HCF staff who represent the key roles in the facility, grouped into clinical and non-clinical cohorts. ECHO content will build on content covered in the Foundation training by extending it to clinical application, and will include a brief didactic component highlighting specific topics (e.g., impact of implicit bias on PrEP decision making; intersectional stigma reduction strategies to improve HIV testing; understanding linkage between intersectional stigma, allostatic load, and HIV viral suppression; etc.) followed by a related case presentation and discussion. Standard didactic curricula (clinical and non-clinical) for ECHO sessions will be developed centrally and will be delivered over the first year of the study intervention period; cases will primarily be more regionally focused and will be submitted by the participating HCFs in each community, and will focus on actual clinical and systems-level challenges being experienced by the facilities related to the topics in the standard didactic curriculum. Each session will be 1-2 hours in length and will be offered approximately once per month. Continuing education credits will be offered for each session, and sessions will be recorded and housed on the CRISP web-based portal for future viewing.

7.3.2.3 Client-Instructor (CI) Experience

Skills learned in the Foundation and ECHO trainings will be practiced and reinforced through the Black MSM CI supportive feedback methodology (analogous to "standardized patients" in the medical literature) (160, 198, 199). CI will act as independent raters of intersectional stigma -- both its structural and procedural manifestations as well as the interpersonal manifestations -- in each HCF. CI will be Black MSM who are hired and trained in each intervention community to rate facilities and coach providers and HCF staff.

A CI experience is a simulated visit at an HCF. In these visits, the CI will walk through a typical clinic visit and use qualitative scales developed into checklists to rate the visit on measures pertaining to intersectional stigma. At the end of the visit, the CI will provide all staff members who he interacted with during the visit with supportive feedback and coaching. While CIs will

primarily interact with the clinician, they may also rate other non-clinical aspects of their visit, such as the welcoming behavior of the front desk staff and the clinic environment.

Within the first year of the study intervention period, the goal will be to conduct one CI experience with each applicable staff member at each participating HCF (i.e., each staff member a patient would come in contact with along the pathway of their HCF visit). One CI experience is expected to cover multiple staff members (because the client is expected to come into contact with multiple staff members during the experience). The purpose of the CI experiences within the first year is to provide feedback on the Black MSM's experience of intersectional stigma at their facility, and to allow HCFs to use the feedback to prepare for developing and implementing their CRISP action plans. In subsequent years, the goal will be to conduct one experience with a subset of at least 50% of relevant staff at the HCF to help facilities' monitor and evaluate progress since Year 1 and use the feedback to optimize stigma reduction measures. More experiences may be requested, as well as "booster" sessions for new staff. Providers will be encouraged to share feedback gained from CI experiences with additional staff members at their facility.

Independent ratings by CI will be reported in an anonymous manner to the study team, and data will be triangulated with HCF worker self-assessments (see Section 7.3.5) to characterize intersectional stigma at baseline and post-implementation. Ratings for the purposes of describing intersectional stigma will be done at the facility-level and will not identify any individual HCF staff, CIs, or clients.

7.3.2.4 E-Learning Modules

E-learning modules may be housed on the CRISP portal to be accessible to all participating HCF staff. E-learning modules may be used as pre-requisites for the Foundation phase or for specific ECHO sessions and may also include technical content that is more specialized or potentially not applicable to all HCF. E-learning modules may also provide an opportunity for additional clinical training resources, such as modules on clinical PrEP provision. Some modules may provide continuing education credits. E-learning modules may be developed by the study team or may link to existing training resources developed by external groups or experts. There is no prescribed dose for provision of e-learning modules; rather, the aim is to provide supplemental and supportive training and link to existing resources.

7.3.2.5 Knowledge Exchange

The CRISP web-based portal will facilitate exchange of information between participating HCF staff through a Knowledge Exchange utility. The Knowledge Exchange may include message boards and forums, as well as a repository for posting of pertinent resources and information that could be useful to those involved in CRISP. The intent of the Knowledge Exchange is to provide a forum for sharing of lessons learned and experiences, as well as house existing resources.

7.3.2.6 Technical Assistance

Participating HCF may make technical assistance (TA) requests to the central and/or regional training hub teams at any point during the study intervention period. TA will be requested via the

CRISP web-based portal. Responses may also be provided via the portal, depending on the nature of the assistance requested. The portal will also enable tracking of TA requests and responses and response rate, to facilitate process data reporting.

7.3.2.7 HIV Cascade Self-Monitoring

Participating HCF will be expected to undertake self-monitoring strategies throughout the course of the study and beyond. Given what is likely a large differential in baseline monitoring capabilities and resources, strategies used by HCFs will vary. Self-monitoring will be emphasized as a critical element of addressing intersectional stigma and assessing impact on outcomes (e.g., PrEP use, viral suppression) for Black MSM. Specifically, HCF will be expected to monitor their own facility data on metrics related to the HIV cascade, such as HIV testing, PrEP provision, linkage to care, retention in care, and viral suppression, by race and sexual orientation. Facility data will not be reported to the study team, but progress on implementing self-monitoring measures will be reported in the brief progress reports (see Section 7.3.3). Selfmonitoring measurements may also be used as feedback to HCFs within the QI collaborative process. The purpose of self-monitoring is to help facilities assess if their efforts are making progress and having an impact, to provide a mechanism of accountability at the facility level, and to encourage facilities to critically examine HIV outcome disparities among their patient populations.

Training on self-monitoring strategies will be provided during the Foundation phase, during the QI collaborative orientation, via ECHO sessions, and e-learning modules. TA will also be available to support self-monitoring efforts.

7.3.2.8 Collaborative Problem-Solving

HCF will be encouraged to engage in collaborative problem-solving with community partners, including BTAN+ chapters participating in this study. Collaborative problem-solving will provide HCF with an opportunity to build lasting community infrastructure to contribute to long-term EHE goals. Community engagement will also be a component of the ECHO curriculum.

7.3.2.9 CRISP Action Plans

HCFs will develop CRISP action plans within the first year of the study intervention period. The development of these plans will be led by the identified Champion teams at each HCF (see Section 7.2.1). CRISP action plans are expected to reflect skills and knowledge acquired through the CRISP Foundation and ECHO trainings and include actionable changes and goals to address intersectional stigma reduction within the context of HIV care and service provision for Black MSM. HCF may choose from a menu of options for their action plans. HCFs may choose more than one option for their action plans. Action plans will emphasize problem-solving and application of skills within the context of HIV care and service provision.

HCF should determine which strategies may be most meaningful in their local context in consultation with their community-based advisory structures (e.g., BTAN+ chapters, CABs, etc.). Community advisory structures may assist in developing materials, resources, and/or activities in support of CRISP action plan goals.

7.3.3 Implementation Phase

7.3.3.1 Action Plan Implementation

Implementation of CRISP action plans will occur within the Implementation phase of CRISP, over approximately the last 2 years of the study intervention period. A HCF will be considered to have entered the Implementation phase once it concludes the ECHO curriculum and submits its CRISP action plan to the study team. Action plan implementation will be facilitated through production of semi-annual <u>brief</u> progress reports completed by Champion teams on behalf of their HCFs and submitted to the CRISP leadership team for documentation purposes and local interventionist team to facilitate provision of technical assistance. The purpose of the progress report is for HCFs to hold themselves accountable and to enable the HPTN 096 study team to understand and describe actionable changes being made at HCFs. Progress reports can also form a basis for identifying the support HCFs may need from the local CRISP interventionist team or community partners if change is not happening at the speed intended. HCF may adjust or revise the goals in their action plans over the course of the study period. HCFs will be provided with a template for reporting their progress to the study team.

7.3.3.2 Quality Improvement (QI) Collaboratives

QI collaborative work will continue during the Implementation phase. The purpose of the QI collaboratives is to further support practice transformation, the accomplishment of intersectional stigma reduction goals, and improvement in clinical outcomes (e.g., PrEP use, viral suppression) through sustaining connections with other participating HCFs workings towards similar goals. This approach will facilitate learning and sharing of best practices across these HCFs, and will allow for additional targeted training, technical assistance, or other skills-building activities in support of related goals over the Implementation period. QI Collaboratives will be facilitated by the local CRISP interventionist teams with oversight provided by the CRISP leadership team. Refer to the SSP for additional details on implementation and organization of QI collaboratives.

7.3.3.3 Continuation of Installation Activities

Self-monitoring is expected to be on-going during the Implementation phase, as well as collaborative problem-solving, and HCF may continue to access resources such as e-learning modules and ECHO recordings. CI experiences will continue during this phase as well, as described in Section 7.3.2.2 above. Foundation re-training may occur on an as-needed basis.

7.3.4 Timeline of Activities

Pre-Implementation

- Selection and recruitment of participating HCFs
- Curriculum refinement and development
- Selection/hiring of CRISP interventionist teams

Ramp-Up

- Training of CRISP interventionist teams and preparation for implementation (first half of ramp-up)
- Foundation phase completed at all HCFs (second half of ramp-up)

Full Implementation

- Installation phase begins
- Completion of ECHO curriculum and CRISP action plans by end of Year 1
- Implementation phase in Years 2 and 3

7.3.5 Assessments

Measures of intersectional stigma will be assessed pre- and post-implementation of the CRISP component with HCF workers who participate in the activities, as well as Black MSM clients of participating HCF. Anonymous surveys will be implemented to collect this information.

7.3.5.1 HCF Workers

In health care workers, surveys will be conducted annually to assess measures related to intersectional stigma and implicit bias, beginning prior to participation in the Foundation training and ending at the end of the 3-year intervention period, but will only be linked together in time with a unique participant identifier. Surveys will be administered electronically, and the electronic survey implementation tool will have the capability to ensure survey responses remain anonymous and the unique identifier cannot be linked to the worker's identifiable information, but will also have the ability to track which workers have completed the survey for the purposes of continuing education credits and related to the certification pathway. Results of the surveys will be aggregated and described at the facility level.

7.3.5.2 Black MSM Clients

Anonymous client surveys will also be administered periodically with random samples of Black MSM clients at each HCF. The purpose of the surveys is to assess a measure of experienced intersectional stigma at HCF, as well as quality of care and responsiveness to needs of Black MSM. Clients will not be longitudinally followed or enrolled in the study (separate random samples will be used at each timepoint). Results will be aggregated to the facility level and triangulated with the health care worker surveys and independent rater (CI experience) assessments to help characterize intersectional stigma at the facility, assist with quality improvement efforts, and describe any changes over time.

7.4 Human Subjects Considerations

The CRISP component of the integrated strategy will not involve enrollment of individuals, but will include collection of four types of data, each of which have different human subjects' considerations:

- 1. Health care worker survey data: Anonymous, annual surveys will be administered to health care workers as described in Section 7.3.5. While HCF workers will not be enrolled in the study, the collection of this survey data with individual health care workers is considered human subjects research. However, given that the data will be anonymized, it is expected that this activity will meet the definition for exempt under 45 CFR 46.104(d)(2)(i).
- 2. Client surveys: Anonymous client surveys will be administered with separate samples of Black MSM clients; this activity is considered human subjects research. As these clients will not be enrolled in the study and data will be collected anonymously, it is expected that this activity will meet the definition for exempt under 45 CFR 46.104(d)(2)(i).
- 3. Process measure data on HCF: descriptive organizational information will be collected over time about each HCF and their participation in the CRISP activities; this does not include collection of data or private identifiable information about individuals. As such, this activity does not meet the definition of human subjects research and 45 CFR 46 does not apply.
- 4. CI: Client-instructors acting as independent raters will provide ratings of HCF workers in the areas of structural, procedural and interpersonal intersectional stigma. While qualitative feedback will be provided to the HCF worker as part of the CRISP activities, specific ratings to be used as study data will not be provided to the worker and will be anonymized and aggregated at the facility level and triangulated to characterize intersectional stigma at each facility. As an assessment will be made of individuals, this is considered human subjects research; however, because the assessment will be anonymized and aggregated, it is expected that this activity will meet the definition for exempt under 45 CFR 46.104(d)(2)(i).

7.4.1 Informed Consent

As each data collection aspect for this component is expected to be exempt or does not meet the definition of human subjects' research, written informed consent will not be collected for any of the four data collection activities described above in Section 7.4. However, in the interest of transparency, all health care workers participating in CRISP activities will be informed of the nature of their HCF participation as part of a research study and will be asked to agree to complete the anonymous health care worker survey in order to receive continuing education credit for their individual participation in CRISP and in order for their participation to count towards the certification pathway of their facility. They will also be informed of the types of data to be collected about their HCF (see Section 7.5). Health care workers will also be informed that they may be rated by independent raters (but this rating will not be tied to their name or identity)

and that they may be provided with qualitative feedback from these raters (in their client-instructor role) in order to improve cultural responsiveness skills with Black MSM.

Clients completing the anonymous survey will also receive brief information summarizing the purpose of the survey, how the information will be used, and confirming that the survey is completely anonymous (i.e., responses will not be tied to their identity or private information).

7.4.2 Confidentiality

All survey data with health care workers and clients will be completely anonymous and will not be tied to an individual's identity or private information. Responses provided in surveys by health care workers and ratings of workers provided by independent raters will not be linked to health care worker identity and will not be provided to supervisors or used to evaluate employee job performance or compensation. CI experiences will be kept confidential between the clientinstructor and the health care worker and will not be reported to the study team. Client survey responses will also be anonymous and will not be linked to the client or provided to their health care provider. Quality of care provided to the client will not be impacted by their completion of a survey or the responses they provide.

7.4.3 Compensation

HCF will be funded to designate and support dedicated Champion teams during the entire implementation period, and to cover other staff time in undertaking CRISP activities (including Foundation training activities and provision of process measure data).

7.5 Process Measures related to the Intersectional Stigma Reduction Component

Process measure data at the HCF level will be collected on an annual basis or more frequently to evaluate fidelity to and penetration of the planned implementation of the CRISP component. These measures are intermediary between the implementation of the CRISP component and achievement of the primary and secondary outcomes, and also reflect key implementation outcomes of the logic model framework (see Section 1.2.1), and thus will be important in understanding the role that this particular strategy may (or may not) have in producing the primary and secondary outcomes. Process measure data will be reviewed by the study team and Study Monitoring Committee (SMC) during the study period to make real-time adjustments to deployment of the component to improve its effectiveness. Process measures for CRISP may include:

- Measures of penetration of the component activities:
 - Number, types and proportion of staff who complete CRISP Foundation and Installation components
 - Number and types of participating HCF in each intervention community
 - \circ $\,$ Numbers and roles of Champions identified at each intervention HCF $\,$
 - Retention rate of Champions at each intervention HCF (annual)
 - Number and roles of staff participating in ECHO sessions

- Number of TA requests per HCF
- Measures of fidelity to planned implementation of CRISP
 - Number of HCF developing CRISP plan and time to completion
 - Number and proportion of applicable providers who complete a CI experience at each intervention HCF
 - Proportion of ECHO sessions completed by HCF staff
 - Progress reports submitted (and potentially goals completed or progress towards goals made)
 - Number and description of QI collaboratives established, number of HCFs participating, and metrics HCF engagement with QI collaboratives
 - Meetings with BTANs and other community advisory structures in support of CRISP plan goals
 - Utilization metrics of Knowledge Exchange utility in CRISP portal
 - Proportion of facilities conducting self-monitoring as reported in progress reports

8.0 VIRTUAL PEER SUPPORT COMPONENT

8.1 Hypothesis

Promoting and providing virtual peer support to Black MSM for HIV prevention and treatment will contribute to a reduction in HIV incidence by increasing support for HIV and STI testing, PrEP and ART uptake and adherence, and sustained HIV prevention and treatment engagement for this population in the intervention communities compared to the SOC communities. Peers will accomplish this by modeling, supporting, and enhancing motivation for positive health behaviors, as well as facilitating linkage to HIV prevention and treatment, and other needed social services.

8.2 Component Description

Peer support workers will be trained and compensated to provide coaching and support via a virtual platform. Although the intervention will be virtual-focused, it will not prohibit face-to-face meetings. Such face-to-face meetings are expected to be rare and will only take place if requested by the client, upon agreement of the peer-worker and if additional resources (e.g., for transportation for either the peer worker or the client) are available.

Support may be provided one-on-one or within a group (e.g., group chat), and may be on-demand or pre-scheduled. Where available, the virtual platform will provide access to local HIV and STI testing options, particularly the provision of mail-in self-testing and/or sample collections kits. The peer support component will be managed centrally and will not be affiliated with any specific HIV prevention, treatment, or social service facility.

The virtual peer support component is not a traditional peer navigation or case management program. Peer navigators serve to guide peers through the healthcare system and work to overcome obstacles that are in the way of the peer receiving the care and treatment they require. They help to identify needs and link peers to appropriate resources and health care. Peer support workers will provide motivational, emotional, and informational support to peers. This support seeks to provide an augmented network of support and reinforcement of positive and healthy behavior change. The peer support workers will also be trained to share information about organizations that provide HIV care, HIV prevention, PrEP and other services, including, but not limited to, legal, social, food, housing, substance use, mental health and health care assistance programs, available in the intervention communities. As part of the health equity component, BTAN+ chapters in each intervention community will develop up-to-date and curated listings of these types of local resources, as well as hold equity forums with service organizations to facilitate sensitization to the needs of Black MSM. These databases of local resources will facilitate the peer support workers' goal to strengthen awareness of and access to these resources. Additionally, the peer support workers will be supervised by a licensed clinical mental health professional who will be knowledgeable about peer support worker needs and requirements and can support the peer workers in linking peers to navigation and case management support services as needed.

Once trained, the peer support workers will have demonstrated competencies in the following types of support:

- HIV, PrEP, nPEP, other HIV prevention options, and ART education
- Adherence to PrEP, ART and medical care
- HIV/STI testing
- New HIV diagnosis
- Addressing intersectional stigma (anti-Black racism, sexual stigmas, HIV-related stigma)
- Self-care
- Information about national and local resources and assistance programs, Black MSM-centered health services, and the cost and insurance coverage of medications (PREP/ART) and medical care
- Multicultural competency (as it relates to a range of self-identities and the heterogeneity of the HIV epidemic for Black MSM in the southern US)

Peer support workers will have shared experience and a shared community membership with those whom they are supporting, be self-reflective of them and be trained to know when to share these experiences with others in a supportive way. Participants will be matched with peer support workers within the virtual platform based on limited characteristics (e.g., age, HIV status, location) and availability, taking participant preference into account when possible. Peer support workers will receive standardized training and supervision, which will consist of ongoing monitoring and check-ins. During check-ins, continued education on HIV prevention and care topics will be provided, as well as resources and tools for self-care (e.g., managing support

fatigue or vicarious trauma), support for difficult scenarios, and the maintenance of appropriate boundaries.

The program will be promoted via various types of advertising and other components of the integrated strategy, including by the SMIs, the clinics participating in CRISP, and the enhanced program activities of the BTAN+ coalitions. In addition, local PrEP and HIV care facilities in the intervention communities will be informed of the program and serve as a resource for Black MSM who might benefit from peer support services. It is through these avenues that Black MSM will be linked to the virtual platform and peer support workers.

8.2.1 Implementers

This component of the integrated strategy will be implemented by peer support workers and those who oversee the program centrally.

8.2.2 Location

The peer support component will generally take place virtually such that all communications between the participant and peer support worker will be private and confidential (including voice and/or video calls or short service messaging [i.e., texting]) and are built-in within the platform, with no physical fixed location. However, peer training and supervision may take place virtually or in-person. Although most peer support sessions will take place virtually, face-to-face meetings are not prohibited.

In the rare event a participant requests to meet with a peer support worker in-person, they will discuss and agree upon the date, time and location that is safe, public, easily accessible and a place where they are both comfortable meeting. In advance of the meeting, the peer support worker and participant will set expectations for their face-to-face meeting, such as deciding what the purpose of the meeting is, or what they are and are not comfortable discussing. Peer support workers will be trained in best practices for protecting the identity and privacy of anyone they work with, including in the context of face-to-face meetings. Participants will also be encouraged to inform someone they trust who they are going to meet and where they are meeting as an added safety measure.

Participants who reside in the intervention communities (which will be based on self-reported provision of a zip code or county) will be eligible to join the program.

8.2.3 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

Peer support will be offered with an HIV-status neutral approach to self-identified Black men (inclusive of cisgender and transgender men) who self-report a history of sex with other men, are 15 years and older, and who live in an intervention community.

For those who are not eligible to participate in the virtual peer support component, publicly available information for HIV-related support (e.g., HIV/AIDS hotlines listed at <u>https://hab.hrsa.gov/get-care/state-hivaids-hotlines</u>) will be provided.

8.2.4 Participant Discontinuation

Peers who are found to be ineligible for the peer support intervention, or who violate any rules determined for participation in the intervention, may be removed from the virtual platform. Any rules governing participant conduct within the virtual platform will be outlined in the SSP.

8.2.5 Component Size

We estimate that approximately 50,000 Black MSM will reside in our intervention communities, and that there will be an increasing percentage of Black MSM who use the study's virtual peer support platform over the course of the three-year implementation period, ranging from 10% of the Black MSM population in each intervention community in Year 1 to 30% in Year 3. Based on this estimate, we anticipate providing peer support to approximately 5000 Black MSM in Year 1, 10,000 Black MSM in Year 2 and 15,000 Black MSM in Year 3. We project the need to hire approximately 200 peer support workers over the course of the three-year implementation period. On average, we estimate approximately 25 peer support workers for each intervention community. This projection is based on an estimate that one peer support worker could support at least 75 clients per year. The level of effort required by the peer support workers will vary based on their individual capacity and the needs of the peers assigned to them. We anticipate that there will be a wide range of interaction duration (sessions ranging from a few minutes to other potentially lasting an hour or more). We will continuously monitor the amount of effort spent by each peer support workers if required.

8.3 Component Activities and Timeline

The following activities are planned for the virtual peer support component:

Pre-implementation:

- Identify person(s) to provide peer-worker supervision and support
- Create peer-worker training curriculum
- Identify entity to create and maintain the virtual peer support platform
- Create the virtual peer support platform
- Identify local resources, prioritizing options that are Black MSM-centered, and determine how the peer workers will have access to updated information (e.g., facility services, hours, etc.). This activity will be done in collaboration with the local BTAN+ coalitions.

Ramp-up Period:

- Identify peer support workers
- Conduct peer support worker training
- Test and practice using the virtual peer platform, including setting up test cases in each of the intervention communities

Full Implementation:

- Promotion of virtual peer support program
- Provision of virtual peer support in all intervention communities
- Provision of peer supervision and support
- Conduct refresher peer support worker training, as needed
- Onboard new peer support workers, as needed
- Monitor and maintain the technical aspects of the virtual peer platform
- Monitor encounter measures and needs, adjust the platform and/or content if needed
- Maintain access to updated local resources for peer workers in collaboration with the local BTAN+ coalitions

8.4 Human Subjects Considerations

While clients of the virtual peer support platform will not be enrolled in the study and will not be considered research participants, data will be collected on individual clients and their use of the platform, and as such, client-level data collection activities (see Section 8.5) constitute non-exempt human subjects research.

As described in Section 8.5, peer worker-level data may also be collected to assess fidelity to and penetration of the implementation plan. As peer workers are considered implementers of this study activity and are not research subjects or participants, and data collected are only for the purposes of evaluating peer worker implementation activities, the peer worker-level data collection activities are not considered human subjects research and 45 CFR 46 does not apply.

8.4.1 Informed Consent

An electronic consent form must be completed before a participant can access the virtual peer support platform. As this component does not require participants to provide their names to participate, and the activities are low risk, it is expected that a waiver of *signed* consent will be granted under 45 CFR 46.117(c)(1)(ii). Instead, there will be a checkbox acknowledging that the person has read and understood the consent and agrees to participate in the research. A template for this consent form is included in Appendix II.

As described in Section 14.3.1 and per 45 CFR 46.408(c), a waiver of parental/guardian permission will be requested for those 15 to 17 years old. These participants will still be required to provide assent by completing the electronic consent in the same process used for adults. When any participant first accesses the peer support platform, a peer support worker will orient them to the app, including review of the elements of the informed consent form. Peer support workers will be trained to provide additional information to those younger than 18 to ensure that they understand that they are participating in a research study and how to safeguard their own privacy. All participants will have access to a copy of their informed consent form within the platform.

8.4.2 Confidentiality

No personal identifying information will be collected from those participating in the virtual peer support platform. The virtual platform will have built-in secure two-way messaging (for text) and voice calling; therefore, clients will not be required to share their phone numbers or other identifying information. The only exception to this type of exposure will be for participants who request in-person assistance. Peer workers will be trained in how to keep all personal information confidential if they are provided this information for the rare occasion of in-person support. Prior to gaining access to use the virtual platform, all clients will be informed of risks associated with use of the virtual platform and measures to take to protect information on their devices. All communications within the platform will be maintained on a secure, encrypted, and HIPAA-compliant server.

8.4.3 Compensation

Peer support workers will be compensated for their work. Clients will not receive compensation for participating in the virtual peer support component.

8.5 Process Measures related to the Virtual Peer Support Component

Process measure data will be collected on an annual basis or more frequently to evaluate fidelity to and penetration of the planned virtual peer support activities. These measures are intermediary between the implementation of the component and achievement of the primary and secondary outcomes, and also reflect key implementation outcomes of the logic model framework (see Section 1.2.1), and thus will be important in understanding the role that this particular component may (or may not) have in producing those primary and secondary outcomes. Further, process measure data may be reviewed by the study team and SMC during the study period to make real-time adjustments to deployment of the component to improve its effectiveness.

The peer worker-level process measures may include:

- Measures of penetration:
 - Number of peer support workers trained
 - Number of peer/client matches
 - Number of interactions with clients
- Measures of fidelity:
 - Duration of service for each peer support worker
 - Completion of acceptability assessment (end of peer support worker participation)
 - Measurement of the type of support provided during each session (e.g. topic areas, if the visit was virtual or in-person; data to be collected in a way to minimize peer worker burden, such as a via a pop-up box, and/or a drop-down menu)

The client-level process measures may include:

- Measures of penetration:
 - Number of clients, limited sociodemographic characteristics and frequency of use (e.g., have you used it before, y/n or a range (first time, 1-3, more than 3))
 - Measurement of where clients learned about the platform
- Measures of fidelity:
 - Satisfaction survey (e.g., simple single-item assessment for a random number of sessions)
 - Acceptability and usefulness assessment (e.g., several-item assessment for a random number of sessions)

9.0 MONITORING EHE PLANS

In order to measure background (and possibly confounding) EHE activities across all participating jurisdictions, the study team will track those EHE activities that include or target Black MSM or that directly overlap with the study interventions. The study team will extract information from the EHE plans developed in each jurisdiction at baseline and on an annual basis to determine any changes over the course of the study. Using the EHE plans, the study team will create a propensity score (see section 12.8) based on data such as (i) whether the jurisdiction is implementing strategies similar to any of our four components (ii) whether the jurisdiction is implementing other relevant strategies that may affect our primary outcomes, and (iii) their target population (e.g., whether the efforts include or provide a tailored focus on Black MSM). If needed, the study team will ask for additional data from the EHE committees and/or local health departments to complete the scoring. This monitoring plan will not assess the outcomes of these activities.

10.0 CROSS-SECTIONAL ASSESSMENTS

Two cross-sectional assessments will be conducted for this study: one at baseline (within the ramp-up period), and the other after the 3-year implementation period ends (post-implementation assessment). There is no longitudinal follow-up in HPTN 096. The purpose of the baseline assessment is to provide data to control for baseline differences, optimize the methodology, and improve the power of the post-implementation assessment. The purpose of the post-implementation assessment is to collect cross-sectional data from the Black MSM population, in keeping with the primary objectives (PrEP use and viral suppression) and many secondary and exploratory outcomes of the study. Each assessment is planned to be conducted over the course of 6 months or less. For the post-implementation assessment, an additional three-month "grace period" may be granted for communities having difficulty meeting the six-month timeframe. This section describes the sampling methodology, components, population and sample size for each assessment.

10.1 Sampling Methodology

A starfish sampling approach (the combination of venue-time-based and respondent-driven sampling) (187) will be employed to recruit and enroll individual participants in both

intervention and control communities to complete the cross-sectional assessments. To minimize the potential for contamination, recruitment activities will deliberately avoid large events that may bring in large numbers of individuals from outside the community (e.g., such as gay pride).

Starfish sampling begins with an assessment of venues (physical spaces like bars and clubs); events (Balls, Black Pride Events, and the like); and/or virtual venues (social apps, dating apps) frequented by the population of interest. In each community we will conduct assessments of venues appropriate for sampling, based on frequency and volume of use by Black MSM, as well as current public health recommendations due to COVID-19. Men will be approached in these venues (physical and/or virtual) and invited to participate in the assessment. In addition, the study team will work with local partners to advertise for the assessments and build acceptance and willingness for community member participation. Advertising may take place via virtual (apps commonly used by Black MSM, social media, via SMIs, etc.), physical (palm cards, posters, flyers, etc.) and media (TV, radio, newspaper ads) methods.

Starfish sampling then goes further, and offers men sampled at venues the opportunity to assist with finding other men in their social networks who might be interested in participating. Typically, three uniquely numbered coupons are offered to those men who agree to distribute them to other Black MSM who might be interested, and these coupons, as in typical respondent-driven sampling methodology, are redeemable for incentives. The index men sampled at venues also receive additional compensation for each person they refer who subsequently engages in the study.

Once an individual is found to be eligible, and agrees to participate in the assessment, there is no individual assignment or randomization to a group. Instead, participants will be categorized according to the random assignment of their community (intervention or control). The community randomization will have been completed prior to the baseline assessment. The methods used in the assessment will be the same across communities in order to maximize comparability. However, there will be inherent variation across the communities given that some may have few or even no fixed physical venues for Black MSM, and others may have a greater proportion of event/time-limited venues (such as House Balls). Virtual venues may also vary by community and region. When virtual venues are the recruitment source, participants will be met by study staff in a physical space that they agree on for blood collection.

10.2 Cross-Sectional Assessment Locations

Assessments for the cross-sectional component may be conducted in the field at venues used for recruitment. In these cases, assessments may be conducted in mobile vans or pre-determined locations at the venue to create a private space for participants. For participants referred to the study through respondent-driven-sampling or who are recruited from a virtual venue, assessments will be done at a pre-determined physical location, for example, space within a local clinic, community-based organization, health department, or at a future venue event. Details regarding plans for conduct of the assessments will be outlined further in the SSP manual. For all assessments, trained study staff will be collecting the samples and administering the CASI questionnaire.

10.3 Cross-Sectional Assessment Components

Each assessment will consist of two components: blood collection and the completion of questionnaires (see Appendices IA and IB). Appendix IA applies to communities with local Laboratory Data Management System (LDMS) lab capacity, and Appendix IB applies to communities without local LDMS lab capacity. In addition, participants may be offered coupons to recruit others to join the study. Participants will be compensated if those they recruit participate in the assessment.

Everyone who participates in the assessments will be offered up to two mail-in HIV test kits (or vouchers that can be redeemed for HIV test kits). Participants will be informed that they can give these kits or vouchers to someone else who they feel could benefit from an HIV test. Everyone will also provide blood to determine HIV status, measure HIV viral load, estimate HIV incidence and assess PrEP use. At a subset of communities (i.e., those with local LDMS capacity, see Appendix IA), participants will be asked to provide additional blood for exploratory evaluation of ART and HIV drug resistance; expanded analysis of HIV incidence; HIV phylogenetic analysis (at the post-implementation assessment only); evaluation of other exploratory HIV-related laboratory tests, and tests associated with SARS-CoV-2 or other related viruses. If the participant agrees, a portion of this additional blood sample will be stored and used for additional future laboratory testing. For anyone who tests HIV positive using the mail-in HIV test kit, a protocol will be in place to provide counseling and linkage to local HIV care. The mail-in HIV test kits are provided as a service by the study, and the outcome of the HIV testing will not be captured in the study database.

The questionnaire will be conducted in two parts: 1) a brief computer-assisted self-interview (CASI) and 2) a more detailed online survey. The brief CASI will take place at the same time as the blood draw. Participants will be given the option to complete the online survey at the same time as the blood draw or at a later time. An additional incentive will be provided on completion of the online survey. Should the online survey not be completed at the same time as the blood draw, information on how to access the more detailed online survey and receive compensation will be provided. Limited contact information will be collected for the purpose of providing reminders (text and/or email) for completion of the online survey, as needed.

The brief CASI will collect sociodemographic data, awareness of the study components and for how long the participant has lived in the intervention or SOC community. The content of the longer online survey will cover topics including, but not limited to, multi-level social support, multi-level intersectional stigma (racism, HIV-related and sexual stigmas), structural barriers to healthcare access, and individual level agency, including uptake of HIV and STI testing, PrEP knowledge and use. The types of scales and questions that will be considered in designing the online questionnaire may include the following:

- Multi-level social support: collective efficacy scale (200), sense of community scale (201), social support measures (in-person (202) and online (203))
- Multi-level intersectional stigma: HIV stigma scale (204), gender non-conforming stigma scale (205), sexual stigma scale (206), discrimination scale (207), healthcare climate questionnaire, racial and sexual identity incongruence, internalized racism scale (208),

internalized homophobia (209)

- Structural barriers to healthcare access: accessibility of HIV testing, accessibility of STI testing, PrEP accessibility, accessibility of peer support, accessibility to HIV care and ART
- Individual level agency: perceived competence scale, brief resilience scale (210), selfefficacy scale (211), questions about HIV/STI testing and diagnosis, PrEP knowledge and use, condom use and condom self-efficacy (212, 213), mental health, substance use and peer support

If not everyone who provides a blood sample goes on to complete the longer online survey, the team may decide to recruit others to complete only this aspect of the assessment.

During the assessment, information about residency and broad location (county and/or zip code) will be requested. Limited personal information will be collected to prevent duplicate participation and to provide compensation to those who recruit others to join the study. No unique identifiers will be captured in the study database; however, limited and non-identifying sociodemographic data (age, race, ethnicity, etc.) will be collected.

10.4 Cross-Sectional Assessment Population and Sample Size

The baseline and post-implementation assessment participants will be persons who self-identify as Black man (inclusive of cisgender and transgender men), self-report a lifetime history of sex with other men, are at least 15 years of age, who self-report current residence in the community of interest, and are willing and able to provide informed consent and agree to complete a short questionnaire and provide two blood samples (one by fingerstick and another by venipuncture). HIV status will not be ascertained prior to participation in these assessments and eligible Black MSM may participate regardless of HIV status.

The baseline assessment will include 100 Black MSM from each of the 16 participant communities (intervention and control) for a total of 1600 individuals. The post-implementation assessment will include 200 Black MSM in each of the 16 participating communities (intervention and control) for a total of 3200 individuals.

Note that it is possible that the same individual may participate in both the baseline and postimplementation assessment; however, overlap between the samples is anticipated to be minimal, and the information to determine that an individual has participated in both assessments will not be maintained in the study database. Therefore, no attempt will be made to determine who may have completed both assessments. Even if there is some overlap between the baseline and postimplementation sample populations, the statistical methodology that will be used for the crosssectional assessments remains valid.

10.5 Participant Discontinuation

Participants who are found to be ineligible after enrollment, or who violate any rules determined for participation during the assessments may be removed from the study. Any rules governing participant conduct during the assessments will be outlined in the SSP.

10.6 Human Subjects Considerations

Individuals participating in the cross-sectional assessments will be considered study participants and will be enrolled into the study. Cross-sectional activities are considered non-exempt human subjects research and 45 CFR 46 Subpart A applies.

10.6.1 Informed Consent

A consent form must be completed before participants undergo any procedures. Templates for the consent form are included in Appendices III and IV. All participants will be offered a copy of their signed consent form.

As described in Section 14.3.1 and per 45 CFR 46.408(c), a waiver of parental/guardian permission will be requested for those 15 to 17 years old. These participants will still be required to provide assent by completing the informed consent process. Staff will be trained to provide additional information to those younger than 18 to ensure that they understand that they are participating in a research study.

10.6.2 Confidentiality

Limited personal information will be collected from participants in order to prevent duplicate participation within each assessment, to provide compensation to those who recruit others into the study, and to send reminders to complete the online survey. This information will be maintained confidentially by those who conduct the assessment in the field. No identifying information will be captured in the study database.

10.6.3 Compensation

Study participants will receive compensation for supplying blood samples, completing the questionnaires, and recruiting others into the study.

11.0 PROVISION OF PRE-EXPOSURE PROPHYLAXIS AND ANTIRETROVIRAL THERAPY

In order to support HIV prevention in Black MSM and to engage both intervention and SOC communities, HPTN 096 will provide PrEP, and potentially ART for HIV treatment, to at least one facility in each community. The study team will work with the local health departments and EHE committees to determine the best facility, which may include virtual PrEP and pharmacies. In the intervention communities, we will choose a facility undergoing the intersectional stigma reduction (CRISP) component. PrEP, and potentially ART for HIV treatment, will be provided to these locations free of charge throughout the entire 3-year implementation period. The study

team will partner with pharmaceutical companies (Gilead, and potentially others) to provide PrEP, and potentially ART, throughout the study. The study will endeavor to provide the most effective and safe option available and will start by providing Descovy, and potentially Biktarvy. However, the specific type of PrEP or ART being provided may change over the course of the study and may include more than one option. It is our intention to also provide long-acting injectable Cabotegravir (CAB-LA) if/when it becomes commercially available. The study will seek support for any laboratory testing required for PrEP acquisition; however, even if the study cannot provide this type of support, free or low-cost options may be available through ongoing EHE efforts. Any facility chosen to receive and distribute study-provided PrEP or ART will be fully capable of managing, prescribing and providing clinical oversight for PrEP or ART. After the study ends, these communities will continue to have access to free and/or reduced cost PrEP or ART via local EHE efforts. The HPTN 096 SSP Manual will outline the mechanism for PrEP and ART provision.

12.0 STATISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS

12.1 Review of Study Design

This community randomized trial will evaluate the effectiveness of an integrated strategy to increase levels of viral suppression in Black MSM living with HIV and increases levels of PrEP use in Black MSM living without HIV. Communities will be paired based on preliminary information on rates of viral suppression and other demographic information. The integrated strategy components will be delivered for three years, and the impact will be measured using CDC surveillance data on viral suppression among individuals living with HIV and cross-sectional assessments evaluating PrEP use among individuals living without HIV.

12.2 Endpoints

12.2.1 Primary Endpoints

- Consistent with the primary study objective to increase the proportion of Black MSM living with diagnosed HIV who are virally suppressed (<200 copies/mL), the following endpoint(s) will be assessed:
 - (primary) The ratio of the number of Black MSM living with diagnosed HIV who are virally suppressed (<200 copies/mL) as measured by HIV surveillance data divided by the number of Black MSM living with diagnosed HIV as measured by HIV surveillance data
 - $\circ~$ (supportive) HIV viral load measured in a cross-sectional post-implementation assessment
- Consistent with the primary study objective to increase PrEP use by Black MSM not living with HIV, the following endpoint(s) will be assessed:
 - (primary) The presence of PrEP agents measured in a dried blood spot (DBS) during the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment

 (supportive) The ratio of the number of Black men with PrEP prescriptions (from AIDSVu) divided by the number of Black men with PrEP indications (from CDC)

12.2.2 Secondary Endpoints

- Consistent with the secondary objective to compare self-reported HIV testing behavior in Black MSM in the intervention communities to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment
 - Responses to survey questions collected during the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment
- Consistent with the secondary objective to compare social support, intersectional stigma, barriers to healthcare, and individual agency in Black MSM in the intervention to the SOC communities at the end of the three-year integrated strategy based on the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment
 - Responses to survey questions collected during the post-implementation cross-sectional assessment
- Consistent with the secondary study objective to increase the proportion of Black MSM living with newly diagnosed HIV in the past year who are virally suppressed (<200 copies/mL) within six months of diagnosis, the following endpoint will be assessed:
 - The ratio of the number of Black MSM with HIV newly diagnoses in Year 3 who have a suppressed VL within six months of diagnosis as measured by HIV surveillance data divided by the number of Black MSM with HIV newly diagnosed in Year 3 based on HIV surveillance data
- Consistent with the secondary study objective to track ongoing EHE implementation activities for Black MSM
 - Information about EHE implementation activities affecting Black MSM in the EHE plans of all intervention and control communities, as well as additional information from local health departments and EHE committees
- Consistent with the secondary study objective to assess measures of care quality, and care responsiveness to Black MSM needs at HCFs participating in the CRISP component, pre- and post-implementation
 - Self-reported survey data from health care workers who participate in the CRISP component
 - Aggregated, facility-level independent ratings of HCF workers

• Self-reported survey data from Black MSM receiving services at HCFs participating in CRISP activities

12.3 Sample Size

The primary outcomes of the proposed study are viral suppression among Black MSM living with HIV and PrEP use among Black MSM living without HIV.

Viral suppression will be measured through the CDC surveillance system that measures viral suppression among all diagnosed individuals living with HIV in a given community. Preliminary data from 2017 in the 20 communities under consideration for HPTN 096 show that the average viral suppression in Black MSM is 56.7% and the between-community standard deviation is 7.0%. Since the CDC surveillance data include all known MSM living with HIV (i.e. a census) we assume there is no within-community variance. Further analysis of the proposed pairs yields an estimated intraclass (intrapair) correlation of 0.41. Table 5 shows the minimum detectable difference with 90% power between the intervention and control arms for unpaired and paired community randomized trial designs with varying numbers of communities.

Table 5: Minimum Detectable Difference in Percent Viral Suppression Between Arms with 90% Power Using $\alpha = 0.05$ (two-tailed) and Intrapair Correlation of 0.41*

Communities per arm	Unpaired	Paired
6	14.5	12.5
8	12.2	10.2
10	10.7	8.8

*Exact t distribution is used for quantiles.

We believe an improvement of 10 percentage points in average percent suppressed (e.g., from 57% to 67%) is achievable with the proposed integrated strategy and so we propose a paired community randomized trial with 8 pairs. We also note that including baseline (pre-implementation) rates of viral suppression in the analysis may increase power by reducing unexplained variation in the analysis.

PrEP use will be measured in a cross-sectional sample of Black MSM from each community at the end of the three-year implementation period using starfish sampling. Blood samples will be collected from each participant to assess HIV infection status and, in participants living without HIV, PrEP use (in DBS). As shown in Table 6, we make the following assumptions in our sample size calculations:

- 200 Black MSM surveyed in each community.
- Samples includes 30% MSM living with HIV and 70% MSM living without HIV (justification: HPTN 078 found 30% HIV-positive using a similar sampling strategy in similar locations. CDC data on numbers of HIV diagnoses in Black MSM in the EHE counties suggest HIV prevalence among Black MSM around 30%).
- 10-20% effective PrEP use among Black MSM living without HIV in SOC communities. This is higher than current levels, but PrEP use is increasing over time and this is believed to be a reasonable estimate of PrEP use by the time this study starts.

• Type 1 error rate = 5% (two-sided); Power = 90%.

Table 6: Minimum Detectable Risk Difference (increase in PrEP use from baseline) with 90% Power Assuming at Least 140 At-risk Black MSM living without HIV per County, 8 Communities per Arm (paired design), alpha = .05, two-sided*

Baseline PrEP	Paired coefficient of variation (CV)				
use	.10	.15	.20	.25	
10%	.059	.067	.077	.091	
15%	.071	.084	.101	.122	
20%	.082	.100	.123	.153	

* Exact t distribution is used for quantiles.

In previous studies of HIV incidence, the CV in paired trials has been around 0.15, although it is unclear how those results apply to the endpoint of PrEP use. In addition, we will have baseline measurements from a similarly designed survey (albeit with only 100 Black MSM per community) that will be included in the analysis (see Section 12.8) and may increase power. Thus, based on the proposed design we will have at least 90% power to detect an increase in PrEP use of 15 percentage points over all scenarios, and the minimum detectable increase is lower for most scenarios. This level of improvement in PrEP use is a reasonable target for HPTN 096.

12.4 Accrual and Retention

A total of 16 communities will be enrolled in HPTN 096. In each community cross-sectional samples of 100 Black MSM will be recruited at baseline using starfish sampling and 200 Black MSM will be recruited at the end of the study using starfish sampling. There is no longitudinal follow up in HPTN 096, therefore there is no retention target.

12.5 Random Assignment/Study Arm Assignment

Prior to randomization communities will be paired based on demographics (community size and percent of the population that are Black) and baseline rates of viral suppression and PrEP use (based on CDC data). Within each pair one community will be randomized to the integrated strategy and one will be randomized to the SOC. Randomization will take place in a public ceremony.

12.6 Blinding

It is not possible to blind the investigators, study personnel or participants to the community intervention arms. However, interim reports and results on post-baseline data for the primary endpoints will only be presented in aggregate form.

12.7 Study Monitoring and Interim Analyses

Data and Safety Monitoring Board oversight is not planned for this study. The HPTN SMC will conduct interim reviews of study progress, including rates of participant accrual for cross-sectional assessments, measures of integrated strategy delivery and uptake (i.e., process measure

data), and completion of primary and secondary endpoint collection. The frequency and content of HPTN SMC reviews will be determined prior to the start of the study as outlined in the HPTN Manual of Operations (MOP).

In addition, we will conduct a formal interim analysis halfway (approximately 18 months) into the intervention period. Monitoring guidance will be detailed in a separate Interim Monitoring Plan. The HPTN SMC will conduct this formal review and make a recommendation regarding study continuation.

12.8 Statistical Analysis

This section briefly describes the final study analyses. Detailed technical specifications of the statistical analyses will be described in a separate Statistical Analysis Plan.

12.8.1 Controlling for EHE activities and other external factors

Concurrent with the study activities we expect ongoing EHE activities to increase testing, viral suppression and PrEP use in all study communities. There may be variability in the intensity of these EHE activities from community to community. While a key benefit of randomization is to balance the effect of such external activities between the study arms, it is possible that in a trial with a relatively small number of randomization units (communities), that imbalances may result by chance. To control for this possibility we propose developing a propensity score (214) by fitting a logistic regression model to predict study arm (outcome) as a function of various measures of EHE activities (see section 9.0) and other external factors (e.g. availability of CAB-LA for PrEP) that may affect the primary outcomes and be differentially distributed across the study communities. The propensity score will then be included, along with the intervention arm, in the various primary and secondary analyses described below. Note that only EHE activities that are completely external to the current trial will be included as part of the propensity score.

12.8.2 Primary Analyses

This trial is designed to separately address the effect of the intervention on (i) viral suppression and (ii) PrEP uptake. As these are two distinct scientific questions, no adjustment for multiple testing is proposed.

12.8.2.1 Viral Suppression

Our primary measure of viral suppression rates among Black MSM in the participating communities will be based on CDC surveillance data. Viral suppression in the CDC data is based on the last viral load measurement in the calendar year (if there are more than one) and individuals with missing viral loads are assumed to be not suppressed. The viral suppression rates for all participating communities will be reported. A weighted mean viral suppression rate (weighted by number of diagnosed Black MSM living with HIV in the community) will be used to summarize suppression rates by arm. Specifically, the estimated viral suppression for arm A is

$$\sum_{i,j:j\in A} \frac{n_{ij}}{n_A} V_{ij} \tag{1}$$

where V_{ij} is the viral suppression rate in community j in pair i, n_{ij} is the number of diagnosed Black MSM living with HIV in community i in pair j and $n_A = \sum_{i,j \in A} n_{ij}$. The difference in the (weighted) suppression rates between arms will be used to measure the intervention effect. To estimate and test for an intervention effect, we will fit a linear regression of the following form using "analytic weights", w_{ij} = n_{ij}:

$$V_{ij} = \mu + \eta_i + \Delta X_{ij} + \beta_1 B_{ij} + \beta_2 S_{ij} + \epsilon_{ij}$$
⁽²⁾

where μ is the overall mean, η_i is a fixed effect for pair i, X_{ij} is an intervention indicator, Δ is the intervention effect, B_{ij} is the viral suppression rate at baseline, S_{ij} is the propensity score, and ϵ_{ij} captures the within-pair, between-community variation. Since the CDC surveillance data represent a complete census of diagnosed HIV-positive individuals, the within-community variation in V_{ij} is assumed to be zero, although this assumption has no practical impact since the within and between community variance components cannot be separately estimated with this design. Note that if all community sizes are equal ($n_{ij} = n$) and the baseline rates and propensity score are not included, then this approach is equivalent to a paired t-test on the community level viral suppression rates. We will provide a 95% CI for Δ from the post-implementation period and a p-value for testing the hypothesis Ho: $\Delta = 0$ using $\alpha = 0.05$ (two-sided) for the post-implementation data. We will also provide viral suppression rates and estimates and CI for Δ for each year during the implementation period to understand the change in the intervention effect over time.

Since the above analysis depends on model assumptions, we will also conduct a paired t-test on the (unweighted) change from baseline in each community as a sensitivity analysis.

Additional supportive data on viral suppression may be available from the samples of men living with HIV participating in the cross-sectional surveys. Note that these surveys can potentially capture both diagnosed and undiagnosed men with HIV, in contrast to the CDC surveillance data that captures only men with diagnosed HIV. The percent of Black MSM living with HIV who are virally suppressed will be computed from the post-implementation cross-sectional sample for each community and reported. The average suppression by arm will be computed as the weighted mean of the community percentages, as in equation (1). A 95% confidence interval on the percent viral suppression will be reported by arm.

We will use a weighted regression analysis (with analytic weights, $w_{ij} = n_{ij}$, the estimated number of Black MSM living with HIV in community j in pair i) to estimate the treatment effect while adjusting for baseline viral suppression as in equation (2) above. We will test the hypothesis Ho: $\Delta = 0$ ($\alpha = 0.05$, two-sided) and provide an estimate of Δ and 95% CI in this secondary evaluation of the intervention effect on viral suppression.

12.8.2.2 PrEP Use

Our primary measure of PrEP use will be PrEP measured in DBS samples at both the baseline and the post-implementation community surveys. Since all communities will target the same

sample size (though different between baseline and post-implementation assessments) the number of individuals living without HIV surveyed will be approximately the same across all communities within a given survey period. The percent of Black MSM living without HIV with any detectable PrEP will be computed for each community at each time point and reported. The average PrEP use by arm will be computed as the weighted mean of the community percentages:

$$\sum_{i,j:j\in A} \frac{n_{ij}}{n_A} P_{ij} \tag{3}$$

where P_{ij} is the post-implementation PrEP use percent in community j in pair i, n_{ij} is the estimated number of Black MSM living without HIV with PrEP indications in community i in pair j and $n_A = \sum_{i,j \in A} n_{ij}$. The n_{ij} will be based on a tool developed by CDC – see http://tinyurl.com/PrEPWebtool).

We will use a weighted regression analysis to estimate the treatment effect while adjusting for baseline PrEP use with analytic weights equal to the estimated number of Black MSM living without HIV with PrEP indications in the community (n_{ij}) . The model will be

$$P_{ij} = \mu + \eta_i + \Delta X_{ij} + \beta_1 B_{ij} + \beta_2 S_{ij} + \epsilon_{ij}$$
(4)

where P_{ij} is the post-implementation PrEP use percent in community j in pair i, B_{ij} is the baseline PrEP use percent, S_{ij} is the propensity score, and other parameters are as described in Section 12.8.1.1. Note that this analysis is equivalent to a paired t-test if the analysis is unweighted and baseline rates and the propensity score are not included. We will test the hypothesis Ho: $\Delta = 0$ ($\alpha = 0.05$, two-sided) and provide an estimate of Δ and 95% CI to evaluate the intervention effect on PrEP use.

Since the above analysis depends on model assumptions, we will also conduct a paired t-test on the (unweighted) change from baseline in each community as a sensitivity analysis.

A supportive analysis of PrEP use will be based on prescription drug data. AIDSVu is an Emory database that provides data on the (estimated) number of Black male PrEP users by county (at this time the data are not available by risk group) (215). Further, the CDC has developed a tool to estimate the number of persons with PrEP indications (216). These data are available by sex, age, and race and will soon be available at the county level. We will compute the ratio of Black Male PrEP users divided by Black men with PrEP indications in each community. The average ratio, weighted by the number of Black men, in the control and intervention communities, along with 95% confidence intervals, will be reported.

We will use a weighted regression analysis (weights equal to the number of Black men with PrEP indications) to estimate the treatment effect on this PrEP use ratio while adjusting for baseline PrEP prescription use and propensity score as in equation (4) above. We will test the hypothesis Ho: $\Delta = 0$ ($\alpha = 0.05$, two-sided) and provide an estimate of Δ and 95% CI in this secondary evaluation of the intervention effect on PrEP prescription use.

12.8.3 Secondary Analyses

12.8.3.1 Self-reported HIV testing behavior

Information on recent HIV testing will be collected from all individuals participating in the baseline and end of study surveys. We will report the proportion of Black MSM living without HIV who self-report being tested for HIV within the prior year in the surveys from each community. We will use a weighted regression analysis, similar to equation (4) above, to estimate the intervention effect on testing in the end of study surveys after adjusting for baseline testing percentage, propensity score and community pair.

12.8.3.2 Social Support, Intersectional Stigma, Barriers to Healthcare and Individual Agency

These measures will be collected as part of the longer online survey that we will seek to obtain from all individuals in the baseline survey and the end of study survey. Intersectional stigma is also measured on HCFs in each community. For each outcome, we will use a weighted regression analysis (with analytic weights, $w_{ij} = n_{ij}$, the estimated number of Black MSM in community j in pair i) to estimate the intervention effect while adjusting for the baseline measure and propensity score as in equation (2) above. We will test the hypothesis Ho: $\Delta = 0$ ($\alpha = 0.05$, two-sided) and provide an estimate of Δ and 95% CI of the intervention effect on social support, intersectional stigma, barriers to healthcare, and individual agency.

12.8.3.3 Time to Viral Suppression

This analysis will be similar to the primary analysis described in Section 12.8.2.1. However, the analysis will be restricted to Black MSM diagnosed in the past year. The outcome will be percent of Black MSM diagnosed in the past year who are virally suppressed within 6 months after diagnosis, based on CDC surveillance data. We will compute a weighted estimate of percent suppressed by arm, similar to equation (1), and use a weighted regression analysis controlling for baseline and propensity score, similar to equation (2), to estimate the intervention effect, provide a 95% confidence interval and test the hypothesis Ho: $\Delta = 0$ using $\alpha = 0.05$ (two-sided). A sensitivity analysis using 12 months after diagnosis window will also be conducted.

12.8.3.4 Tracking ongoing EHE implementation activities

We will summarize ongoing EHE activities by county and provide descriptive comparisons between intervention and control communities.

12.8.3.5 Assess measures of intersectional stigma, care quality, and care responsiveness

We will assess intersectional stigma, care quality and care responsiveness based on pre and post (CRISP) participation surveys in health care facilities in the intervention communities. To assess intersectional stigma among HCF workers, we will conduct a pre-post assessment of HCF workers who participated in CRISP. Building on the work currently underway in an active NIH sponsored trial of intersectional stigma reduction led by one of the protocol co-chairs (R01 NR019009-01, PI: Nelson), we propose to measure intersectional stigma as a latent variable derived from three manifest variable measures that assess the different stigmas targeted in this study. These measures include: (217) HIV Stigma and Discrimination among Health Facility

Staff Questionnaire, (218) LGBT Phobia, Attitudes and Cultural Competence Scale, and (219) Gender Equitable Men Scale. Confirmatory factor analysis will be used to identify items that cluster together from each of the individual measures to represent the latent measure of intersectional stigma. We will train Black MSM as independent raters ("client-instructors") who can assess the presence of intersectional stigma in healthcare facilities—both its structural and procedural manifestations as well as the interpersonal manifestations. These independent ratings data would then be triangulated with the HCF worker self-assessments to characterize intersectional stigma at baseline and post-implementation at the facility level. Anonymous client surveys will be assessed for care quality and responsiveness.

We will summarize responses by facility pre- and post-implementation. We will provide a statistical comparison of results by fitting an appropriate regression model (depending on the nature and scale of the outcome measure) with a fixed effect for period (pre vs post) and random effects for facility nested within community. We will also include a facility*period (random) interaction term to account for the fact that the intervention effect may vary by facility. Any additional measured factors that may lead to confounding in the pre-post analysis will also be included in the model. We will provide an estimate of the adjusted period effect along with a 95% confidence interval.

12.8.4 Attribution Analysis

There will be variation in the delivery of the various components of the intervention across the eight intervention communities. We will combine this natural variation within the intervention arm with the designed variation between the randomization arms to estimate the contribution made by each of the integrated strategy components (health equity, social influencers, intersectional stigma reduction, and peer support) to changes in viral suppression and PrEP use. Sections 5.5, 6.5, 7.5 and 8.5, respectively, describe the process measures of health equity, social influencers, intersectional stigma reduction, and peer support that will be collected in the intervention communities. We will use a factor analysis (or other summary) of the multiple measures collected for each component to create a single summary score for each component. We will then regress these four summary scores (with a score of zero for control communities) against each outcome. The partial R^2 statistic will be used to quantify the proportion of variation in the outcome that can be attributed to each intervention component summary.

13.0 SOCIAL HARMS REPORTING

It is possible that some elements of the study may result in a social harm. A social harm is defined as an undesired change in a person's relationships, experiences, interactions, rights and/or community status that occurs as a direct result of participating in a research study. For the four integrated strategy components, no study participants will be enrolled into the study, have identified data collected or be followed longitudinally. However, it is conceivable that there may be negative impacts from components of the integrated strategy; for example, if a family member saw someone interacting with the virtual peer support platform, there could be negative repercussions. Social harms may also occur to implementers of the integrated strategy components. For example, content that is developed by an SMI for the purposes of the study may cause the SMI to be negatively targeted or bullied by members of their online community.

The study team will be vigilant for evidence of such incidents and will report them to the study database in association with the relevant integrated strategy component but not associated with specific participants or implementers. Implementers will also be instructed on how to report such incidents to the study team – for either themselves or on behalf of others who may have been negatively impacted by the study activities – for documentation in the study database.

It is possible that participation in the cross-sectional assessments may result in a social harm. The cross-sectional assessments will enroll and collect data on individual participants; therefore, social harms will be reported by participant identification number to the study database for this component of the study only. A summary of all social harms will be reported to the single institutional review board (sIRB) at least annually. The protocol team will review the social harms and watch for any trends. If needed, adjustments will be made to study conduct. In addition, the study's community advisory group (CAG) may be consulted to help minimize the potential occurrence of specific types of social harms if trends are discovered.

14.0 HUMAN SUBJECTS CONSIDERATIONS

Human subjects considerations specific to the integrated strategy components and the crosssectional assessment, including discussions of applicability of 45 CFR 46, are included in each respective component and cross-sectional assessment Sections (Sections 5.4, 6.4, 7.4, 8.4 and 10.5). The following Sections discuss overall human subjects and research ethics considerations applicable to the general study design.

14.1 Collaborative Community Partnerships

Community representatives have been involved in the study design and finalization of the integrated strategy components at all stages of the development of this protocol. The study team will continue to actively engage with the study communities at various levels (for example with local health department and EHE structures, HCFs, existing community forums and stakeholder groups) utilizing a range of communication and interaction strategies, as appropriate. A study CAG will be formed with representation from community stakeholders from all randomizable units, to provide ongoing guidance and feedback to the study team, including but not limited to PrEP, randomization, implementation of the cross-sectional assessments, and operationalization of the integrated strategy (in intervention communities only, to minimize contamination in control communities). A community strategy group will also be utilized, comprised of community representatives and study team members, to direct and oversee the community engagement activities throughout the course of the study.

14.2 Risk-Benefit Assessment

This community randomized study can potentially incur risk of harm at both a community and an individual level. Likewise, study-related benefits may accrue at both an individual and a community level.

14.2.1 Community-Level Benefits

At the community level, an integrated strategy may result in a substantial reduction in HIV incidence among Black MSM. The nature of some HPTN 096 components in attempting to address social determinants of health may provide benefits in sectors beyond the realm of HIV and health, and the components related to SMIs and intersectional stigma prevention may promote acknowledgement and acceptance of HIV as a community-wide health issue potentially resulting in lessening of stigma and discrimination. While the SOC communities will not benefit directly from the integrated strategy, there will be increased access to PrEP in both SOC and intervention communities as a result of this study (per Section 11.0). In addition, if the study shows that the integrated strategy is effective, leading to wider scale roll-out of the program, efforts will be made to ensure that the SOC communities are among the first to benefit from this wider implementation. SOC communities will be most familiar with the integrated strategy and will be engaged throughout the study, leading to a greater likelihood of program adoption and implementation if the strategy is found successful. Relationships forged between researchers, community members, and public health officials by way of this study can provide a more efficient and clearer pathway to post-study implementation in SOC communities. This is particularly true as this study will end in the middle of the EHE initiative, and components of the integrated strategy could be built into ongoing EHE plans depending on the results of the study. Networks of stakeholders that will be created through the implementation of the integrated strategy will not only improve communication between community groups but will also be a catalyst for reinvigorating, reinforcing, and bolstering social connections that can be useful for advocating for the social and health-related needs of Black communities.

14.2.2 Community-Level Risks

Any community-based research project may present risks to a community. For example, communities may feel disempowered by having a research agenda imposed on them or they may be placed at risk of stigmatization by the publication or dissemination of research results. Large community research projects may disrupt intra-community social structures and networks that are not always easily understood by an external research team. Social harms will be measured through collection of social harms data (see Section 13.0). An additional potential community related risk involves the possible burden that could be placed on existing health services. Existing health services in many of these study communities may already be over-burdened and under resourced; these challenges have been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic that begin in early 2020.

14.2.3 Minimizing Risks to Communities

Well-functioning community engagement structures (such as the CAG), as well as formal and intentional representation of Black MSM and community members as part of the study team, will help to mitigate risks at the community level by advising the study team and representing the views of the communities and study populations in all aspects of the design and implementation of the study. The CAG, along with implementers of the integrated strategy (e.g., peer supporters, SMIs), will serve as lenses into the community and can help the study team gauge any potential risk of harm which may occur. In addition, the study team will actively solicit and report any instances of perceived social harm (see Section 13.0).

Working closely with communities and policy makers in the communities (i.e., EHE planning councils) to design and implement the study will also help mitigate risks. Health service burden will be minimized by coordinating efforts with existing EHE planning committee work in each community, leveraging additional funding to further the existing EHE efforts via implementation of this study, and in provision or supplementation of services that would otherwise need to be provided by these over-burdened health systems, such as PrEP, allowing a greater impact of EHE activities and resources. Communication will be maintained with study communities for the duration of the study and a well-developed exit strategy will be planned with the input of all stakeholders and community engagement structures. If proven effective, the HPTN 096 integrated strategy can provide a model for what jurisdictions may wish to adopt to address HIV in Black MSM once the study is complete. Furthermore, some components of HPTN 096 such as the intersectional stigma training curriculum, plans for enhanced activities of the BTAN+ model, peer support app, or the database of local HIV-related and social services could be made available for use by others after the study has ended, including to both intervention and SOC communities.

14.2.4 Individual-Level Benefits

Individual community members will be directly and indirectly impacted by the integrated strategy, though there will be no active enrollment of study participants in any of the integrated strategy components (there will be active enrollment in the cross-sectional assessments). There may be a wide range of benefits at the individual level. Knowledge of one's HIV status provides a portal to treatment and care services for individuals living with HIV, while individuals living without HIV can be supported in adopting preventive measures such as PrEP. Preventing or reducing intersectional stigma, changing social norms around HIV, and fostering supportive peer networks can improve the social and healthcare environments in which individuals exist and receive HIV care and preventive services, as well as provide social and emotional support and advice about how to prevent HIV and what to do in the case of infection.

14.2.5 Individual-Level Risks

Components of the integrated strategy which involve direct interaction with individuals (such as virtual peer support), even if individuals are not enrolled in the study, may involve some risks. These include possible social harms and risks related to disclosure of HIV status or participation in HIV-related research.

For the cross-sectional assessments, there may also be a risk of HIV stigmatization from association with an HIV-related study at sampling venues. Additionally, there are minor risks associated with blood draws.

Individuals interacting with these study components will be informed of these risks, which are detailed in their respective informed consent forms (ICFs) in Appendix II, III and IV. Social harms will be captured per Section 13.0.

14.2.6 Minimizing Risks to Individuals

To minimize social and other harms to individuals, the study team will train implementers (and their supervisors) who deliver virtual peer support and training in the CRISP component in cultural humility, as well as skills to provide HIV-related counseling according to national guidelines and to ensure that confidentiality is protected. No individual-level identifying information will be collected by the study team or implementers within any study component for research purposes. Additionally, the HPTN, under the NIH, has a Certificate of Confidentiality from the US Department of Health and Human Services that is applicable to this study. Certificates cover all study staff conducting this research, regardless of the country where the investigator or the protected information resides. This Certificate protects study staff from being compelled to disclose study-related information by any Federal, State or local civil, criminal, administrative, legislative, or other body.

For the cross-sectional analyses, data systems and data handling procedures for capturing, transferring, analyzing and storing electronic data obtained from sampling venues will be developed and tested to verify their ability to preserve participant confidentiality. Electronic systems in which these data are kept will be password protected with access limited to authorized staff. Personal identifiers (e.g., name, address, birthdate) may be collected by study staff for the purposes of ensuring dual enrollment does not occur and to provide compensation to those who successfully recruit others to join the study; however, no identifying information will be retained in electronic data capture systems or the study database. Participant identification numbers will be assigned to each cross-sectional assessment participant to uniquely identify data and samples collected. All study staff engaging in venue-based sampling activities will undergo training in Good Clinical Practice and human research protections in accordance with NIH requirements. There will be a strong emphasis in staff training and supervision on the importance of strict confidentiality of participant information, and systems will be in place to ensure that any personal information is securely stored within locked containers. Blood collection will be carried out by fully trained staff using appropriate sterile procedures.

14.3 Ethical Review

The HPTN Ethics Working Group developed the Ethics Guidance for Research, a network-wide ethical principles document, which is suitable for further elaboration and tailoring for each study.

This protocol and the template ICFs contained in Appendices I-III will be reviewed and approved by the HPTN Scientific Review Committee and NIAID Prevention Science Review Committee with respect to scientific content and compliance with applicable research and human subjects regulations.

The protocol, ICFs, participant education and recruitment materials, and other requested documents — and any subsequent modifications — also will be reviewed and approved by the HPTN single IRB (sIRB). The HPTN Leadership and Operations Center (LOC) will make progress reports to the sIRB at least annually, and within three months of study termination or completion.

14.3.1 Additional Considerations for Minors

Adolescents aged 15 years and older are eligible to participate in the virtual peer support component and the cross-sectional analysis. Per the US Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), the HPTN sIRB must consider the potential risks and benefits to these participants as described in 45 CFR 46 Subpart D.

With respect to 45 CFR 46 Subpart D, the specifications of 45 CFR 46.404 are expected to apply to adolescent participants not of legal age to consent in both the virtual peer support component and the cross-sectional assessment. These study components will not involve investigational drugs or devices, nor will either individual (for the peer support component) or identifying (for the cross-sectional assessments) data be collected; thus, the study involves no more than minimal risk to any participant.

Per 45 CFR 46.408(a), it is expected that adolescents participating in this study would be deemed capable of providing assent. Specific assent considerations for this population are described in the component-specific sections 8.4.1 and 10.5.1. However, per 45 CFR 46.408(c), this study is designed for a population (Black MSM in the southern US) for which parental or guardian permission is not a reasonable requirement to protect the study participants. There is concern that parent/guardian knowledge of a participant's involvement in the study may pose significant risk to participant's privacy and confidentiality, particularly for those whose parents are not aware or supportive of their sexual orientation, and stigma may prevent these adolescents from participating in the study. As such, a waiver of parental/guardian permission will be requested from the sIRB. Maintaining the requirement for assent will serve as a mechanism to protect these adolescents, in combination with additional counseling that will be provided to this age group as described in the above-referenced component-specific protocol sections.

It is the responsibility of the HPTN sIRB to determine the level of risk to adolescents in the categories specified in 45 CFR 46.404-407. The risk category assigned by the sIRB will ultimately determine the parental informed consent and assent requirements for the study. Additionally, it will be the responsibility of the sIRB to require any additional mechanisms to protect adolescent participants in lieu of parent/guardian consent, per the DAIDS Site Clinical Operations and Research Essentials (SCORE) Manual: Informed Consent of Participants: https://www.niaid.nih.gov/sites/default/files/score-informed-consent.pdf.

14.4 Informed Consent

Individual informed consent considerations that are specific to each study component and the cross-sectional assessments are detailed in each of those respective protocol Sections (Sections 5.4.1, 6.4.1, 7.4.1, 8.4.1, and 10.5.1).

14.5 Study Discontinuation

The study may be discontinued at any time by NIAID, the HPTN, and/or the sIRB.
15.0 LABORATORY SPECIMENS AND BIOHAZARD CONTAINMENT

Laboratory procedures are described below and in Section 10.0 (Cross-Sectional Assessments).

15.1 Local Laboratory Specimens

Local laboratories will be used to process blood samples for the cross-sectional assessments. Any entity collecting samples for the cross-sectional assessment (e.g., mobile vans, clinics, laboratories, etc.) and all local laboratories should reference the HPTN MOP, the SSP Manual, and local Standard Operating Procedures for proper collection, processing, labeling, transport, and specimen storage. The Requirements for DAIDS Funded and/or Sponsored Laboratories in Clinical Trials Policy must be adhered to as appropriate. Specimen processing and storage at the local laboratories will be documented using the LDMS as described in the SSP Manual for all specimens collected for the cross-sectional assessment.

15.2 Laboratory Center Specimens

As described in Section 10.0 (Cross-Sectional Assessments), blood will be collected for testing at the HPTN Laboratory Center (LC) or at laboratories designated by the HPTN LC.

15.3 Specimen Storage at Local Laboratories

Plasma and DBS will be stored at local laboratories in a subset of communities until the end of each assessment period (baseline and post-implementation). The HPTN LC will instruct these local laboratories to ship the samples to the HPTN LC once all samples have been collected, processed, and entered into LDMS. A subset of the stored samples will be used by the HPTN LC for quality assurance (QA) and other assessments. Testing on stored samples will be performed by the HPTN LC or other laboratories selected and approved by the HPTN LC. Samples stored at local laboratories may not be used for any testing without written approval by the HPTN LC prior to use. Stored samples will be maintained at the HPTN LC until at least one year after acceptance of the manuscript that describes the primary findings for the study, and after protocol-related testing has been completed. This includes retrospective testing performed at the HPTN LC and laboratories designated by the HPTN LC that is needed to address study objectives. Local laboratories may not destroy samples without written permission from the HPTN LC. The HPTN LC will communicate with local laboratories if and when samples can be destroyed; local laboratories will follow local laboratory policies for sample destruction. The HPTN LC will follow internal sample destruction policies for long-term sample storage. As needed, a list of samples to be destroyed will be provided by the HPTN Statistical and Data Management Center (SDMC), which will be reviewed and reconciled by the local laboratories or HPTN LC as part of the sample destruction process.

15.4 Virology

HIV diagnostic and viral load testing will be performed at a commercial laboratory (all communities). Additional retrospective testing will be performed using stored DBS (all communities) and plasma (subset of communities). This testing will be performed at the HPTN LC or laboratories designated by the HPTN LC. This testing may include the following tests: HIV resistance testing, cross-sectional HIV incidence testing, phylogenetic analysis of viral

sequences (post-implementation assessment only), tests to characterize HIV viruses and/or the host response to HIV infection; and tests associated with SARS-CoV-2 and other related viruses. Results will not be returned to the local laboratories or study participants. This testing may be performed during the study or at the end of the study.

15.5 Pharmacology

DBS samples for pharmacology testing related to PrEP use will be collected during the study from all participants in the cross-sectional assessments; plasma samples will be available from participants at a subset of communities. DBSs are currently used only for the detection and/or quantification of intraerythrocytic tenofovir-diphosphate, to monitor/assess adherence and /or use of TDF/FTC (Truvada) and TAF/FTC (Descovy) PrEP. Plasma can also be used to assess adherence and/or use of these drugs. The window period for detection of drugs is different with DBS and plasma testing (DBS has a longer window period, plasma tests for more recent use).

DBS testing to assess use of TDF/FTC and TAF/FTC PrEP will be performed for all participants living without HIV; plasma testing to assess use of TDF/FTC and TAF/FTC PrEP may be performed in a subset of these participants. If long-acting injectable cabotegravir or other PrEP agents become available during the course of the study, DBS collected from all participants, and the plasma collected from a subset of participants, could also be used to detect these drugs. Procedures for sample processing and shipping are outlined in the SSP Manual. Pharmacology testing will be performed at the HPTN LC or a laboratory selected and approved by the HPTN LC. The primary pharmacologic assessments will be performed using assays that have been validated and approved by the Clinical Pharmacology Quality Assurance Committee.

Results will not be returned to the study participants. Interpretation of pharmacologic results will be led by the HPTN LC Pharmacology Core, in collaboration with other groups, as needed.

Plasma samples from people living with HIV in a subset of communities will also be tested for the presence of antiretroviral drugs using a multi-drug qualitative assay. Results of this testing will not be returned to the study participants.

15.6 Quality Control and Quality Assurance Procedures

Any entity used to conduct HIV diagnostic testing and/or viral load testing for the cross-sectional assessment (Section 10.0) will document that they are certified under the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988 (CLIA-certified) and/or participate in DAIDS-sponsored external quality assurance programs. Laboratories must also follow the DAIDS requirements (link to policy on DAIDS website <u>https://www.niaid.nih.gov/research/daids-clinical-research-laboratory-specimens-management</u>).

HPTN LC staff may conduct periodic visits to the local laboratories conducting the crosssectional assessments to review the implementation of on-site laboratory quality control (QC) procedures, including proper maintenance of laboratory equipment and use of appropriate supplies and reagents. HPTN LC staff may also conduct periodic visits to other entities performing laboratory activities as part of the cross-sectional assessments. HPTN LC staff will follow-up directly with site staff to resolve any QC or QA problems identified through proficiency testing or visit reviews. Throughout the course of the study, the HPTN LC will select a random sample of stored specimens to test for QA purposes. HPTN LC staff will follow-up directly with study staff to resolve any QA problems identified through this process.

HIV diagnostic tests will be listed by the entity conducting the cross-sectional assessment on the lab information sheet and will be subject to review and acceptance by DAIDS and the HPTN LC.

The HPTN LC may perform HIV diagnostic testing for QC to confirm the results of testing done in a subset of communities for the cross-sectional assessments.

15.7 HIV Diagnostic Testing

In the cross-sectional assessments, mail-in HIV test kits or vouchers for such kits will be offered by study staff to all participants. For anyone (inclusive of individuals who receive a test kit from a study participant but who are themselves not enrolled) whose mail-in HIV test kit result is reactive or indicates infection, a protocol will be in place to provide counseling and linkage to local HIV care.

15.8 Long-Term Local Specimen Storage and Possible Future Research Testing

Local laboratories are required to provide short-term storage for all plasma and DBS specimens collected in this study as part of the cross-sectional assessments. Specimens will be transferred to the HPTN LC for testing and storage. Samples in long-term storage may be available for future research testing by the HPTN LC or other interested investigators, in accordance with HPTN policies for Ancillary Studies. Study participants will be asked to provide written informed consent for specimens to be stored long-term for possible future testing. Specimens from participants who do not consent to long-term storage and future testing will only be used for testing that is needed to address protocol objectives.

15.9 Biohazard Containment

As the transmission of HIV and other blood-borne pathogens can occur through contact with contaminated needles, blood, and blood products, appropriate blood and secretion precautions will be employed by all personnel in the drawing of blood and shipping and handling of all specimens for this study, as currently recommended by the US CDC. All specimens will be shipped using packaging that meets requirements specified by the International Air Transport Association Dangerous Goods Regulations for UN 3373, Biological Substance, Category B, and Packing Instruction 650.

16.0 ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES

16.1 **Protocol Registration**

There will be no protocol registration requirements for this study because it does not include an investigational agent. There will be no medically-related adverse event collection and will not undergo traditional monitoring.

16.2 Study Activation

The clinics that participate in the CRISP component will undergo an abbreviated site activation process, during which they will submit required documents and put processes into place to prepare for implementation of CRISP. The HPTN LOC will "activate" each clinic after it completes the site activation process. Study implementation may not be initiated until a study activation notice is provided to the site by the HPTN LOC. In addition, if study activation is determined to be necessary for any subsequent amendments, study implementation may not be initiated until a study activation notice is provided to the clinic by the HPTN LOC.

16.3 Study Coordination

Study implementation will be directed by this protocol as well as the SSP Manual. The SSP Manual will outline procedures for each component of the integrated strategy; how data will be captured and processed; social impact assessment, management and reporting; intervention oversight and monitoring; and other study operations.

For the cross-sectional assessments, study case report forms (CRFs) and other study instruments will be developed by the protocol team and HPTN SDMC. Data will be submitted to the HPTN SDMC for cleaning, reporting, and analysis. Quality control data queries will be generated on a routine schedule for verification and resolution by local data management staff.

Close coordination between protocol team members will be necessary to track study progress, respond to queries about proper study implementation, and address other issues in a timely manner. Rates of engagement, for example the number of people participating in the peer support component, the number of staff trained in the intersectional stigma reduction component, and the reaction to social media influencers, will be monitored closely by the team as well as the HPTN SMC.

16.4 Study Monitoring

Because there will be minimal data collected via CRFs, no long-term follow-up of individual participants and the components of the integrated strategy are all considered to be low risk, no traditional monitoring will take place for the study. However, oversight will be provided for each component, including, but not limited to, monitoring the process measures, routine protocol team monitoring of component engagement, and HPTN SMC review. The HPTN LOC, HPTN LC, DAIDS and their designees may visit the clinics that participate in the CRISP component or the entities that conduct the cross-sectional assessments.

16.5 **Protocol Compliance**

The study will be conducted in full compliance with the protocol. The protocol will not be amended without prior written approval by the Protocol Chairs and DAIDS Medical Officer. All protocol amendments must be submitted to and approved by the sIRB and the DAIDS Regulatory Support Center prior to implementing the amendment.

16.6 Study Records

All study records will be maintained and stored in a secure, complete and accurate manner throughout the study. The responsible parties are outlined below:

- sIRB-related documentation and approval: HPTN LOC
- Health equity component: HPTN LOC, BAI and BTANs
- Social media influencers component: HPTN LOC
- CRISP component: HPTN LOC, contracted training team, and the participating clinics
- Virtual peer support component: HPTN LOC
- Cross-sectional assessments: HPTN LOC, HPTN LC, HPTN SDMC and the entities conducting the cross-sectional assessments

Under the US DHHS regulations, the responsible parties are required to retain all study records relating to research for at least three [3] years after completion of the research, or longer if needed to comply with local regulations.

Completion of a clinical research study occurs when the following activities have been completed:

- All research-related interventions or interactions with human subjects (e.g., when all subjects are off study);
- All protocol-required data collection of identifiable private information described in the sIRB-approved research plan;
- All analysis of identifiable private information described in the sIRB-approved research plan;
- Primary analysis of either identifiable private or de-identified information.

Study records include administrative documentation — including all reports and correspondence relating to the study — as well as documentation related to each participant screened and/or enrolled in the study — including ICFs, locator forms, CRFs, notations of all contacts with the participant, and all other source documents.

All study records (including participant records) may be reviewed by study staff and other staff employed by the HPTN, NIH, Advarra and the US Office for Human Research Protections.

16.7 Use of Information and Publications

Publication of the results of this study will be governed by the HPTN MOP. Any presentation, abstract, or manuscript will undergo review by the HPTN Manuscript Review Committee, and DAIDS prior to submission.

16.8 ClinicalTrials.gov

This protocol is not subject to the Food and Drug Administration Amendments Act of 2007. However, it will be registered in ClinicalTrials.gov to meet International Committee of Medical Journal Editors requirements and as a requirement of the sponsor.

17.0 REFERENCES

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Estimated HIV incidence and prevalence in the United States, 2014-2018. *HIV surveillance supplemental report* 2020; 25 (no.1).
 2020 [Available from: <u>https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/87841</u>].
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Sexually transmitted disease surveillance 2018 [updated July 30, 2019. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/std/stats18/msm.htm#ref20].
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV surveillance adolescents and young adults (preliminary) 2018 [Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/library/slidesets/cdc-hiv-surveillance-adolescents-young-adults-2018.pdf]</u>.
- 4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV and youth. 2018 [Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/group/age/youth/index.html]</u>.
- 5. STOPAIDS. Adolescents and young people and HIV factsheet. 2016 [Available from: <u>https://stopaids.org.uk/wp/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/STOPAIDS-Factsheet-</u> <u>Adolescents-and-young-people-and-HIV.pdf]</u>.
- 6. Avert. Young people, HIV and AIDS. 2017 [Available from: <u>https://www.avert.org/printpdf/node/389</u>].
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV surveillance report, 2018 (updated); vol.31. <u>Http://www.Cdc.Gov/hiv/library/reports/hiv-surveillance.Html</u>. Published may 2020. [Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/group/msm/cdc-hiv-bmsm.pdf</u>].
- 8. Guilamo-Ramos V, Thimm-Kaiser M, Benzekri A, Futterman D. Youth at risk of HIV: The overlooked US HIV prevention crisis. The Lancet HIV. 2019;6(5):e275-e8.
- 9. Bradley ELP, Frazier EL, Carree T, Hubbard McCree D, Sutton MY. Psychological and social determinants of health, antiretroviral therapy (ART) adherence, and viral suppression among HIV-positive Black women in care. AIDS Care. 2019;31(8):932-41.
- 10. Kennedy MC, Kerr TH, Wood E, Shoveller JA, Montaner JSG, Milloy MS. Social and structural factors associated with greater time with a plasma HIV-1 RNA viral load above log10(1500) copies/ml among illicit drug users. AIDS. 2018;32(8):1059-67.
- 11. Baugher AR, Beer L, Fagan JL, Mattson CL, Freedman M, Skarbinski J, et al. Prevalence of internalized HIV-related stigma among HIV-infected adults in care, United States, 2011-2013. AIDS Behav. 2017;21(9):2600-8.
- 12. EHE priority jurisdictions: Phase I [Available from: <u>https://www.hiv.gov/federal-response/ending-the-hiv-epidemic/jurisdictions/phase-one]</u>.
- 13. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV in the United States by region [updated June 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/statistics/overview/cdc-hiv-geographic-distribution.pdf</u>].

- 14. Kaiser Family Foundation. Status of state medicaid expansion decisions: Interactive map 2020 [Available from: <u>https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/status-of-state-medicaid-expansion-decisions-interactive-map/]</u>.
- 15. Pitasi MA, Delaney KP, Brooks JT, DiNenno EA, Johnson SD, Prejean J. HIV testing in 50 local jurisdictions accounting for the majority of new HIV diagnoses and seven states with disproportionate occurrence of HIV in rural areas, 2016–2017. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2019;68(25):561.
- Harris NS, Johnson AS, Huang Y-LA, Kern D, Fulton P, Smith DK, et al. Vital signs: Status of human immunodeficiency virus testing, viral suppression, and HIV preexposure prophylaxis—united states, 2013–2018. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2019;68(48):1117.
- 17. Earnshaw VA, Bogart LM, Dovidio JF, Williams DR. Stigma and racial/ethnic HIV disparities: Moving toward resilience. 2015.
- 18. Reif S, Safley D, McAllaster C, Wilson E, Whetten K. State of HIV in the US Deep South. J Community Health. 2017;42(5):844-53.
- 19. Ending the HIV epidemic: A plan for America [updated Febraury 2020. Available from: https://www.hiv.gov/federal-response/ending-the-hiv-epidemic/overview].
- 20. Azar A. Ending the HIV epidemic: A plan for America 2019 [Available from: https://www.hhs.gov/blog/2019/02/05/ending-the-hiv-epidemic-a-plan-for-america.html].
- 21. Millett GA, Peterson JL, Flores SA, Hart TA, Jeffries WLt, Wilson PA, et al. Comparisons of disparities and risks of HIV infection in Black and other men who have sex with men in Canada, UK, and USA: A meta-analysis. Lancet. 2012;380(9839):341-8.
- 22. Office of National Aids Policy. National HIV/AIDS strategey for the United States: Updated to 2020 2015 [Available from: <u>https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/docs/national_hiv_aids_strategy_update_2020.pdf]</u>.
- 23. Marano M, Stein R, Song W, Patel D, Taylor-Aidoo N, Xu S, et al. HIV testing, linkage to HIV medical care, and interviews for partner services among Black men who have sex with men—non–health care facilities, 20 southern US jurisdictions, 2016. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2018;67(28):778.
- 24. Hiv self-testing [updated June 3, 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/testing/self-testing.html]</u>.
- 25. Hogenson E, Jett-Goheen M, Gaydos CA. An analysis of user survey data for an internet program for testing for sexually transmitted infections, I want the kit, in Maryland and Washington, DC. Sex Transm Dis. 2019;46(12):768-70.
- 26. MacGowan RJ, Chavez PR, Borkowf CB, Owen SM, Purcell DW, Mermin JH, et al. Effect of internet-distributed HIV self-tests on HIV diagnosis and behavioral outcomes in men who have sex with men: A randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2019.
- 27. Grant RM, Lama JR, Anderson PL, McMahan V, Liu AY, Vargas L, et al. Preexposure chemoprophylaxis for HIV prevention in men who have sex with men. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(27):2587-99.

- 28. McCormack S, Dunn DT, Desai M, Dolling DI, Gafos M, Gilson R, et al. Pre-exposure prophylaxis to prevent the acquisition of HIV-1 infection (proud): Effectiveness results from the pilot phase of a pragmatic open-label randomised trial. Lancet. 2016;387(10013):53-60.
- 29. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) [updated July 16, 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/effective-interventions/prevent/prep/index.html]</u>.
- 30. World Health Organization. What's the 2+1+1? Event-driven oral pre-exposure prophylaxis to prevent HIV for men who have sex with men: Update to who's recommendation on oral PrEP. 2019 [Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/hiv/pub/prep/211/en/]</u>.
- 31. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. On-demand prep [Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/prep/on-demand-prep.html]</u>.
- 32. Roux P, Fressard L, Suzan-Monti M, Chas J, Sagaon-Teyssier L, Capitant C, et al. Is ondemand HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis a suitable tool for men who have sex with men who practice chemsex? Results from a substudy of the anrs-ipergay trial. JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 2018;79(2):e69-e75.
- 33. Ezennia O, Geter A, Smith DK. The PrEP care continuum and Black men who have sex with men: A scoping review of published data on awareness, uptake, adherence, and retention in prep care. AIDS Behav. 2019;23(10):2654-73.
- 34. Pinto RM, Berringer KR, Melendez R, Mmeje O. Improving PrEP implementation through multilevel interventions: A synthesis of the literature. AIDS Behav. 2018;22(11):3681-91.
- 35. HIV Prevention Trials Network (HPTN). Long-acting injectiable cabotegravir is highly effective for the prevention of HIV infection in cisgender men and transgender women who have sex with men 2020 [Available from: <u>https://www.hptn.org/news-and-events/press-releases/long-acting-injectable-cabotegravir-highly-effective-prevention-hiv]</u>.
- 36. Group ISS, Lundgren JD, Babiker AG, Gordin F, Emery S, Grund B, et al. Initiation of antiretroviral therapy in early asymptomatic HIV infection. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(9):795-807.
- Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, et al. Prevention of hiv-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(6):493-505.
- 38. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV surveillance systems [updated June 19, 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/statistics/surveillance/systems/index.html#HIV%20Case%20Surveillance.]</u>.
- 39. Gamble T, Branson B, Donnell D, Hall HI, King G, Cutler B, et al. Design of the HPTN 065 (TLC-Plus) study: A study to evaluate the feasibility of an enhanced test, link-to-care, plus treat approach for HIV prevention in the United States. Clin Trials. 2017;14(4):322-32.

- 40. El-Sadr WM, Donnell D, Beauchamp G, Hall HI, Torian LV, Zingman B, et al. Financial incentives for linkage to care and viral suppression among HIV-positive patients: A randomized clinical trial (HPTN 065). JAMA Intern Med. 2017;177(8):1083-92.
- 41. Nelson LE, Walker JJ, DuBois SN, Giwa S. Your blues ain't like mine: Considering integrative antiracism in HIV prevention research with Black men who have sex with men in Canada and the United States. Nurs Inq. 2014;21(4):270-82.
- 42. Maulsby C, Millett G, Lindsey K, Kelley R, Johnson K, Montoya D, et al. A systematic review of HIV interventions for Black men who have sex with men (MSM). BMC Public Health. 2013;13:625.
- 43. Maulsby C, Millett G, Lindsey K, Kelley R, Johnson K, Montoya D, et al. HIV among Black men who have sex with men (MSM) in the United States: A review of the literature. AIDS Behav. 2014;18(1):10-25.
- 44. Doblecki-Lewis S, Liu A, Feaster D, Cohen SE, Cardenas G, Bacon O, et al. Healthcare access and PrEP continuation in San Francisco and Miami following the US PrEP demo project. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes (1999). 2017;74(5):531.
- 45. Hosek S, Rudy B, Landovitz R, Kapogiannis B, Siberry G, Liu N, et al. An HIV preexposure prophylaxis demonstration project and safety study for young men who have sex with men in the United States (atn 110). J Int AIDS Soc. 2015;18.
- 46. Liu A, Cohen S, Follansbee S, Cohan D, Weber S, Sachdev D, et al. Early experiences implementing pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) for HIV prevention in San Francisco. PLoS Med. 2014;11(3):e1001613.
- 47. Cahill S, Taylor SW, Elsesser SA, Mena L, Hickson D, Mayer KH. Stigma, medical mistrust, and perceived racism may affect PrEP awareness and uptake in Black compared to white gay and bisexual men in Jackson, Mississippi and Boston, Massachusetts. AIDS Care. 2017;29(11):1351-8.
- 48. Kuhns LM, Hotton AL, Schneider J, Garofalo R, Fujimoto K. Use of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) in young men who have sex with men is associated with race, sexual risk behavior and peer network size. AIDS Behav. 2017;21(5):1376-82.
- 49. Adams LM, Balderson BH. Hiv providers' likelihood to prescribe pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) for HIV prevention differs by patient type: A short report. AIDS Care. 2016;28(9):1154-8.
- 50. Wheeler DP, Fields SD, Beauchamp G, Chen YQ, Emel LM, Hightow-Weidman L, et al. Pre-exposure prophylaxis initiation and adherence among Black men who have sex with men (msm) in three us cities: Results from the hptn 073 study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22(2):e25223.
- 51. Calabrese SK, Earnshaw VA, Underhill K, Hansen NB, Dovidio JF. The impact of patient race on clinical decisions related to prescribing HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP): Assumptions about sexual risk compensation and implications for access. AIDS Behav. 2014;18(2):226-40.

- 52. Baral S, Rao A, Sullivan P, Phaswana-Mafuya N, Diouf D, Millett G, et al. The disconnect between individual-level and population-level HIV prevention benefits of antiretroviral treatment. The lancet HIV. 2019;6(9):e632-e8.
- 53. Dray-Spira R, Gueguen A, Persoz A, Deveau C, Lert F, Delfraissy J-F, et al. Temporary employment, absence of stable partnership, and risk of hospitalization or death during the course of HIV infection. JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 2005;40(2):190-7.
- 54. Brewer RA, Magnus M, Kuo I, Wang L, Liu T-Y, Mayer KH. Exploring the relationship between incarceration and hiv among Black men who have sex with men in the United States. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes (1999). 2014;65(2):218.
- 55. Stokols D. Establishing and maintaining healthy environments. Toward a social ecology of health promotion. Am Psychol. 1992;47(1):6-22.
- 56. Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K. Ecological models of health behavior. Health behavior and health education: Theory, research, and practice. 4 ed: John Wiley & Sons; 2008. p. 465-86.
- 57. Weiner BJ, Lewis MA, Clauser SB, Stitzenberg KB. In search of synergy: Strategies for combining interventions at multiple levels. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 2012;2012(44):34-41.
- 58. Cook JE, Purdie-Vaughns V, Meyer IH, Busch JTA. Intervening within and across levels: A multilevel approach to stigma and public health. Soc Sci Med. 2014;103:101-9.
- 59. Nelson LE, Wilton L, Moineddin R, Zhang N, Siddiqi A, Sa T, et al. Economic, legal, and social hardships associated with hiv risk among Black men who have sex with men in six US cities. J Urban Health. 2016;93(1):170-88.
- 60. Brewer RA, Magnus M, Kuo I, Wang L, Liu TY, Mayer KH. The high prevalence of incarceration history among Black men who have sex with men in the United States: Associations and implications. Am J Public Health. 2014;104(3):448-54.
- 61. English D, Carter JA, Bowleg L, Malebranche DJ, Talan AJ, Rendina HJ. Intersectional social control: The roles of incarceration and police discrimination in psychological and HIV-related outcomes for Black sexual minority men. Soc Sci Med. 2020;258:113121.
- 62. Levy ME, Wilton L, Phillips G, 2nd, Glick SN, Kuo I, Brewer RA, et al. Understanding structural barriers to accessing HIV testing and prevention services among Black men who have sex with men (BMSM in the United States. AIDS Behav. 2014;18(5):972-96.
- 63. Wheeler DP, Lucas J, Wilton L, Nelson LE, Hucks-Ortiz C, Watson CC, et al. Building effective multilevel HIV prevention partnerships with black men who have sex with men: Experience from HPTN 073, a pre-exposure prophylaxis study in three US cities. J Int AIDS Soc. 2018;21 Suppl 7:e25180.
- 64. Nelson LE, Wilton L, Zhang N, Regan R, Thach CT, Dyer TV, et al. Childhood exposure to religions with high prevalence of members who discourage homosexuality is associated with adult HIV risk behaviors and HIV infection in Black men who have sex with men. American journal of men's health. 2017;11(5):1309-21.

- 65. Nyblade L, Stockton MA, Giger K, Bond V, Ekstrand ML, Mc Lean R, et al. Stigma in health facilities: Why it matters and how we can change it. BMC Med. 2019;17(1):1-15.
- 66. Ng JY, Ntoumanis N, Thøgersen-Ntoumani C, Deci EL, Ryan RM, Duda JL, et al. Selfdetermination theory applied to health contexts: A meta-analysis. Perspect Psychol Sci. 2012;7(4):325-40.
- 67. Kushwaha S, Lalani Y, Maina G, Ogunbajo A, Wilton L, Agyarko-Poku T, et al. "But the moment they find out that you are MSM...": A qualitative investigation of hiv prevention experiences among men who have sex with men (MSM) in Ghana's health care system. BMC Public Health. 2017;17(1):770.
- 68. Van Ryn M, Burgess DJ, Dovidio JF, Phelan SM, Saha S, Malat J, et al. The impact of racism on clinician cognition, behavior, and clinical decision making. Du Bois review: social science research on race. 2011;8(1):199.
- 69. Schneider J, Cornwell B, Jonas A, Lancki N, Behler R, Skaathun B, et al. Network dynamics of HIV risk and prevention in a population-based cohort of young Black men who have sex with men. Network Science. 2017;5(3):381-409.
- 70. Khanna AS, Michaels S, Skaathun B, Morgan E, Green K, Young L, et al. Preexposure prophylaxis awareness and use in a population-based sample of young Black men who have sex with men. JAMA internal medicine. 2016;176(1):136-8.
- 71. Nelson LE, Wilton L, Agyarko-Poku T, Zhang N, Zou Y, Aluoch M, et al. Predictors of condom use among peer social networks of men who have sex with men in Ghana, West Africa. PLoS One. 2015;10(1):e0115504.
- 72. Maina G, Strudwick G, Lalani Y, Boakye F, Wilton L, Nelson LE. Characterizing the structure and functions of social networks of men who have sex with men in Ghana, West Africa: Implications for peer-based hiv prevention. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care. 2018;29(1):70-82.
- 73. Pachankis JE, Clark KA, Burton CL, Hughto JMW, Bränström R, Keene DE. Sex, status, competition, and exclusion: Intraminority stress from within the gay community and gay and bisexual men's mental health. J Pers Soc Psychol. 2020.
- 74. Burton CL, Clark KA, Pachankis JE. Risk from within: Intraminority gay community stress and sexual risk-taking among sexual minority men. Ann Behav Med. 2020.
- 75. Valdiserri RO, Holtgrave DR, Poteat TC, Beyrer C. Unraveling health disparities among sexual and gender minorities: A commentary on the persistent impact of stigma. J Homosex. 2019;66(5):571-89.
- 76. Hatzenbuehler ML. How does sexual minority stigma "get under the skin"? A psychological mediation framework. Psychol Bull. 2009;135(5):707.
- 77. Hatzenbuehler ML, Nolen-Hoeksema S, Dovidio J. How does stigma "get under the skin"? The mediating role of emotion regulation. Psychol Sci. 2009;20(10):1282-9.
- 78. Fields EL, Bogart LM, Smith KC, Malebranche DJ, Ellen J, Schuster MA. "I always felt I had to prove my manhood": Homosexuality, masculinity, gender role strain, and HIV risk among young Black men who have sex with men. Am J Public Health. 2015;105(1):122-31.

- 79. Curran GM, Bauer M, Mittman B, Pyne JM, Stetler C. Effectiveness-implementation hybrid designs: Combining elements of clinical effectiveness and implementation research to enhance public health impact. Med Care. 2012;50(3):217.
- 80. Proctor E, Silmere H, Raghavan R, Hovmand P, Aarons G, Bunger A, et al. Outcomes for implementation research: Conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research. 2011;38(2):65-76.
- 81. Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, Kirsh SR, Alexander JA, Lowery JC. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: A consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. Implementation science. 2009;4(1):1-15.
- 82. Powell BJ, Waltz TJ, Chinman MJ, Damschroder LJ, Smith JL, Matthieu MM, et al. A refined compilation of implementation strategies: Results from the expert recommendations for implementing change (eric) project. Implementation Science. 2015;10(1):21.
- 83. Waltz TJ, Powell BJ, Fernández ME, Abadie B, Damschroder LJ. Choosing implementation strategies to address contextual barriers: Diversity in recommendations and future directions. Implementation Science. 2019;14(1):1-15.
- 84. Bunger AC, Powell BJ, Robertson HA, MacDowell H, Birken SA, Shea C. Tracking implementation strategies: A description of a practical approach and early findings. Health Res Policy Syst. 2017;15(1):15.
- 85. Lewis CC, Fischer S, Weiner BJ, Stanick C, Kim M, Martinez RG. Outcomes for implementation science: An enhanced systematic review of instruments using evidence-based rating criteria. Implementation Science. 2015;10(1):155.
- 86. Smith JD, Li D, Rafferty MR. The implementation research logic model: A method for planning, executing, reporting, and synthesizing implementation projects. medRxiv. 2020.
- 87. Fuller CM, Galea S, Caceres W, Blaney S, Sisco S, Vlahov D. Multilevel communitybased intervention to increase access to sterile syringes among injection drug users through pharmacy sales in New York City. Am J Public Health. 2007;97(1):117-24.
- 88. Rhodes SD, Malow RM, Jolly C. Community-based participatory research: A new and not-so-new approach to HIV/AIDS prevention, care, and treatment. AIDS Educ Prev. 2010;22(3):173-83.
- 89. Rhodes SD, Mann L, Alonzo J, Downs M, Abraham C, Miller C, et al. CBPR to prevent hiv within racial/ethnic, sexual, and gender minority communities: Successes with long-term sustainability. Innovations in hiv prevention research and practice through community engagement: Springer; 2014. p. 135-60.
- 90. Nelson LE, Nyblade L, Torpey K, Logie C, Qian H, Vlahov D. Multi-level intervention addressing intersectional stigma to improve hiv testing among MSM. Naitonal Institute of Nursing Research. Grant no. R01NR01009; 2019.

- 91. Leon DA. Common threads: Underlying components of inequalities in mortality between and within countries. *Poverty, inequality, and health*2001. p. 58-87.
- 92. Millett GA, Jeffries 4th WL, Peterson JL, Malebranche DJ, Lane T, Flores SA, et al. Common roots: A contextual review of hiv epidemics in Black men who have sex with men across the African diaspora. The Lancet. 2012;380(9839):411-23.
- 93. Steckel RH. Industrialization and health in historical perspective. In d. Leon and g. Walt (eds.). *Poverty, inequality and health: An international perspective*, pp. 37-57. London: Oxford University Press; 1999.
- 94. Foster MW, Sharp RR. Race, ethnicity, and genomics: Social classifications as proxies of biological heterogeneity. Genome Res. 2002;12(6):844-50.
- 95. Goodman AH. Why genes don't count (for racial differences in health). Am J Public Health. 2000;90(11):1699.
- 96. Bamshad M, Wooding S, Salisbury BA, Stephens JC. Deconstructing the relationship between genetics and race. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2004;5(8):598-609.
- 97. Royal CD, Dunston GM. Changing the paradigm from'race'to human genome variation. Nat Genet. 2004;36(11):S5-S7.
- 98. Millett GA, Jones AT, Benkeser D, Baral S, Mercer L, Beyrer C, et al. Assessing differential impacts of covid-19 on Black communities. Ann Epidemiol. 2020.
- 99. Mahajan UV, Larkins-Pettigrew M. Racial demographics and covid-19 confirmed cases and deaths: A correlational analysis of 2886 US counties. Journal of Public Health. 2020.
- 100. Roux AD. The examination of neighborhood effects on health: Conceptual and methodological issues related to the presence of multiple levels of organization. Neighborhoods and health. 2003:45-64.
- 101. Bor J, Venkataramani AS, Williams DR, Tsai AC. Police killings and their spillover effects on the mental health of black americans: A population-based, quasi-experimental study. The Lancet. 2018;392(10144):302-10.
- 102. Muntaner C, Lynch J, Smith GD. Social capital, disorganized communities, and the third way: Understanding the retreat from structural inequalities in epidemiology and public health. Int J Health Serv. 2001;31(2):213-37.
- 103. Marable M. *How capitalism underdeveloped Black America: Problems in race, political economy, and society:* Haymarket Books; 2015.
- 104. Brown AF, Ma GX, Miranda J, Eng E, Castille D, Brockie T, et al. Structural interventions to reduce and eliminate health disparities. Am J Public Health. 2019;109(S1):S72-S8.
- 105. Leischow SJ, Best A, Trochim WM, Clark PI, Gallagher RS, Marcus SE, et al. Systems thinking to improve the public's health. Am J Prev Med. 2008;35(2):S196-S203.
- 106. Bilodeau A, Galarneau M, Lefebvre C, Potvin L. Linking process and effects of intersectoral action on local neighbourhoods: Systemic modelling based on actornetwork theory. Sociol Health Illn. 2019;41(1):165-79.

- 107. Thornton RL, Glover CM, Cené CW, Glik DC, Henderson JA, Williams DR. Evaluating strategies for reducing health disparities by addressing the social determinants of health. Health Aff (Millwood). 2016;35(8):1416-23.
- 108. Shankardass K, Solar O, Murphy K, Greaves L, O'Campo P. A scoping review of intersectoral action for health equity involving governments. International Journal of Public Health. 2012;57(1):25-33.
- 109. Williams DR, Cooper LA. Reducing racial inequities in health: Using what we already know to take action. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16(4):606.
- 110. Purnell TS, Calhoun EA, Golden SH, Halladay JR, Krok-Schoen JL, Appelhans BM, et al. Achieving health equity: Closing the gaps in health care disparities, interventions, and research. Health Aff (Millwood). 2016;35(8):1410-5.
- 111. Ndumbe-Eyoh S, Moffatt H. Intersectoral action for health equity: A rapid systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2013;13(1):1056.
- 112. Galea S, Factor SH, Bonner S, Foley M, Freudenberg N, Latka M, et al. Collaboration among community members, local health service providers, and researchers in an urban research center in Harlem, New York. Public Health Rep. 2001;116(6):530.
- 113. Chakrapani V, Subramanian T, Vijin PP, Nelson R, Shunmugam M, Kershaw T. Reducing sexual risk and promoting acceptance of men who have sex with men living with HIV in India: Outcomes and process evaluation of a pilot randomised multi-level intervention. Global Public Health. 2020;15(3):438-51.
- 114. Charlebois ED, Plenty AH, Lin J, Ayala A, Hecht J. Impact of a structural intervention to address alcohol use among gay bar patrons in San Francisco: The pace study. AIDS Behav. 2017;21(2):193-202.
- 115. Rogers EM. Diffusion of innovations: Simon and Schuster; 2010.
- 116. Aral S, Walker D. Identifying influential and susceptible members of social networks. Science. 2012;337(6092):337-41.
- 117. Kelly JA. Popular opinion leaders and HIV prevention peer education: Resolving discrepant findings, and implications for the development of effective community programmes. AIDS Care. 2004;16(2):139-50.
- 118. Ko NY, Hsieh CH, Wang MC, Lee C, Chen CL, Chung AC, et al. Effects of internet popular opinion leaders (iPOL) among internet-using men who have sex with men. J Med Internet Res. 2013;15(2):e40.
- 119. Jones KT, Gray P, Whiteside YO, Wang T, Bost D, Dunbar E, et al. Evaluation of an HIV prevention intervention adapted for Black men who have sex with men. Am J Public Health. 2008;98(6):1043-50.
- 120. Rosenberger JG, Reece M, Novak DS, Mayer KH. The internet as a valuable tool for promoting a new framework for sexual health among gay men and other men who have sex with men. AIDS Behav. 2011;15 Suppl 1:S88-90.

- 121. Magee JC, Bigelow L, Dehaan S, Mustanski BS. Sexual health information seeking online: A mixed-methods study among lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender young people. Health Educ Behav. 2012;39(3):276-89.
- 122. Lou C, Yuan S. Influencer marketing: How message value and credibility affect consumer trust of branded content on social media. Journal of Interactive Advertising. 2019;19(1):58-73.
- 123. Uzunoğlu E, Kip SM. Brand communication through digital influencers: Leveraging blogger engagement. International Journal of Information Management. 2014;34(5):592-602.
- 124. Lutkenhaus RO, Jansz J, Bouman MP. Tailoring in the digital era: Stimulating dialogues on health topics in collaboration with social media influencers. Digit Health. 2019;5.
- 125. Raphael R. 'It's sort of the Wild West': How instagram influencers are disrupting healthcare 2019 [Available from: <u>https://www.fastcompany.com/90427946/as-the-healthcare-industry-increasingly-relies-on-influencers-concerns-mount]</u>.
- 126. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for industry: Internet/social media platforms with character space limitations presenting risk and benefit information for prescription drugs and medical devices [draft guidance] 2014 [Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/media/88551/download</u>].
- 127. Guillory J, Henes A, Farrelly MC, Fiacco L, Alam I, Curry L, et al. Awareness of and receptivity to the fresh empire tobacco public education campaign among hip hop youth. J Adolesc Health. 2020;66(3):301-7.
- 128. Cense M, de Blécourt K, Oostrik S. Activating boys to reflect on masculinity norms: The dutch campaign beat the macho. The European Health Psychologist.18(1).
- 129. Beyrer C, Weir B, Wirtz AL, Mon HH, Poonsaketwattana M, Sullivan PS, et al., editors. 1013 Social media influencers enhance recruitment of young thai MSM into PrEP intervention. Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections; 2020; Boston, MA, USA.
- 130. Jones CP. Invited commentary: "Race," racism, and the practice of epidemiology. Am J Epidemiol. 2001;154(4):299-304.
- 131. Paradies Y, Ben J, Denson N, Elias A, Priest N, Pieterse A, et al. Racism as a determinant of health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2015;10(9):e0138511.
- 132. Jones CP. Confronting institutionalized racism. Phylon (1960-2020). 2002;50:7-22.
- 133. Trent M, Dooley DG, Dougé J. The impact of racism on child and adolescent health. Pediatrics. 2019;144(2):e20191765.
- 134. Tishkoff SA, Kidd KK. Implications of biogeography of human populations for 'race' and medicine. Nat Genet. 2004;36(11):S21-S7.
- 135. Roediger DR. Working toward whiteness: How America's immigrants became white: The strange journey from Ellis Island to the suburbs: Hachette UK; 2006.

- 136. Viruell-Fuentes EA. "It's a lot of work": Racialization processes, ethnic identity formations, and their health implications. Du Bois Review: Social Science Research on Race. 2011;8(1):37-52.
- 137. Lopez IFH. The social construction of race: Some observations on illusion, fabrication, and choice. Harv CR-CLL Rev. 1994;29:1.
- 138. Herek GM. Sexual stigma and sexual prejudice in the United States: A conceptual framework. Contemporary perspectives on lesbian, gay, and bisexual identities: Springer; 2009. p. 65-111.
- 139. Nyblade L, Addo NL, Mingkwan P, Vormawor R, Stewart C, Gyamera E, et al. Understanding and responding to stigma and discrimination in health facilities in Ghana: Intervention endline report 2018 [Available from: <u>http://www.healthpolicyplus.com/ns/pubs/10263-</u> <u>10477_GhanaStigmaDiscriminationReport.pdf</u>].
- 140. Ekstrand ML, Ramakrishna J, Bharat S, Heylen E. Prevalence and drivers of HIV stigma among health providers in urban India: Implications for interventions. J Int AIDS Soc. 2013;16(3 Suppl 2):18717.
- 141. Ekstrand ML, Bharat S, Ramakrishna J, Heylen E. Blame, symbolic stigma and IHV misconceptions are associated with support for coercive measures in urban India. AIDS Behav. 2012;16(3):700-10.
- 142. Kim H-Y, Grosso A, Ky-Zerbo O, Lougue M, Stahlman S, Samadoulougou C, et al. Stigma as a barrier to health care utilization among female sex workers and men who have sex with men in Burkina Faso. Ann Epidemiol. 2018;28(1):13-9.
- 143. Bonnington O, Wamoyi J, Ddaaki W, Bukenya D, Ondenge K, Skovdal M, et al. Changing forms of HIV-related stigma along the HIV care and treatment continuum in Sub-Saharan Africa: A temporal analysis. Sex Transm Infect. 2017;93(Suppl 3).
- 144. Sabin LL, Beard J, Agyarko-Poku T, DeSilva M, Ashigbie P, Segal T, et al. "Too much sex and alcohol": Beliefs, attitudes, and behaviors of male adolescents and young men who have sex with men in Ghana. The Open AIDS Journal. 2018;12:69.
- 145. Ogunbajo A, Kershaw T, Kushwaha S, Boakye F, Wallace-Atiapah N-D, Nelson LE. Barriers, motivators, and facilitators to engagement in HIV care among HIV-infected Ghanaian men who have sex with men (msm). AIDS Behav. 2018;22(3):829-39.
- 146. Golub SA, Gamarel KE. The impact of anticipated HIV stigma on delays in HIV testing behaviors: Findings from a community-based sample of men who have sex with men and transgender women in New York City. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2013;27(11):621-7.
- 147. Logie CH, Lacombe-Duncan A, Brien N, Jones N, Lee-Foon N, Levermore K, et al. Barriers and facilitators to HIV testing among young men who have sex with men and transgender women in Kingston, Jamaica: A qualitative study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20(1):21385.
- 148. Holtzman S, Landis L, Walsh Z, Puterman E, Roberts D, Saya-Moore K. Predictors of HIV testing among men who have sex with men: A focus on men living outside major urban centres in Canada. AIDS Care. 2016;28(6):705-11.

- 149. National Institutes of Health (RFA-MH-19-142). Promoting reductions in intersectional stigma to improve the HIV prevention continuum [Available from: https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/rfa-files/RFA-MH-19-412.html].
- 150. Rao D, Elshafei A, Nguyen M, Hatzenbuehler ML, Frey S, Go VF. A systematic review of multi-level stigma interventions: State of the science and future directions. BMC Med. 2019;17(1):41.
- 151. Stangl AL, Lloyd JK, Brady LM, Holland CE, Baral S. A systematic review of interventions to reduce HIV-related stigma and discrimination from 2002 to 2013: How far have we come? J Int AIDS Soc. 2013;16:18734.
- 152. Ikeda DJ, Nyblade L, Srithanaviboonchai K, Agins BD. A quality improvement approach to the reduction of HIV-related stigma and discrimination in healthcare settings. BMJ global health. 2019;4(3):e001587.
- 153. Furness BW, Goldhammer H, Montalvo W, Gagnon K, Bifulco L, Lentine D, et al. Transforming primary care for lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender people: A collaborative quality improvement initiative. The Annals of Family Medicine. 2020;18(4):292-302.
- 154. Pulerwitz J, Oanh KTH, Akinwolemiwa D, Ashburn K, Nyblade L. Improving hospitalbased quality of care by reducing HIV-related stigma: Evaluation results from Vietnam. AIDS Behav. 2015;19(2):246-56.
- 155. Ephraim PL, Hill-Briggs F, Roter DL, Bone LR, Wolff JL, Lewis-Boyer L, et al. Improving urban African Americans' blood pressure control through multi-level interventions in the achieving blood pressure control together (ACT) study: A randomized clinical trial. Contemp Clin Trials. 2014;38(2):370-82.
- 156. Halladay JR, Donahue KE, Hinderliter AL, Cummings DM, Cene CW, Miller CL, et al. The heart healthy lenoir project-an intervention to reduce disparities in hypertension control: Study protocol. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13(1):441.
- 157. Cooper LA, Marsteller JA, Noronha GJ, Flynn SJ, Carson KA, Boonyasai RT, et al. A multi-level system quality improvement intervention to reduce racial disparities in hypertension care and control: Study protocol. Implementation Science. 2013;8(1):60.
- 158. Cykert S, Eng E, Walker P, Manning MA, Robertson LB, Arya R, et al. A system-based intervention to reduce Black-white disparities in the treatment of early stage lung cancer: A pragmatic trial at five cancer centers. Cancer medicine. 2019;8(3):1095-102.
- 159. Black KZ, Baker SL, Robertson LB, Lightfoot AF, Alexander-Bratcher KM, Befus D, et al. Antiracism organizing for culture and institutional change in cancer care. In: C.L. Ford DMG, M.A. Bruce & K.L. Gilbert (Eds.), editor. Racism: Science & tools for the public health professional. Washington, DC: American Public Health Association; 2020. p. 285-313.
- 160. McGrath PL, Levenkron JC, Knox KL, Scahill MP, Berkhoudt KS, Coury-Doniger PA. The development, reliability, and validity of a rating scale of stage-based behavioral counseling for STD/HIV prevention. J Public Health Manag Pract. 2002;8(6):54-61.

- 161. Nyblade L, Stangl A, Weiss E, Ashburn K. Combating HIV stigma in health care settings: What works? J Int AIDS Soc. 2009;12(1):15.
- 162. Taylor DC, Hamdy H. Adult learning theories: Implications for learning and teaching in medical education: Amee guide no. 83. Med Teach. 2013;35(11):e1561-e72.
- Burgess D, Van Ryn M, Dovidio J, Saha S. Reducing racial bias among health care providers: Lessons from social-cognitive psychology. J Gen Intern Med. 2007;22(6):882-7.
- 164. Nelson LE, Morrison-Beedy D. Research team training: Moving beyond job descriptions. Appl Nurs Res. 2008;21(3):159-64.
- 165. Kidd R, Clay, S., Stockton, M., and Nyblade, L. Facilitator's training guide for a stigmafree health facility. Washington DC: Futures Group, Health Policy Project. (2015) [Available from: <u>https://www.healthpolicyproject.com/pubs/281_SDTrainingGuide.pdf</u>].
- 166. Feyissa GT, Lockwood C, Woldie M, Munn Z. Reducing hiv-related stigma and discrimination in healthcare settings: A systematic review of quantitative evidence. PLoS One. 2019;14(1):e0211298.
- 167. Shapiro I. Training for racial equity and inclusion: A guide to selected programs. (2002) [Available from: <u>https://assets.aspeninstitute.org/content/uploads/files/content/docs/pubs/training_racial_e</u> <u>quity.pdf?_ga=2.161610936.523548732.1607131811-1244893953.1607131811]</u>.
- 168. Cykert S, Eng E, Manning MA, Robertson LB, Heron DE, Jones NS, et al. A multifaceted intervention aimed at black-white disparities in the treatment of early stage cancers: The accure pragmatic quality improvement trial. J Natl Med Assoc. 2019.
- 169. Pagkas-Bather J, Jaramillo J, Henry J, Grandberry V, Ramirez LF, Cervantes L, et al. What's prep?: Peer navigator acceptability among minority MSM in Washington. BMC Public Health. 2020;20(1):1-12.
- 170. Outlaw AY, Naar-King S, Parsons JT, Green-Jones M, Janisse H, Secord E. Using motivational interviewing in HIV field outreach with young African American men who have sex with men: A randomized clinical trial. Am J Public Health. 2010;100(S1):S146-S51.
- 171. Young SD, Holloway I, Jaganath D, Rice E, Westmoreland D, Coates T. Project hope: Online social network changes in an HIV prevention randomized controlled trial for African American and Latino men who have sex with men. Am J Public Health. 2014;104(9):1707-12.
- 172. Senn TE, Braksmajer A, Coury-Doniger P, Urban MA, Rossi A, Carey MP. Development and preliminary pilot testing of a peer support text messaging intervention for HIVinfected Black men who have sex with men. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes (1999). 2017;74(Suppl 2):S121.
- 173. Genberg BL, Shangani S, Sabatino K, Rachlis B, Wachira J, Braitstein P, et al. Improving engagement in the HIV care cascade: A systematic review of interventions involving people living with HIV/AIDS as peers. AIDS Behav. 2016;20(10):2452-63.

- 174. Simoni JM, Huh D, Frick PA, Pearson CR, Andrasik MP, Dunbar PJ, et al. An rct of peer support and pager messaging to promote antiretroviral therapy adherence and clinical outcomes among adults initiating or modifying therapy in seattle, wa, USA. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes (1999). 2009;52(4):465.
- 175. Hightow-Weidman LB, Smith JC, Valera E, Matthews DD, Lyons P. Keeping them in "style": Finding, linking, and retaining young HIV-positive Black and Latino men who have sex with men in care. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2011;25(1):37-45.
- 176. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Peer support [updated January 2, 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/effective-interventions/treat/peer-</u><u>support?Sort=Title%3A%3Aasc]</u>.
- 177. Johnson BT, Redding CA, DiClemente RJ, Mustanski BS, Dodge B, Sheeran P, et al. A network-individual-resource model for HIV prevention. AIDS Behav. 2010;14(2):204-21.
- 178. Ryan RM, Deci EL. Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. Am Psychol. 2000;55(1):68.
- 179. Chirkov V, Ryan RM, Kim Y, Kaplan U. Differentiating autonomy from individualism and independence: A self-determination theory perspective on internalization of cultural orientations and well-being. J Pers Soc Psychol. 2003;84(1):97.
- 180. Deci EL, Ryan RM, Gagné M, Leone DR, Usunov J, Kornazheva BP. Need satisfaction, motivation, and well-being in the work organizations of a former eastern bloc country: A cross-cultural study of self-determination. Personality and social psychology bulletin. 2001;27(8):930-42.
- 181. Chirkov VI, Ryan RM, Willness C. Cultural context and psychological needs in canada and brazil: Testing a self-determination approach to the internalization of cultural practices, identity, and well-being. J Cross Cult Psychol. 2005;36(4):423-43.
- 182. Sheldon KM, Abad N, Omoile J. Testing self-determination theory via Nigerian and Indian adolescents. International Journal of Behavioral Development. 2009;33(5):451-9.
- 183. Sheldon KM. The self-determination theory perspective on positive mental health across cultures. World Psychiatry. 2012;11(2):101.
- 184. Lynch MF, La Guardia JG, Ryan RM. On being yourself in different cultures: Ideal and actual self-concept, autonomy support, and well-being in China, Russia, and the United States. The Journal of Positive Psychology. 2009;4(4):290-304.
- 185. Hallett T, Garnett G, Mupamberiyi Z, Gregson S. Measuring effectiveness in community randomized trials of HIV prevention. Int J Epidemiol. 2008;37(1):77-87.
- 186. Boily M-C, Mâsse B, Alsallaq R, Padian NS, Eaton JW, Vesga JF, et al. HIV treatment as prevention: Considerations in the design, conduct, and analysis of cluster randomized controlled trials of combination HIV prevention. PLoS Med. 2012;9(7):e1001250.
- 187. Raymond HF, Chen Y-H, McFarland W. "Starfish sampling": A novel, hybrid approach to recruiting hidden populations. J Urban Health. 2019;96(1):55-62.

- 188. Mitchell KM, Hoots B, Dimitrov D, German D, Flynn C, Farley JE, et al. Improvements in the HIV care continuum needed to meaningfully reduce HIV incidence among men who have sex with men in Baltimore, US: A modelling study for HPTN 078. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22(3):e25246.
- 189. Metzl JM, Hansen H. Structural competency: Theorizing a new medical engagement with stigma and inequality. Soc Sci Med. 2014;103:126-33.
- 190. Metzl JM, Petty J, Olowojoba OV. Using a structural competency framework to teach structural racism in pre-health education. Soc Sci Med. 2018;199:189-201.
- 191. Bourgois P, Holmes SM, Sue K, Quesada J. Structural vulnerability: Operationalizing the concept to address health disparities in clinical care. Academic medicine: journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges. 2017;92(3):299.
- 192. Neff J, Holmes SM, Knight KR, Strong S, Thompson-Lastad A, McGuinness C, et al. Structural competency: Curriculum for medical students, residents, and interprofessional teams on the structural factors that produce health disparities. MedEdPORTAL. 2020;16.
- 193. Needle RH, Trotter RT, Singer M, Bates C, Page JB, Metzger D, et al. Rapid assessment of the HIV/AIDS crisis in racial and ethnic minority communities: An approach for timely community interventions. Am J Public Health. 2003;93(6):970-9.
- 194. Trotter RT, Needle RH, Goosby E, Bates C, Singer M. A methodological model for rapid assessment, response, and evaluation: The rare program in public health. Field methods. 2001;13(2):137-59.
- 195. Aarons GA, Hurlburt M, Horwitz SM. Advancing a conceptual model of evidence-based practice implementation in public service sectors. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research. 2011;38(1):4-23.
- 196. Komaromy M, Ceballos V, Zurawski A, Bodenheimer T, Thom DH, Arora S. Extension for community healthcare outcomes (echo): A new model for community health worker training and support. J Public Health Policy. 2018;39(2):203-16.
- 197. Struminger B, Arora S, Zalud-Cerrato S, Lowrance D, Ellerbrock T. Building virtual communities of practice for health. The Lancet. 2017;390(10095):632-4.
- 198. Ortwein H, Fröhmel A, Burger W. Application of standardized patients in teaching, learning and assessment. Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol. 2006;56(1):23-9.
- 199. Levenkron JC, Greenland P, Bowley N. Using patient instructors to teach behavioral counseling skills. J Med Educ. 1987.
- 200. Delea MG, Sclar GD, Woreta M, Haardörfer R, Nagel CL, Caruso BA, et al. Collective efficacy: Development and validation of a measurement scale for use in public health and development programmes. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(10):2139.
- 201. Frost DM, Meyer IH. Measuring community connectedness among diverse sexual minority populations. J Sex Res. 2012;49(1):36-49.
- 202. Vaglio J, Conard M, Poston WS, O'Keefe J, Haddock CK, House J, et al. Testing the performance of the enrichd social support instrument in cardiac patients. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2004;2(1):1-5.

- 203. Nick EA, Cole DA, Cho S-J, Smith DK, Carter TG, Zelkowitz RL. The online social support scale: Measure development and validation. Psychol Assess. 2018;30(9):1127.
- 204. Kipp AM, Audet CM, Earnshaw VA, Owens J, McGowan CC, Wallston KA. Revalidation of the van rie HIV/AIDS-related stigma scale for use with people living with HIV in the United States. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):e0118836.
- 205. Reisner SL, Moore CS, Asquith A, Pardee DJ, Mayer KH. Gender non-affirmation from cisgender male partners: Development and validation of a brief stigma scale for HIV research with transgender men who have sex with men (trans MSM). AIDS Behav. 2020;24(1):331-43.
- 206. Diaz RM, Ayala G, Bein E, Henne J, Marin BV. The impact of homophobia, poverty, and racism on the mental health of gay and bisexual Latino men: Findings from 3 US cities. Am J Public Health. 2001;91(6):927.
- 207. Williams DR, Yu Y, Jackson JS, Anderson NB. Racial differences in physical and mental health: Socio-economic status, stress and discrimination. J Health Psychol. 1997;2(3):335-51.
- 208. Campón RR, Carter RT. The appropriated racial oppression scale: Development and preliminary validation. Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology. 2015;21(4):497.
- 209. Tran H, Ross MW, Diamond PM, Berg RC, Weatherburn P, Schmidt AJ. Structural validation and multiple group assessment of the short internalized homonegativity scale in homosexual and bisexual men in 38 European countries: Results from the European MSM internet survey. The Journal of Sex Research. 2018;55(4-5):617-29.
- 210. Smith BW, Dalen J, Wiggins K, Tooley E, Christopher P, Bernard J. The brief resilience scale: Assessing the ability to bounce back. Int J Behav Med. 2008;15(3):194-200.
- 211. Sherer M, Maddux JE, Mercandante B, Prentice-Dunn S, Jacobs B, Rogers RW. The selfefficacy scale: Construction and validation. Psychol Rep. 1982;51(2):663-71.
- 212. Hanna KM. An adolescent and young adult condom self-efficacy scale. J Pediatr Nurs. 1999;14(1):59-66.
- 213. Barkley Jr TW, Burns JL. Factor analysis of the condom use self-efficacy scale among multicultural college students. Health Educ Res. 2000;15(4):485-9.
- 214. Rosenbaum PR, Rubin DB. The central role of the propensity score in observational studies for causal effects. Biometrika. 1983;70(1):41-55.
- 215. Sullivan PS, Mouhanna F, Mera R, Pembleton E, Castel AD, Jaggi C, et al. Methods for county-level estimation of pre-exposure prophylaxis coverage and application to the US ending the HIV epidemic jurisdictions. Ann Epidemiol. 2020.
- 216. Smith DK, Van Handel M, Grey J. Estimations of persons with indications for preexposure prophylaxis: A web-based modeling tool for public health practice [Available from: <u>https://prepind.shinyapps.io/prepind2/</u>].

- 217. Nyblade L, Jain A, Benkirane M, Li L, Lohiniva AL, McLean R, et al. A brief, standardized tool for measuring HIV-related stigma among health facility staff: Results of field testing in China, Dominica, Egypt, Kenya, Puerto Rico and St. Christopher & Nevis. J Int AIDS Soc. 2013;16:18718.
- 218. Logie C, Bridge TJ, Bridge PD. Evaluating the phobias, attitudes, and cultural competence of master of social work students toward the LGBT populations. J Homosex. 2007;53(4):201-21.
- 219. Pulerwitz J, Barker G. Measuring attitudes toward gender norms among young men in Brazil: Development and psychometric evaluation of the gem scale. Men and Masculinities. 2008;10(3):322-38.

APPENDIX IA: SCHEDULE OF EVALUATIONS AND PROCEDURES (Local LDMS) Communities that have a local LDMS Laboratory

	Baseline (Month 0)	Post implementation (Year 3)		
Procedures	T			
	Intervention and	Intervention and SOC		
Administrative and Bahavianal Evolutions/Dressdures	SOC communities	communities		
Administrative and Denavioral Evaluations/Procedures	v	v		
Eligibility Assessment				
DTID Assignment				
Limited Contact/Locator Information	X V	<u></u> Х		
Coupon Disbursement (for RDS)	X	<u>Х</u>		
Reimbursement Provision	X	<u> </u>		
Social Harm Assessment	X	<u> </u>		
CASI Assessment (including demographics)	X	X		
Provision of link to online survey	X	X		
Counseling	<u> </u>			
Offer condoms, lubricant, prevention materials	X	Х		
Clinical Evaluations/Procedures				
Fingerstick collection of dried blood spots (DBS)	Х	Х		
Blood collection for HIV and viral load testing ^a	X	Х		
Blood collection for plasma storage ^a	X	Х		
Ship blood samples to the commercial lab for testing ^b	Х	Х		
Transfer DBS and blood samples to the local LDMS laboratory	Х	Х		
Provision of mail-in HIV test kit or voucher (if desired)	Х	Х		
Laboratory Evaluations/Procedures (Commercial)				
HIV testing ^c	X	Х		
HIV viral load testing (if HIV positive) ^d	X	Х		
Laboratory Evaluations/Procedures (Local LDMS Lab)				
DBS processing and storage ^e	X	Х		
Plasma processing and storage ^f	X	Х		
DBS and plasma shipping to HPTN LC laboratories, when requested ^g	X	Х		

^a Separate blood specimens will be collected for testing at the commercial laboratory and for plasma storage.

^b Blood specimens for testing at the commercial laboratory should be labeled and shipped to the commercial laboratory following procedures in the SSP Manual.

^c HIV testing will be performed at a commercial laboratory designated by the HPTN LC. The HPTN LC will determine/approve the algorithm used for HIV testing. Results from this testing will be submitted to the SDMC by study staff; these results will not be returned to study participants by the HPTN LC.

^d HIV viral load testing will be performed at the commercial laboratory for participants with HIV infection. These results will be submitted to the SDMC by study staff; these results will not be returned to study participants.

^e DBS samples must be delivered to the local LDMS laboratory within 24 hours of collection (see SSP Manual). The laboratory may also receive DBS samples within 48 hours of collection shipped from other HPTN 096 communities that do not have a local LDMS laboratory (see SSP Manual). The laboratory will label the DBS samples in LDMS and store the DBS samples following procedures in the SSP Manual. DBS samples will be used for specialized laboratory assessments at the HPTN LC. These assessments will be performed retrospectively; results will not be returned to study sites or participants.

^f Blood samples must be delivered to the local LDMS laboratory within 6 hours of collection. The laboratory will prepare LDMS-labeled plasma aliquots and store the aliquots following procedures in the SSP Manual. Stored plasma will be used for quality assurance testing and other exploratory assessments at the HPTN LC, see Section 10.3. These assessments will be performed retrospectively; results will not be returned to study sites or participants.

^g The HPTN LC will provide specimen lists for DBS and sample shipping to HPTN laboratories. Instructions for specimen shipping will be provided in the SSP Manual.

APPENDIX IB: SCHEDULE OF EVALUATIONS AND PROCEDURES (No Local LDMS)

Communities that DO NOT have a loc	ocal LDMS Laboratory
------------------------------------	----------------------

Procedures	Baseline (Month 0) Intervention and SOC communities	Post implementation (Year 3) Intervention and SOC communities		
Administrative and Behavioral Evaluations/Procedures				
Informed Consent	Х	Х		
Eligibility Assessment	Х	Х		
PTID Assignment	Х	Х		
Limited Contact/Locator Information	Х	Х		
Coupon Disbursement (for RDS)	Х	Х		
Reimbursement Provision	Х	Х		
Social Harm Assessment	Х	Х		
CASI Assessment (including demographics)	Х	Х		
Provision of link to online survey	Х	Х		
Counseling				
Offer condoms, lubricant, prevention materials	Х	Х		
Clinical Evaluations/Procedures				
Fingerstick collection of dried blood spots (DBS)	Х	Х		
Blood collection for HIV and viral load testing ^a	Х	Х		
Ship blood samples to the commercial lab for testing ^a	Х	Х		
Ship DBS samples to the designated HPTN 096 LDMS laboratory ^b	X	Х		
Provision of mail-in HIV test kit or voucher (if desired)	X	X		
Laboratory Evaluations/Procedures (Commercial)				
HIV testing ^c	Х	Х		
HIV viral load testing (if HIV positive) ^d	X	X		

^a Blood specimens will be collected for HIV and viral load testing at the commercial laboratory. These samples should be labeled and shipped to the commercial laboratory following procedures in the SSP Manual.

^b For communities that do not have a local LDMS laboratory, DBS samples will be shipped to a designated HPTN 096 LDMS laboratory (see SSP Manual). DBS samples must be received at the LDMS laboratory within 48 hours of collection.

^c HIV testing will be performed at a commercial laboratory designated by the HPTN LC. The HPTN LC will determine/approve the algorithm used for HIV testing. Results from this testing will be submitted to the SDMC by study staff; these results will not be returned to study participants by the HPTN LC.

^d HIV viral load testing will be performed at the commercial laboratory for participants with HIV infection. Results from this testing will be submitted to the SDMC by study staff; these results will not be returned to study participants.

APPENDIX II: HPTN 096 PILOT SCHEMA, PROTOCOL, AND INFORMED CONSENT FORMS

APPENDIX IIA: HPTN 096 PILOT SCHEMA

Pilot Purpose: The purpose of the HPTN 096 pilot is to identify challenges and refine all components of the integrated strategy, as well as the cross-sectional assessment, prior to full study implementation.

Pilot Design: The pilot is a scaled-down version of the protocol that will be implemented in a subset (two pairs) of the selected matched-pair study communities (i.e., two intervention and two control communities). During the pilot, all four components of the integrated strategy will be conducted in the two pilot intervention communities. The cross-sectional assessment will be implemented in all four pilot communities. To the extent possible, study components will be implemented with fidelity to the planned design and activities as described for full implementation in the main study protocol, except that they will be conducted in fewer communities. In some cases, activities may be condensed or prioritized to conform to the pilot period timeframe. During the pilot, activities to prepare for full study implementation after the pilot will concurrently be conducted in all remaining communities (both intervention and control). The pilot will represent the start of study implementation for the four pilot communities.

Pilot Integrated Strategy Components: The four pilot study components are described below:

Health Equity: During the pilot, one community coalition will be established in each of the two pilot intervention communities. Local community-based organizations will be engaged to serve as organizers, coordinators, and implementers of the coalitions in their communities. After coalitions are established, prioritization will be given to implementing a limited set of HPTN 096 community coalition activities within the remainder of the pilot period, as time allows. These activities include study-specific training, initial resource mapping, one equity forum and activities that synergize with the other intervention components. In addition, the web-based resource guide platform for coalitions to use to house a curated list of service providers will be developed.

Social Media Influencers (SMI): During the pilot, at least two and up to four SMI will be identified in each of the four pilot communities (2 intervention and 2 control), for up to a total of 16 SMI. In the intervention communities only, SMI will provide messaging on HIV-related topics as described in the main study protocol. In both intervention and control communities, SMI will promote cross-sectional assessment activities as described in the main study protocol.

Intersectional Stigma Reduction: During the pilot, two healthcare facilities (HCFs) in each of the pilot intervention communities will be selected to participate in the pilot (four HCFs total). In these four pilot HCFs, staff will complete the primary elements of the intervention as described in the main study protocol, as follows: >75% of relevant staff (e.g., the clinical staff who directly provide HIV treatment or prevention services, and the non-clinical staff who support or provide administrative leadership to them) at each facility will complete the Foundation training, and a subset of staff at each facility will complete an abridged Extension for Community Healthcare Outcomes (ECHO)

curriculum, participate in Quality Improvement (QI) activities, and participate in simulated client-instructor experiences.

Peer Support: During the pilot, four peer support workers will be hired and trained to provide practical and emotional support to Black MSM in each of the two pilot intervention communities. The training and oversight of the peer support workers will be conducted as described in the main study protocol. A web-based platform will be established to support the program.

Pilot Baseline Cross-Sectional Assessment: The pilot cross-sectional assessment will be conducted in the two pilot intervention communities and the two control communities with which they are paired. The assessment will be conducted as described in the main study protocol, including a sample size of 100 Black MSM in each of the four communities for a total of 400 individuals. The pilot cross-sectional assessment will serve as the baseline assessment in these four communities.

Community Engagement: Community engagement will be directed at three levels: 1) general awareness of the study, 2) component-specific engagement, and 3) indirect recruitment for the cross-sectional assessment. Each level of engagement will specifically target appropriate audiences using various methods of engagement. During the pilot, a stakeholder mapping exercise will be completed to determine appropriate stakeholders at each level of engagement, and how much engagement, communication or consideration is needed. This will allow better prioritization of stakeholders and for focused efforts at each individual level of engagement in the most impactful way.

Pilot Communities: A total of 16 study communities (making up 8 matched pairs) will participate in full protocol implementation; however, the pilot will include only four of these communities – two intervention communities and the two control communities with which they are paired. These two pairs will be chosen after all study communities are randomized such that the integrated strategy and cross-sectional assessment is conducted in a variety of different environments during the pilot.

Pilot Duration: The pilot will be conducted in two parts, preparation (pre-implementation) and implementation, with preparation lasting approximately 8 months in pilot communities and implementation lasting up to 9 months in pilot communities. Preparation will continue throughout the pilot period in the non-pilot communities. The figure below depicts the pilot duration in the context of the overall study timeline.



Summary of Pilot Outcome Measures: The outcome measures for the pilot are designed to monitor the success of establishing and implementing the four components of the intervention and community engagement in two intervention communities, and the cross-sectional assessment in the two intervention communities and the two control communities with which they are paired. The primary, secondary and exploratory objectives described for the full study will not be used as outcome measures for the pilot. However, many of the process measures described in the main study protocol will be used to assess the success of the pilot and are reiterated within the description of the pilot. In addition, during the pilot period, activities to prepare for full study implementation in non-pilot communities will also be used as a measure of success of the pilot; specifically, gaining agreement of laboratories in all 16 communities, and HCFs in all 8 intervention communities, will be key measures of success.

APPENDIX IIB: HPTN 096 PILOT PROTOCOL

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE PILOT

The overall purpose of the HPTN 096 pilot is to identify challenges and refine all components of the integrated intervention strategy and the cross-sectional assessment before full study implementation. In line with the precedence set with other NIH-sponsored trials, this pilot will be an opportunity to potentially refine the protocol, improve operational feasibility, enhance community participation, and increase stakeholder engagement before implementing the integrated strategy in all study communities at full capacity. In addition, the pilot will be a chance to identify and address any unforeseen impediments to reaching Black MSM with this integrated approach and explore how the intervention components may work synergistically or antagonistically with one another. Most critically, the pilot will allow the study team to identify and find solutions for anticipated (and unanticipated) challenges so that the integrated strategy can be implemented with fidelity and synergy within complex environments during full implementation.

It is anticipated that the pilot will address potential challenges such as the potential for community coverage, how the intervention components will interact with one another, and how the impact of the intervention components will be measured. In addition, a vital part of the pilot will be establishing and maintaining sustainable community engagement -- especially the support and engagement of Black MSM -- as well as maintaining close collaboration between the study team, CDC, HRSA, and other entities funding and implementing the Ending the HIV Epidemic (EHE) initiative. Unlike the main study protocol, the pilot is not designed to demonstrate changes in the study's primary outcomes (e.g., PrEP uptake, viral suppression) due to the pilot's short time frame and small scale. Lessons learned during the pilot will serve to improve the final study design and increase the chances of success when the study is fully implemented in all communities.

2.0 OVERVIEW OF THE PILOT DESIGN

The approach for the pilot will involve implementation of a scaled-down version of the protocol in a subset (two pairs) of the selected matched-pair study communities (i.e., two intervention and two standard of care communities). During the pilot, all four components of the integrated strategy will be conducted in the two pilot intervention communities. The cross-sectional assessment will be implemented in all four communities. The pilot will represent the start of study implementation for the four pilot communities. In this way, the pilot will serve as a staggered start of the full study (see Pilot Appendix Figure 1). To adhere to the communityrandomized design of the main study protocol, it is critical that implementation of the study begin and end in each pair at the same time, but the start of each individual pair may vary. Statistical considerations for the pilot, including a description of how the pilot activities and data from pilot communities will be factored into the overall study analyses, is included in Pilot Appendix Section 11.0.

To the extent possible, study components will be implemented with fidelity to the planned design and activities as described for full implementation in the main study protocol, except that they will be conducted in fewer communities. In some cases, activities may be condensed or

prioritized to ensure that they are able to be tested during the pilot period timeframe. A natural period of implementation scale-up is to be expected in any implementation context, so while the pilot may involve smaller scale implementation than described in the main study protocol (e.g., fewer peer support workers, fewer health care facilities) a similar trajectory is expected to occur naturally in non-pilot communities when implementation of the full study begins. However, for the full study, initial implementation is generally expected to start at a larger scale before ramping up quickly to full implementation. Where prioritization of activities is required, activities selected for implementation in the pilot are those that are anticipated to be the most challenging or consequential for the success of the study component and thus require testing in the pilot. Pilot Appendix Sections 4.0, 5.0, 6.0 and 7.0 summarize the pilot activities for each component of the integrated strategy and identify where planned pilot activities may differ from those described in the main study protocol. Implementation of the integrated strategy in the pilot intervention communities is anticipated to continue past the pilot period for the full duration of study implementation, eventually reaching full scale implementation of each component in the pilot communities after the pilot period. Transition from pilot to full study implementation is described in Pilot Appendix Section 12.0.

2.1 Assessment of Pilot Outcome Measures

Pilot outcome measures for each component of the integrated strategy and the cross-sectional assessment, as well as community engagement efforts, are described in each respective section below. Pilot outcome measures have been selected based on their ability to serve as indicators of operational and feasibility success and are not intended to demonstrate changes in the main study outcome measures (i.e., viral suppression or PrEP use). In general, assessment of pilot outcomes will be continuous to allow for real-time adjustments to implementation. Indicators of success span the entire pilot time period and will largely be assessed in the four pilot communities (as applicable); however, some indicators will also assess the success of activities in preparation for full implementation in non-pilot communities. Specifically, gaining agreement of laboratories in all 16 communities, and HCFs in all 8 intervention communities, will be key measures of success.

Indicators will be evaluated and reported on an indicator-specific basis; those that are met quickly will be reported formally and in writing to the study sponsor as they are determined, rather than reporting on all indicators at the end of the pilot period. This approach will allow for adequate time to incorporate all lessons learned into the study protocol and into study procedures in advance of implementing the full study and will provide as much time as possible for review by the study sponsor.

2.2 Timeline for Pilot

The timeline for the pilot is from August 2021 through December 2022. This timeline is inclusive of pre-implementation activities, which will occur in pilot communities between September 2021 and April 2022, as well as assessment of pilot outcome measures. Additional time will be needed to complete retrospective testing of specimens collected in the pilot study (HPTN LC testing). Note that completion of this testing and analysis of test results are not included in the pilot study outcome measures. The start of implementation of the baseline cross-sectional assessment will mark the starting point of the study implementation period in the four

pilot communities, and is anticipated for April 2022, though this timeline may shift depending on readiness of the pilot communities. For the pilot, implementation of the integrated strategy will begin in parallel with the start of the baseline cross-sectional assessment, as it is not expected that implementation of the integrated strategy in intervention communities will produce immediate changes in study outcome measures detectable at the population level that may interfere with a baseline assessment.

Pilot Appendix Figure 1 summarizes the timeline for the pilot and how the pilot is integrated into the full study timeline.



Pilot Appendix Figure 1. Pilot and Full Study Implementation Timeline

2.3 Activities in Non-Pilot Communities during Pilot Implementation

If the pilot demonstrates success, full implementation of the main study protocol in all matched pairs is expected to begin shortly after completion of the pilot phase, after a short transition period for final assessment of pilot outcomes and incorporation of lessons learned into the main study protocol and study procedures (see Pilot Appendix Section 12.0). In anticipation of full implementation, pre-implementation activities will concurrently be conducted in all non-pilot communities (both intervention and control) during the pilot period; rather, pre-implementation activities will focus on building a solid foundation and infrastructure on which to begin study implementation once the full study begins, such as identifying local implementing partners and building awareness. Pre-implementation activities planned for the pilot period that are related to each component of the integrated strategy and the cross-sectional assessment are specified in the respective sections below.

3.0 PILOT STUDY COMMUNITIES

Two study community pairs, which will include two intervention and two control communities, will be chosen for the pilot. The overarching principle used to choose these two pairs is to conduct the pilot in a wide variety of settings so that the lessons learned from the pilot will be generalizable to all 16 study communities. The pilot communities will be chosen primarily using the following parameters:

- Community size, using the urban influencer code
 - Both small and large communities will be included as pilot communities
- BTAN establishment*
 - Communities with a local or statewide BTAN chapter or affiliate and one without an established BTAN will be included as pilot communities

*Note: This criterion was used to choose pilot communities based on the original intention to partner with Black AIDS Institute using the BTAN model for the Health Equity component. As described in Pilot Appendix 4.0, the Black AIDS Institute will no longer serve as implementing partner for the Health Equity component. However, this decision was made after this criterion was used in the pilot selection process.

- LDMS laboratory capacity
 - Communities with and without established LDMS laboratories will be included as pilot communities

In addition, the presence of Black leadership and/or organizations by and for Black MSM will be taken into consideration, as this may facilitate pilot implementation in a short time frame.

4.0 HEALTH EQUITY PILOT COMPONENT

4.1 Pilot Component Description

The health equity component as described in the protocol involves establishment of community coalitions to shape community social norms within the local service sectors to be supportive of wide-scale adoption of HIV testing, PrEP use and treatment engagement to reduce HIV inequities among Black MSM. This basic concept and design will remain the same during the pilot; however, community coalitions will no longer be based on the Black Treatment Advocates Networks (BTAN) model administered by the Black AIDS Institute. Instead, community coalitions will be established through local community-based organizations (CBOs), with CBOs serving as the primary implementing partner in each community to coordinate and administer the coalitions, and study-specific coalition activities guided by Pilot Appendix Table 1 below. Additionally, during the pilot period, coalitions will only be fully established in the two pilot intervention communities, with the primary goal being to have the two coalitions in place by the end of the pilot period.

Formative work by local CBOs to establish the coalitions in their communities will occur generally as described in the protocol. A community engagement strategy will be developed for

CBOs to use as a resource to guide this work. This strategy will be tested and refined during the pilot period with the two pilot intervention communities and will be used during the preparatory period in non-pilot communities.

The full set of activities that an HPTN 096 community coalition would be expected to engage in during the course of the HPTN 096 study are described in Pilot Appendix Table 1. As described in the main protocol, HPTN 096 community coalitions will <u>facilitate</u> the effects of the other HPTN 096 components by promoting norms within the local service sectors (e.g., social, legal, economic) that support the strategic prioritization of access to resources and services for Black MSM that can minimize barriers to HIV testing, PrEP use and viral suppression; and they will <u>amplify</u> the effect of the other HPTN 096 components through the integration and promotion of HPTN 096 into its community mobilization activities, thereby increasing Black MSM's receptivity to the use of HIV testing, PrEP and other HIV prevention services, ART, and virtual peer support.

HP1N 096 Community Coalition Model							
	Facilitation		Amplification				
• • • • •	Convene monthly coalition meetings to plan HPTN 096-related activities Participate in CRISP (intersectional stigma reduction) foundation training. Completion of study-specific coalition training, including structural competency, civil engagement policy and advocacy, and HIV scientific literacy. Participate in at least one annual refresher training on HIV prevention, scientific literacy policy, advocacy, civil engagement, and structural competency. Initial rapid mapping exercise to identify local resources and services that may help alleviate structural impediments to HIV testing, PrEP and/or treatment for Black MSM. Annual "booster" mapping activity to assess changes in landscape of local resources and services. Convene multi-sector (e.g., education, housing, legal services) service provider equity forum(s) (with follow-up events at most annually thereafter) to: Raise awareness of EHE goals Raise awareness of HPTN 096 Illustrate the connection between their services and EHE goals Encourage cooperation to leverage their services to reducing structural barriers to HIV prevention for Black MSM		Localize and incorporate HPTN 096 messages through coalition outreach, other community outreach and communication, and educational channels, including raising awareness of other HPTN 096 study components. Collaborate on HCFs action planning to support CRISP intervention. Annual Community Coalition Best Practices meeting to share best practices re: HCF collaborations, resource mapping exercise, and any other amplification strategies. At least one annual advocacy event focused on intersectional stigma reduction with Black MSM At least one annual science event focused on current advances in HIV prevention and treatment (e.g., PrEP options, ART options, HIV/STI self- testing options).				

Pilot Appendix Table 1. HPTN 096 Community Coalition Program Model

Given the anticipated time required to establish coalitions during the pilot period and the short duration of the pilot, the pilot coalitions will not be expected to complete all HPTN 096 community coalition activities as described in Pilot Appendix Table 1 within the pilot period. Once coalitions are established, activities will be prioritized for completion during the pilot period as follows:

- Completion of study-specific coalition training, including structural competency training
- Initial rapid mapping exercise to identify local resources and services

- Completion of monthly coalition meetings
- Incorporation of HPTN 096 messages through community outreach, including raising awareness of other HPTN 096 study components
- Convening of multi-sector service provider equity forum

Additionally, the web-based platform that will host the curated roster of services identified through the rapid mapping and equity forum activities will be designed, developed, tested and built during the pilot period. This platform will be developed centrally for use by the local community coalitions. It is not expected that coalitions will complete the curated list of service providers with which to populate the web-based platform within the pilot period, though the pilot coalitions may begin the process of identifying local service providers and populating the platform during the pilot period for the purposes of functionality testing of the platform.

4.2 Preparatory Activities in Non-Pilot Communities

While community coalitions will not formally be established in any non-pilot intervention communities during the pilot period, formative work will take place in these communities during the pilot period to identify and establish potential CBO partnerships for coalition building once full implementation commences. In each non-pilot intervention community, this formative work will include implementation of the community engagement strategy, including community outreach and partnership building activities. During the pilot period, in non-pilot intervention communities, the goal will be to identify local CBO partners who can establish the foundation upon which coalitions can be built during the full implementation period. This includes putting in a place a Memorandum of Agreement with at least one CBO in each non-pilot intervention community by the end of the pilot period which will set the terms for community mobilization and coalition building activities once full implementation is initiated.

4.3 Pilot Outcome Measures

A sub-set of health equity component process measures described in the protocol, generalized to community coalitions rather than BTAN chapters, will be used to assess outcomes of the pilot. Specific pilot measures that will be assessed in <u>pilot intervention communities</u> include:

- Agreement in place with local CBO to serve as implementing partner in each pilot intervention community
- CBO establishment of community coalition in each pilot intervention community and length of time required for establishment
- Number/types of engagement activities used by CBOs in the formation of the community coalitions
- Number of meetings and attendance at each meeting for each pilot intervention community coalition
- Composition of each pilot intervention community coalition (number of people, number and types of organizations represented, roles/positions of members, sexual orientation and gender identity of members)

- Metrics of engagement of pilot community coalition members (e.g., number and percentage of members who participate in each type of coalition activity)
- Number, type and timing of HPTN 096 community coalition activities completed by each intervention coalition within the pilot period

Additionally, success of engagement with <u>non-pilot intervention communities</u> for the purposes of laying the foundation for establishing community coalitions in those communities in the full implementation period will be assessed at the end of the pilot period. Metrics for success include:

• Memoranda of Agreement signed by local CBO implementing partners in each non-pilot intervention community declaring intention to establish community coalitions once the full implementation period begins.

4.4 Human Subjects Considerations

There are no differences with regard to human subjects considerations between the pilot and what is described in the main study protocol for the health equity component.

5.0 SMI PILOT COMPONENT

5.1 Pilot Component Description

During the pilot, the SMI component is expected to be conducted as described in the main study protocol, with the exception being that it will not be carried out in all study communities. At least 2 and up to four SMI, which is the upper limit of the range described in the main study protocol, will be identified in each of the four pilot communities (2 intervention and 2 control), for up to a total of 16 SMI. In the pilot intervention communities, SMI will provide messaging on HIV-related topics, as well as the promotion of other study components, as described in the main study protocol. In both intervention and control communities, SMI will promote cross-sectional assessment activities as described in the main study protocol.

As described in the main protocol, the protocol team will rely on the Community Strategy Group (CSG), Community Advisory Group (CAG) and a social media firm to identify and vet SMI who have a following in the local Black MSM community. The selected SMI will be trained, expected to post on a regular basis based on given prompts, and monitored, as described in the main protocol. As part of the pilot, input on the training, prompts, posting and messaging will be sought from the SMI chosen for the study, and potentially, from other SMI who are familiar with the study population, HIV-related messaging and/or study promotion. The pilot will also serve as an opportunity to determine what type of messages (both content and media), post frequency, and, potentially, social media platforms result in the highest engagement.

In addition, the study team will use an advertising-based methodology to disseminate information via social media. Black MSM, or other individuals who are recognized by or are known to have influence in the Black gay community, will be approached to create content; however, existing content will also be considered, such as HIV-related content made by public health institutions, foundations, public-private partnerships, or other organizations that support Black MSM. While existing content may be readily available and professionally produced, new content will augment resources that may resonate with Black MSM because it is non-
establishment, relatable, based on lived experience, and unique. This combination of new and existing content will allow the team to create a library of advertisements so that messaging remains fresh. By creating social media advertisements with both existing and newly created content, the study will leverage the broad knowledge and experience of the Black gay community, as well as existing resources, to reach Black MSM within study specific communities. While social media advertising has been used by others to disseminate health information with the goal of behavioral change, the innovation of this approach will be that the campaign takes place within a community where the barriers that Black MSM face with regard to HIV prevention and care are being lowered by the other three study components. These ads are intended to encourage men to seek out HIV testing, PrEP and care, and they will be doing so in an environment where these options are more accessible and welcoming.

One of the current limitations of social media advertising is that it cannot be used to target ads based on race or sexual orientation. Instead, advertisers try to reach their intended audience by choosing interests – for example specific entertainers or popular celebrities – that the social media algorithms use to distribute the content. But how social media platforms currently work, it is not possible to determine who sees the ads beyond location, age and gender. For example, an ad can be sent to men in Dallas who have expressed interest in RuPaul, Queen Sugar and Diana Ross – but social media metrics do not measure and report if Black MSM see the ad. HPTN 096 will gather data using standard website analytics tools and methods from the people who see these ads to determine if they are reaching the study population.

5.2 Pilot Outcome Measures

For activities involving social media influencers, the pilot outcome measures for the SMI component are the same as described as the process measures for this component in the main protocol, with one exception, and are reiterated below. The one exception is that in the main study protocol, "time spent on links/videos" is included, and for the pilot, this measure has been replaced with "number of views per post." The reason for this change is because some social media platforms do not consider engagement as a "view" until a certain amount of time has been spent, thus, it was felt that enumerating the number of views per post is a better measure of engagement.

Measures of penetration of the SMI activities:

- Number of SMIs in each region/community
- Metrics of social media engagement, including the following:
 - Clicks on links/videos
 - Number of views per post
 - Number/types/demographics of followers of SMIs
 - Number and types of reposts/retweets
 - Comments (stratified by social media platform and SMI components)
 - Types of content developed
- Measures of fidelity to the planned SMI activities:

- Retention rate of SMIs in each community
- Frequency of SMIs postings and activity
- Content analysis of SMIs' postings and activity as compared to content guide

For activities involving social media advertising, all ads will be monitored for reach and engagement. These data will be captured in real-time and used to adjust subsequent ads. As all ads will include a link back to the HPTN 096 webpage, the team will monitor both social media advertising and website metrics. This monitoring will include the temporal relationship between ad distribution and ad engagement. In addition, website and ad viewing data collection measures will also include short, non-invasive, anonymous, questions asked to viewers of ads and those who land on the HPTN 096 webpage (e.g., a pop-up window that asks, "Is the information on this website useful to you?") and may also collect information about race, gender and sexual orientation.

In addition to determining whether the ads are reaching the study population, the team may conduct A/B testing to compare different ads, or different distribution elements (e.g., the interests used to target the ads), to determine which approach works best. Some social media platforms (e.g., Meta, which includes Facebook and Instagram) have the capacity to distribute two ads simultaneously to two equivalent segments of the intended audience, ensuring that no one sees both ads. This allows for a head-to-head comparison of the performance of each ad. Lessons learned from this testing will be incorporated into the next iterations of ad distribution.

Process measures for social media advertising will include:

- Measures of penetration of the social media activities:
 - Number, topic, type (e.g., video, text-based, etc.) and the social media platform used for distribution of all social media advertisements deployed in each intervention community
- Metrics of social media advertising engagement, including the following:
 - Impressions (number of views) and reach (number of unique individuals viewing each ad). These metrics will be compared to the estimated number of Black MSM in each study community.
 - Clicks on embedded links
 - Number and types of other engagement (e.g., saves, likes, comments, reposts, etc.)
- Measures of engagement with and use of the HPTN 096 website
 - As all ads will include links back to the HPTN 096 website, website analytics will be used to capture engagement, which will include, but are not limited to:
 - User location
 - Page views
 - Average time on page
 - Average session duration
 - New and repeat visitors

- Event tracking (captures actions visitors do on the page, for example going from one page to another)
- To determine if Black MSM are seeing the ads, pop-up questions will be employed to collect additional anonymous information on those who click on the ad links and land on the HPTN 096 webpage. These questions may include, but are not limited to:
 - Yes/no feedback on utility of information provided on website
 - Questions about whether the user likes the ads/website
 - Questions to better understand who is viewing the ads, such as race, sexual orientation, and gender identity
- Measures of fidelity to the planned social media activities:
 - Creation and distribution of at least four social media advertisements each quarter (16 per year) to intervention communities

5.3 Human Subjects Considerations

In general, there are no differences with regard to human subjects considerations between the pilot and what is described in the main study protocol for the SMI component. However, the limited data that will be collected from some people who see and interact with the social media advertisements is considered to be human subjects research. As individuals will not be enrolled in the study and data will be collected anonymously, it is expected that this activity will meet the definition for exemption under 45 CFR 46.104(d)(2)(i). The questions to be answered anonymously will be submitted to and approved by the IRB prior to implementation.

5.4 Preparatory Activities in Non-Pilot Communities

During the pilot, preparation will take place so that the SMI component can be conducted in all non-pilot communities after the pilot ends. These preparatory activities will include:

- Identification and, if funding allows, procurement of the social media firm that will be used for implementation of the full study
- Identification and vetting of SMI in all non-pilot communities
- As funding allows, contracts will be put into place with the identified SMI, and, if this takes place, these SMI will undergo initial training.

6.0 INTERSECTIONAL STIGMA REDUCTION PILOT COMPONENT

6.1 Pilot Component Description

The Culturally Responsive Intersectional Stigma Prevention (CRISP) component, as described in the main study protocol, involves three phases (Foundation, Installation, and Implementation), with certain activities associated with each phase. During the pilot, the goal will be to have an opportunity to implement key activities within each of these phases, to ensure the entire package is able to be implemented and refined. To accomplish this within the timeframe of the pilot, implementation will occur at only two health care facilities (HCFs) in each of the two pilot intervention communities, for a total for 4 pilot HCFs. The pilot HCFs will each represent different healthcare environments and a range of size and type of facility will be targeted for inclusion (e.g., community health center, AIDS service organization, hospital, etc.). This small number of HCFs will allow for implementation of more elements of CRISP within the shorter pilot period; additionally, some activities within the Installation and Implementation phases will be implemented concurrently, rather than sequentially as described in the main study protocol. Specific activities for the pilot implementation of CRISP are described in the following subsections, and a summary of the CRISP implementation plan specific to the pilot period is shown in Pilot Appendix Figure 2.

Pilot Appendix Figure 2. CRISP Pilot Implementation Plan



6.1.1 Foundation Phase

This training will be as described in the main study protocol, except it may be facilitated by a central training team rather than by local teams of interventionists, in order to provide time to determine the best staffing strategy for use in the full implementation period and identify and train local interventionists. The pilot will serve as an opportunity to test the Foundation curriculum. The aim will be to complete the Foundation training with >75% of relevant staff (e.g., the clinical staff who directly provide HIV treatment or prevention services, and the non-clinical staff who support or provide administrative leadership to them) trained at the 4 pilot HCFs. The Foundation training will begin in parallel with or shortly after the start of the baseline cross-sectional assessment, and immediately after the Client-Instructor Healthcare Climate assessments and baseline client surveys have been completed at each HCF.

6.1.2 Installation Phase

The primary Installation activities of focus during the pilot will include (listed in reference to how they appear in the protocol): a) Quality Improvement (QI) pre-work, b) Extension of Community Healthcare Outcomes (ECHO) trainings, c) Client-Instructor Experiences for training purposes, d) Technical Assistance, e) HIV Cascade Self-Monitoring for QI purposes, and f) CRISP Action Plans (as part of QI activities). Other CRISP activities described in the protocol will not be prioritized during the pilot.

- <u>QI pre-work:</u> Preparatory work for QI activities may begin prior to implementation of the Foundation training, as part of a QI needs assessment of participating HCFs. This assessment will determine organizational capacity for quality management, QI skills and HCFs' existing ability for self-monitoring of HIV cascade data in real time, which will be necessary for QI activities. The QI pre-work will also set expectations for working within QI networks during the pilot phase, as well as expanded QI collaboratives during full implementation. Actual QI activities at HCFs will not begin until after the Foundation training has been completed.
- <u>ECHO</u>: Implementation of the ECHO-based training curriculum will begin during the pilot in the 4 pilot HCFs, after completion of the Foundation training. The standard ECHO curriculum, developed for full study implementation, will be used, but completion of all sessions of the curriculum within the pilot period is not expected. ECHO sessions will be implemented in approximately the same manner and frequency as described in the main study protocol and will continue throughout the pilot period and would be expected to continue into full implementation for completion of the curriculum at the 4 pilot HCFs; the number of sessions completed will be dependent on when the Foundation training concludes, and the Installation phase begins. Central ECHO faculty will be responsible for facilitating the sessions, rather than the local interventionists as described in the protocol.
- <u>Client-Instructor (CI) Experiences:</u> During the pilot, CI experiences will be implemented differently than described in the protocol. The revised design for the CI experiences is expected to carry forward to full implementation, pending lessons learned in the pilot and amendment of the protocol. The new purpose of CI experiences is twofold: 1) as a CRISP

training/coaching activity, to assess and coach providers on skills that were taught in the Foundation training, and 2) as a measure of the general healthcare climate of the facility, to assess changes in care quality and care responsiveness to Black MSM over time. The training/coaching aspect of the CI experiences are described here as CRISP Installation phase activities; the healthcare climate assessment aspect of CI experiences is described below in sub-section 6.1.4 on assessments. CI experiences will be conducted at baseline (pre-Foundation training) and biannually thereafter; however, baseline CI experiences will not be used as a training/coaching tool as individual providers will not be assessed at baseline, though feedback from Cis may be used to inform the Foundation training content and Cis may also be invited to attend the trainings. A target of four CI experiences will be completed at each time point for each facility. The training/coaching aspect of the CI experiences will be implemented as described in the protocol, except that the ratings and qualitative feedback from CI experiences will only be used as a training tool for the individual provider and will not be collected, either individually or in aggregate, as study data. Ratings and qualitative feedback will be used by the CI to coach the provider immediately after the experience, and the written rating and feedback will then be provided directly to the provider after the experience and not retained by the CI or provided to the study team.

- <u>Technical Assistance:</u> Technical assistance (TA) may be requested by HCF and will be provided by the central CRISP study team during the pilot period. The mechanism for requesting and tracking TA may be different than described in the protocol and will be described in supportive operational documents. One operational goal of the pilot will be to develop and test the mechanism for request, provision, and tracking of TA.
- <u>HIV Cascade Self-Monitoring</u>: Self-monitoring of HIV cascade data, disaggregated by race, age, and sexual orientation and gender identity, will be conducted by HCFs during the pilot period as described in the main study protocol; the focus of the self-monitoring will be to support QI activities. Self-monitoring capabilities of each HCF will be assessed during the QI pre-work process for HCFs, prior to implementation of QI activities, and will inform the QI training and technical assistance that may be provided to each HCF. HIV cascade data will serve as QI indicators and will be defined as part of a study-specific QI operational plan that will be used to guide QI implementation across the facilities. In order for HCFs to assess whether their QI efforts are making a difference, HCFs will monitor QI indicator(s) relevant to the HIV cascade that they are aiming to improve. An operational goal of the pilot will be to develop and test the data collection tool(s) used by HCF in collecting QI indicator data, and to assess HCF capabilities for real-time self-monitoring of disaggregated HIV cascade clinic data during pilot implementation. Data will be reported to the central QI facilitator for QI activity purposes and will not be used as study data.
- <u>CRISP Action Plans:</u> CRISP action plans will be conceptualized differently for the pilot than described in the main study protocol. Action planning will instead occur as part of QI activities; specific expectations for action plans and how they will be used in QI will be described in the study-specific QI operational plan.

6.1.3 Implementation Phase

The Implementation Phase of CRISP will focus on testing key elements of QI collaboratives. While the small number of pilot HCFs will not allow for full QI collaboratives, peer exchanges will be facilitated between the pilot HCFs, and aspects of the study-specific QI operational plan will be tested within these exchanges in preparation for the establishment of QI collaboratives during full implementation. Detailed QI activities will be specified in the study-specific QI operational plan, but will emphasize implementation of improvement interventions (e.g., plando-study-act cycles). In addition to a HCF's self-monitoring of its population-disaggregated HIV cascade clinic-level data described in the Installation section, findings from CRISP assessments (i.e., CI assessments of the healthcare climate and client surveys) may be used for QI purposes, and QI activities may include collection of additional clinic-specific information related to intersectional stigma, for use in targeting QI interventions.

During the pilot, the Implementation phase (i.e., QI activities) will run concurrently with the Installation phase, rather than sequentially, with all activities beginning after completion of the Foundation training. QI peer exchanges during the pilot period will be facilitated by a central QI coordinator with expertise in QI methods.

6.1.4 Assessments

Assessments to be implemented during the pilot period will differ in key ways from the main study protocol description of these activities. Importantly, HCF workers will not be surveyed on measures related to intersectional stigma and implicit bias, as described in the protocol. Instead, only two types of assessments will be conducted, both of which will be used as measures of the secondary objective on care quality and care responsiveness to Black MSM needs at HCFs participating in CRISP. These assessments include 1) CI assessments of the general healthcare climate of each HCF, and 2) client surveys.

- <u>Client surveys:</u> Client surveys will be implemented to assess the secondary objective of measures of care quality, and care responsiveness to Black MSM needs at HCFs participating in CRISP. Administration of these surveys will be as described in the main study protocol, except email addresses will be collected in order to incentivize survey completion with gift cards (see pilot appendix Section 6.4 for further detail), and the target audience will be broader than just Black MSM clients and will include all clients at the HCF during the sampling time. Expanding the survey sample will allow for comparison of quality of care and experienced intersectional stigma across demographic groups and will facilitate feasibility. Client surveys will begin at baseline (prior to the Foundation training) and continue approximately biannually (one additional timepoint during the pilot period). Efforts will be made to ensure representative sample of Black MSM are included in the overall clinic sample, and to characterize the proportionality of the sample to the overall patient population at the clinic.
- <u>Client-Instructor Assessment of Healthcare Climate</u>: As described in the Installation Phase in Pilot Appendix Section 6.1.2, CI experiences will take place at each HCF during the pilot period, at baseline (pre-Foundation) and biannually thereafter (at two timepoints after the Foundation training). At each timepoint, a target of four experiences will be

completed at each HCF. During a CI experience, the CI will undergo a full simulated visit to the HCF for either HIV care or prevention services and will interact with multiple healthcare workers and HCF staff. For each experience, the CI will complete a Healthcare Climate Questionnaire (HCCQ) to assess the clinic environment and general interactions with the staff and healthcare team on measures related to care quality and responsiveness to the needs of a Black MSM client. Individual providers and staff members will not be assessed, and no information or data will be collected on individuals working at the clinic; individual provider ratings and qualitative feedback produced for the coaching/training aspect of the experience will not be captured as study data or used as an intervention assessment and will not be included in the HCCQ. Descriptive information. Change in the healthcare climate over time will be assessed.

6.2 Preparatory Activities in Non-Pilot Communities

While CRISP implementation activities will only occur at four HCF across the two pilot intervention communities during the pilot, an important element of the pilot will be to demonstrate successful engagement and recruitment of HCFs in all intervention (including nonpilot) communities in preparation for full implementation. During the pilot, HCF recruitment and selection will be conducted in all eight intervention communities as described in the main study protocol. By the end of the pilot period, the goal will be to have selected the HCFs in all intervention communities that will participate in CRISP during full implementation, and to assess whether the set of HCFs is sufficient to meet the protocol target and study objectives. Letters of Intent will be signed with each selected HCF confirming their willingness to participate once the study enters full implementation. No CRISP activities will be implemented at selected non-pilot HCF until full implementation begins.

6.3 Pilot Outcome Measures

A subset of CRISP process measures described in the main study protocol, tailored to focus on assessing implementation success, will be used to assess outcomes of the pilot. An additional measure to assess ability to recruit HCF in all intervention communities will also be included.

Specific pilot outcome measures are as follows:

- Number and types of participating pilot HCF
- Numbers and roles of Champions identified at each pilot HCF
- Number, types and proportion of staff who complete CRISP Foundation training
- Time to completion of Foundation training at each pilot HCF
- Number and roles of staff participating in ECHO sessions
- Number of ECHO sessions completed by HCF staff
- Number of TA requests per pilot HCF

- Number and type (prevention or care) of CI experiences completed at each pilot HCF and number of staff participating in training/coaching
- Description of QI peer exchange established during pilot, number of HCFs and staff participating, and metrics of HCF engagement with QI peer exchanges
- Ability of facilities to collect and report HIV cascade self-monitoring QI indicators
- Number and type of improvement interventions implemented at each HCF as part of QI activities
- Number of Letters of Intent signed with HCFs in all intervention communities by the end of the pilot period, and types of HCF agreeing to participate

6.4 Human Subjects Considerations

The following clarifications are made to the human subjects considerations section of the intersectional stigma reduction component for the pilot in comparison to what is described in the main study protocol:

- 1. The health care worker survey assessment has been removed as a data collection activity and is no longer applicable.
- 2. Slight changes are made to considerations related to client surveys. The client sample will be expanded beyond just Black MSM clients to a representative sample of all clients at the facility. Additionally, the main study protocol states that clients will complete an anonymous survey which is considered human subjects research expected to be exempt under 45 CFR 46.104(d)(2)(i). For the pilot, completed surveys will be incentivized with a gift card that must be provided via email. For fraud prevention and data quality reasons, to ensure that survey participants cannot complete the survey and claim a gift card multiple times or distribute the survey to others, unique codes will be generated by the data management center and distributed to participating HCFs. HCFs will be asked to distribute a unique code to all clients who visit their clinic during the sampling time frame. Clients must enter a unique code into the survey to begin the survey, and unique codes may only be used once. To receive a gift card at the end of the survey, clients must opt in to providing an email address and upon doing so, will be redirected to a separate survey to collect their email address. This gift card survey will collect only the unique code and the email address for gift card distribution. The email addresses from the gift card survey will be collected and stored in an entirely different database than the main survey responses. However, because the email addresses will have the unique codes stored with them, email addresses could theoretically be linkable to survey responses. As such, this activity is not considered anonymous and no longer meets exemption under 45 CFR 46.104(d)(2)(i); however, it is expected that this activity will instead meet the definition for exempt under 45 CFR 46.104(d)(2)(iii).

To meet 45 CFR 46.104(d)(2)(iii), the HPTN sIRB must determine that there are adequate provisions to protect the privacy of subjects and maintain confidentiality of data. Measures will be taken to protect the privacy and confidentiality of the email addresses and survey responses. The main survey data will be collected in a Part 11 compliant database. Unique codes are used only to ensure that a survey is completed only

once by any given respondent and will not be used as participant identifiers or included in survey data reports; HCFs will not assign unique codes to specific individuals or link them to client names. Email addresses will not be stored with main survey responses. The email addresses will be housed in a different database, using a separate survey platform, than the main survey, and only the unique code and email address will be stored. Email addresses will only be used for the purposes of distributing gift cards and will not be shared with participating HCFs or linked to main survey responses. Survey respondents will be informed within the survey text that their email address will be collected for gift card distribution only, and must specifically agree to provide their email address for this purpose.

- 3. No changes are made to the process measures considerations.
- 4. CI experience ratings will be provided to the HCF workers and will not be collected as study data. Instead, client-instructors will complete a general assessment of the HCF climate and their visit experience using a standardized questionnaire. This activity is not considered human subjects research as no information about a living individual will be collected in the questionnaire, and all information recorded about living individuals as part of the training/coaching element of the CI experience will be provided directly to the HCF worker and not retained as study data.

7.0 PEER SUPPORT PILOT COMPONENT

7.1 Pilot Component Description

During the pilot, the following elements of the peer support component will be conducted as described in the main study protocol: peer support worker training, supervision, and compensation. Promotion of the peer support component by the other integrated strategy components and criteria for client/peer support worker matching will also be done in accordance with the main study protocol. The type and format of coaching and support provided to the client by the peer support workers will be conducted as described in the main study protocol. All communications between the client and peer support worker will be private and confidential in accordance with the main study protocol. Peer support workers will be trained to implement confidentiality and safeguarding protections and every effort will be made to protect the client's privacy as stated in the main study protocol. The primary shift from the main study protocol relates to how communication between the peer support workers and clients will be facilitated. Peer support workers will have access to a web-based platform; however, communications (voice, calls, and text messaging features) will not be feasible as built-in features, but available through a third-party application (for example, Zoom). A single virtual platform that houses all technical aspects of the peer support component (like a mobile app) will not be developed. In addition, a web-based portal will be established, will be managed centrally and will be designed to house appropriate resources for the peer support workers and clients. This portal will also link to the data collection system for acceptability and process measures.

As stated in the main study protocol, access to the program may be withdrawn from any clients who are found to be ineligible (i.e., do not meet the inclusion/exclusion criteria) or who violate any rules determined for participation. In addition, peer support workers will be trained to share information about organizations that provide HIV care, HIV prevention, PrEP and other services

available in the intervention communities. The main study protocol describes relying on curated resource lists developed by community coalitions in each intervention community as part of the Health Equity component as a source of information for peers to use; however, generation of this information is not expected to be completed during the pilot, as noted in section 4.1 of this appendix, thus other available resources will be used. Peer support workers may cross-share available information and the study team will collaborate with study partners (including the agencies funded by and/or implementing the EHE initiative) to generate a listing of local resources that will support the peer support workers' goal to strengthen awareness of and access to these resources. The team will also work with each pilot intervention community to better understand what peer support programs currently exist and in what ways the HPTN 096 peer support intervention can complement and align with services currently offered, as applicable.

Recruitment of peer support workers in the pilot will be limited. Up to four peer support workers will be employed in each of the two pilot intervention communities. As noted in the main study protocol, the level of effort required by each peer support worker may vary based on their individual capacity and the needs of the clients assigned to them. This will be monitored and adjusted as needed.

Program clients will be compensated for attending an initial support session in the pilot. They may also be compensated for responding to brief surveys about their experiences using the peer support program. They will not receive compensation for participating in subsequent peer support sessions.

7.2 Pilot Outcome Measures

The pilot outcome measures for the peer support component are the same as described as the process measures for this component in the main protocol, with one exception, which is reiterated below. The one exception is that in the main study protocol, the client-level measures of fidelity (satisfaction and acceptability/usefulness surveys) is assessed after a "random number of sessions." However, in the pilot, the frequency of these client level fidelity measures has been modified. The HPTN 096 SSP Manual will outline the frequency in which each measure of fidelity will be assessed. A subset of the peer support component process measures, as outlined in the main study protocol, will apply during the pilot, as follows.

The peer worker-level process measures will include:

Measures of penetration:

- Number of peer support workers recruited and trained
- Number of unique interactions between peer support workers and clients

Measures of fidelity:

- Completion of acceptability assessment (end of peer support worker participation)
- Measurement of the type of support provided during each session (e.g., topic areas)

The client-level process measures will include:

Measures of penetration:

- Number of clients who access the program, with capture of limited sociodemographic characteristics and frequency of use and type of support sought
- Measurement of where clients learned about the platform

Measures of fidelity:

- Satisfaction survey (e.g., simple single-item assessment)
- Acceptability and usefulness assessment (e.g., limited-item assessment)

7.3 Human Subjects Considerations/Confidentiality

There are no significant differences with regards to the human subjects considerations as outlined in the main study protocol for the peer support component. As described in the main study protocol, a consent form must be completed prior to gaining access to the program and support services. For the pilot we have modified the informed consent form such that participants will be requested to provide signed informed consent. This change has been made due to the change in design of the web-based portal. A template for this consent form is included in Appendix II.

As described in Section 14.3.1 and per 45 CFR 46.408(c), a waiver of parental/guardian permission will be requested for those 15 to 17 years old, as described in the main study protocol. These participants will still be required to provide assent by completing the electronic consent in the same process used for adults. All clients will have access to a copy of their informed consent form within the platform. The revised ICF, which now includes information about the study pilot, is included in Sub-Appendix I. If an IRB/EC waives the requirement of obtaining informed consent, it will not be utilized.

Limited personal and sociodemographic information (such as name, age, ethnicity, phone number, email address, etc.) may be collected from clients in order match a client with a peer support worker and may be linked to the data for acceptability and process measures. This information will be maintained confidentially and stored securely. Study data collection forms will be identified by a coded number only to maintain client confidentiality.

7.4 Preparatory Activities in Non-Pilot Communities

During implementation of the peer support component in the two pilot intervention communities, preparation will be underway in all non-pilot communities such that the peer support component can be carried out after the pilot ends. In each non-pilot intervention community, the preparatory activities will include:

- Identification and, if funding permits, onboarding and training of new peer support workers
- Identification of Black MSM-centered local resources and support services

8.0 BASELINE CROSS-SECTIONAL ASSESSMENT PILOT

8.1 Pilot Cross-Sectional Assessment Description

During the pilot, the baseline cross-sectional assessment is expected to be conducted as described in the main study protocol, except that it will only be carried out in the four pilot study communities (2 intervention and 2 control). One hundred Black MSM in each pilot community (a total of 400) will be recruited via starfish sampling, which combines venue-based (both physical and virtual venues) and respondent-driven sampling, and enrolled over the course of six months, or sooner. Local field teams will determine the venues used for sampling, which may include large events (such as gay pride) that draw from a wide geographic region, as well as smaller, local activities. All participants will be deemed eligible using the criteria outlined in the main study protocol. Biologic samples and data from two surveys will be collected from each participant, as outlined in the main study protocol. Rapid HIV testing and HIV home test kits that can be used at home will be offered to study participants during the baseline assessment but accepting them are not required for eligibility and participation. No data from the HIV rapid or home test kits will be captured in the study database.

The pilot study communities were chosen such that the baseline cross-sectional assessment will take place in communities both with and without an established local LDMS lab; this will allow the protocol team to learn how to conduct the baseline and post-intervention assessments in both types of communities.

8.2 Collection of AMIS Data During Pilot

During the pilot, the protocol team will collaborate with the PRISM Health Research team at Emory University to collect baseline data in all study communities using the American Men's Internet Survey (AMIS). AMIS is an annual cross-sectional online HIV behavioral survey of MSM in the US. The primary objective of AMIS is to monitor trends in HIV risk behavior, use of HIV testing services, and access to prevention services among gay and bisexual men in order to improve public health services for HIV prevention. The survey has been conducted annually since 2013, and it is possible to have the research team oversample in requested locations in order to collect data on men with specific demographic characteristics. The protocol team will request that oversampling be conducted in all 16 study communities such that a target of 1600 Black MSM (target of 100 per study community) complete the AMIS during the pilot. In addition, a subset of the AMIS questions will be included in the surveys conducted during the cross-sectional assessment. These data will be used to supplement the survey data collected during the baseline cross-sectional data, and to examine whether the responses are similar between the two surveys. In addition, the collection of AMIS data during the pilot will determine if it would be a useful annual measure of self-reported PrEP uptake throughout full implementation.

8.3 Pilot Outcome Measures

The pilot outcome measures for the baseline cross-sectional assessment conducted during the pilot will include the following.

Successful implementation of non-laboratory procedures, defined as:

- Identification of local partners (to serve as field teams such as community-based organizations, academic institutions, health departments, etc.) in the four pilot communities to implement the non-laboratory components of the assessment.
- Successful collection of data from both the short and long surveys in the four pilot study communities.
- Successful collection of AMIS data in all 16 study communities, with oversampling to reach a target of 100 Black MSM in each one.

Successful implementation of laboratory procedures, defined as:

- Identification and engagement of established local laboratories and commercial laboratories in the four pilot communities to implement the laboratory components of the assessment.
- Successful collection (within the required time limits), processing, labeling, transport, storage, and shipment of study samples for 100 Black MSM in each pilot community. Different procedures are required for communities that do vs. do not have a local LDMS laboratory.
- Successful reporting of results from real-time, laboratory-based testing for HIV status and viral load to the study database for 100 Black MSM in each pilot community. These results will be reported from local LDMS laboratories and commercial laboratories.

8.4 Human Subjects Considerations

As described in the main study protocol, all participants in the cross-sectional assessment will be consented prior to enrollment. Revised ICFs, which now include information about the study pilot, are included in sub-appendices (Sub-Appendix II and Sub-Appendix III).

8.5 Preparatory Activities in Non-Pilot Communities

During the pilot, preparation will take place so that the baseline cross-sectional assessment can be conducted in all non-pilot communities after the pilot ends. These preparatory activities will include:

- Identify local partners (to serve as field teams) and laboratories to conduct the crosssectional assessments in all remaining communities (intervention and control), and if funding allows, set up contracts and/or sub-agreements with each one.
- If contracts and/or sub-agreements are put in place, supplies can be ordered, and initial training can take place for field teams and laboratories.

9.0 PREP PROVISION DURING PILOT

During the pilot, no PrEP or ART will be provided to any study communities via partnerships with pharmaceutical companies.

10.0 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT FOR PILOT

The HPTN 096 team recognized, through community forums and community input, the need for a multilevel, comprehensive community engagement strategy. During the pilot, community engagement will be directed at three levels: 1) general awareness of the study, 2) component-specific engagement, and 3) indirect recruitment for the cross-sectional assessment. Each level of engagement will specifically target appropriate audiences using various methods of engagement.

During the pilot, a stakeholder mapping exercise will be completed to determine appropriate stakeholders at each level of engagement, and how much engagement, communication or consideration is needed. This will allow better prioritization of stakeholders and for focused efforts at each individual level of engagement in the most impactful way.

10.1 Levels of Engagement

10.1.1 General Awareness

The main purpose for general awareness-raising community engagement is to generate awareness around and support for HPTN 096 to raise the level of community acceptability. Community engagement for the purposes of general awareness-building during the pilot will focus on the creation of awareness which will be demonstrated through community acceptability of the study. These activities are separate from how community engagement will be conducted for the specific study components and the cross-sectional assessment (described further in sections below). The primary general community awareness pilot outcome measure will be the formation and utilization of a community advisory group (CAG).

The CAG will meet monthly to discuss stakeholder engagement strategies. CAG members will provide high-level input and guidance to the HPTN 096 study team related to community awareness and acceptability throughout the pilot. The CAG will bring a diversity of perspectives and expertise, connecting issues and opportunities across stakeholder engagement, agencies, and local stakeholder sectors. The CAG will meet 8-10 times over the course of the pilot process. The CAG understands there is no one size fits all community awareness strategy, so each individual CAG member will work locally to keep established relationships open and find ways to create new stakeholder engagement and awareness opportunities for HPTN 096.

The community strategy group (CSG) will meet on an ongoing basis and serve as an advisory group to the protocol team and the CAG about stakeholder engagement activities and planning for HPTN 096. The meetings will also provide an opportunity for CSG members to give input on what is most useful and help with gap analysis, strategy selection, and implementation of future stakeholder engagement-awareness planning.

Method of Engagement	Stakeholders
(1) Leadership Briefings	Community Ambassadors and Gate
	Keepers
(2) CSG and CAG Networking	External Local Community Audiences
(3) Stakeholder/Black MSM Feedback	Various Audiences
and/or Listening Sessions	

10.2 Component-Specific Community Engagement Activities and Pilot Outcomes Measures

Each study component will involve tailored community engagement activities for the purposes of gaining participation in, awareness of, or acceptability for each component. These community engagement activities are largely integrated into the activities of the study component itself, and as such, the success of community engagement as it relates to specific components will be assessed from a subset of pilot outcome measures already identified for each component. Specific engagement activities and their purpose for each component, as well as the pilot outcome measures that will serve as measures of community engagement success, are described in the sub-sections below.

10.2.1 Health Equity

As described in the main protocol and in Pilot Appendix Section 4.0, community engagement activities for the Health Equity component will be focused on partnering with local CBOs to establish community coalitions in each intervention community. The success of community engagement efforts for the Health Equity pilot will be measured by the following Health Equity pilot outcome measures (as described further in Pilot Appendix Section 4.0):

- Agreement in place with local CBO to serve as implementing partner in each pilot intervention community
- Community coalition established in each pilot intervention community and length of time required for establishment
- Number/types of engagement activities used in the formation of the community coalitions.
- Memoranda of Agreement signed by local CBO implementing partner organizations in each non-pilot intervention community declaring intention to establish coalitions once the full implementation period begins.

10.2.2 Social Media Influencers

As described in the main protocol and in Pilot Appendix Section 5.0, community engagement activities for the SMI component will be focused on identifying and vetting appropriate SMI for selection as study SMI. SMI activities such as providing messaging on HIV-related topics, as well as the promotion of other study components, will be considered a form of community engagement as well. The success of community engagement efforts for the SMI pilot will be

measured by the following SMI pilot outcome measures (as described further in Pilot Appendix Section 5.0):

- Number of SMIs in each region/community
- Metrics of social media engagement, including the following:
 - Clicks on links/videos
 - Number of views per post
 - Number/types/demographics of followers of SMIs
 - Number and types of reposts/retweets
 - Types of content developed

10.2.3 Intersectional Stigma Reduction

As described in the main protocol and in Pilot Appendix Section 6.0, community engagement activities for the Intersectional stigma reduction component will be focused on recruiting healthcare facilities who service Black MSM and relationship building with targeted facilities to gain their agreement to participate in the study.

The success of community engagement efforts for the Intersectional Stigma Reduction pilot will be measured by the following Intersectional Stigma Reduction pilot outcome measures (as described further in Pilot Appendix Section 6.0):

- Number and types of participating pilot HCF
- Number of Letters of Intent signed with HCFs in all intervention communities by the end of the pilot period, and types of HCF agreeing to participate

10.2.4 Peer Support

As described in the main protocol, community engagement methods will be used for promotion of the peer support program, and also identification and recruitment of peer support workers. Community engagement activities will be used to educate and inform the public about the peer support program and raise awareness of the program portal/website. Word of mouth referrals and advertisements about the program may be used by peers or/and community partners and more broadly through their networks. Community engagement activities may also leverage invaluable networks such as the CAG members and other community partners to identify and recruit peer supporters and program participants.

The success of community engagement efforts for the Peer Support Component pilot will be measured by the following Peer Support pilot outcome measures (as described further in Pilot Appendix Section 7.2):

- Number of peer support workers recruited and trained
- Number of clients who access the program, with capture of limited sociodemographic characteristics and frequency of use and type of support sought
- Measurement of where clients learned about the platform

10.3 Cross-Sectional Assessment Community Engagement Activities and Pilot Outcome Measures

During the pilot, the baseline cross-sectional assessment is expected to be conducted in the four pilot communities, as described in Pilot Appendix Section 8.0. One hundred Black MSM in each pilot community (for a total of 400) will be recruited via starfish sampling, which combines venue-based and respondent-driven sampling. The starfish methodology is designed to sample a random, and thus representative, segment of a population. Direct recruitment into the study could potentially bias the sample and impact the results. Thus, community engagement will support the starfish methodology in two, less direct, ways: 1) it may advertise and promote venues and events where sampling may take place - but will not advertise that that study sampling may take place at these venues/events; and 2) it will educate the community about the study and its purpose, so that if an individual is approached by a staff member or peer, they will be more willing to engage in the research. Ways that this type of community engagement may take place may include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Online ads and social networking
- Working with partner organizations
- Partner health professionals
- Engaging community gate keepers (i.e., house-ball parents, community advocates, trusted organizations, etc.)
- African American MSM (AAMSM) professional networks

Successful recruitment of Black MSM from the four pilot communities into the baseline crosssectional assessment will be the primary community engagement measure of success for the pilot period.

11.0 STATISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS

11.1 Inclusion of Pilot Data into Overall Study Analysis

The cross-sectional assessment in the pilot communities will constitute the baseline assessment for those communities and the pilot intervention period will be included as part of the first year of the study intervention period. We expect that the intervention period (the time between the baseline and post-intervention cross-sectional assessments) will be the same (3 years) in the pilot communities as in the non-pilot communities. However, this decision will be reviewed in an interim analysis of the data collected during rollout of the pilot compared to the data collected during the first year of rollout in the non-pilot communities (see Pilot Appendix Section 11.2).

Section 12.8 of the main protocol describes analyses based on all 8 community pairs; that is, we include the 2 pilot community pairs in the primary analysis. However, we will also perform a sensitivity analysis in which the primary analyses (Protocol Section 12.8.2) will be repeated without the pilot communities.

11.2 Inclusion of Staggered Start into Overall Study Analysis

HPTN 096 is designed as a matched-pairs study and all analyses will incorporate this aspect of the design. In a matched-pairs study, each intervention community is compared with its matched-pair control community and not with other control communities (see protocol sections 12.8.2 and 12.8.3 for details). Therefore, provided that each community within a pair starts and ends study participation at the same time, any overall time trends (e.g. a secular increase in PrEP use over time) will cancel out in the analysis, even if different pairs start and end the study at different times. Thus, the proposed structure with two pairs (4 communities) piloting the intervention and the remaining 6 pairs (12 communities) starting approximately a year later will not require any change to the analytic plan. This approach assumes that the incremental effect of the intervention is constant over time and that the nature of the intervention does not change substantially between the pilot and the full study.

The inclusion of a pilot phase does assume that a three-year intervention period in the pilot communities will result in an equivalent intervention effect as the three-year intervention period in the non-pilot communities. However, this may depend on the intensity and coverage of the intervention during the pilot period compared to the intensity and coverage of the intervention during the first year of study implementation in the non-pilot communities. Since these issues are poorly understood at this time, and likely will not be understood until after the first year of the intervention in the non-pilot communities, we will revisit this issue in a formal interim review of the data after the first year of the intervention in the non-pilot communities. At that time, the protocol team may decide to extend the intervention period in the pilot communities. Importantly, any such decision will be made solely on the basis of process data of intervention delivery and not using any outcome data.

11.3 Provision of HIV Surveillance and PrEP Prescription Data

One of the co-primary objectives of HPTN 096 is being assessed by examining viral suppression data from the CDC's HIV surveillance system. During full implementation, the CDC will provide preliminary viral suppression data to the protocol team four months after the year of interest has ended. As such, one of the pilot outcome measures will be the transfer of viral suppression data as outlined in the main study protocol for the four pilot communities. These data should contain 2021 information and be provided to the protocol team by May 2022.

For the other co-primary objective of HPTN 096, commercially available PrEP prescription data from AIDSVu will be used for supportive analysis. To keep acquisition of these data in the same timeframe as the viral suppression data, during full implementation these data will be expected four months after the year of interest, which may or may not coincide with a calendar year, has ended. As such, another pilot outcome measure will be the acquisition of 2021 PrEP prescription data for the four pilot communities by May 2022.

11.4 Summaries of Pilot Data

The SDMC will develop a set of reports – similar to the reports typically developed for a Study Monitoring Committee review – that summarize enrollment in the cross-sectional survey,

demographic characteristics of the sample, metrics of intervention delivery, data completeness and completeness of sample collection for laboratory assays in the pilot communities. Social harms associated with study participation and protocol deviations will also be summarized. To ensure that the necessary data transfer processes are functioning correctly, baseline data on viral suppression for the pilot communities will be downloaded from the CDC and summarized. Similarly, PrEP prescription data at baseline will be downloaded from AIDSVu for the pilot communities and summarized. These reports will be available for review near the end of the pilot period.

11.5 Comparison of AMIS and Pilot Surveys

A subset of the questions asked on the baseline cross-sectional survey will also be asked in the AMIS surveys (see Pilot Appendix Section 8.2). We will summarize the AMIS results for all 16 communities and will descriptively compare the results for the common questions between the AMIS surveys and the baseline cross-sectional survey in the four communities included in the HPTN 096 pilot.

12.0 TRANSITION FROM PILOT TO FULL IMPLEMENTATION

As described in the Pilot Appendix Section 2.0 and shown in Pilot Appendix Figure 1, the pilot will represent the start of study implementation in the two pilot matched pairs, with the remaining six matched pairs expected to begin full study implementation approximately one year after the start of the pilot. As such, it is expected that study implementation in the pilot communities will continue for a full three-year implementation period, with no pause between the conclusion of the pilot period and the beginning of full implementation. This continuity is critical to the success of the integrated strategy, as well as to the partnerships, trust and relationships built in study communities. The transition from the pilot to full implementation in the pilot communities will reflect the organic growth and implementation scale-up of the integrated strategy that is naturally expected to happen in all study communities. In order to facilitate this seamless transition between pilot and full implementation, indicators of feasibility success will be assessed on a continuous basis throughout the pilot period with formal (e.g., Study Monitoring Committee (SMC) study reports) and ongoing informational updates provided to the study sponsor. It is expected that the study protocol will need to be amended to incorporate lessons learned from the pilot, and this will occur once the pilot period concludes but prior to full implementation beginning in the non-pilot communities. Study activities in pilot communities are not expected to be paused during this time. As described in Pilot Appendix Section 2.3, during the pilot period, activities will take place in non-pilot communities in preparation for study implementation. These activities will also continue in the time period between the formal end of the pilot period and the beginning of full implementation in the non-pilot communities.

APPENDIX IIC: SAMPLE INFORMED CONSENT FORMS FOR ADULTS AND ASSENT FORMS FOR INDIVIDUALS UNDER AGE 18

APPENDIX IIC-I: SAMPLE ICF FOR PILOT PEER SUPPORT

HPTN 096

Getting to Zero among Black Men who have Sex with Men (MSM) in the American South: Testing the Efficacy of an Integrated Strategy

FINAL Version 3.0 3 August 2023 DAIDS Document ID: 38561

SPONSORED BY: Division of AIDS, US National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, US National Institutes of Health.

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR: [Add Name]

PHONE: [Insert Number]

INTRODUCTION

You are being asked to take part in a research study, entitled HPTN 096 or 'Getting to Zero among Black Men who have Sex with Men (MSM) in the American South.' This study is being done by the HIV Prevention Trials Network (HPTN).

Before you decide whether to take part in the study, this form explains the purpose of the study, the risks and benefits, and what will happen to you.

1. You should know key information about this study before you join.

- You are being asked to join this study because you self-identify as a Black man who has sex with men (MSM) and are at least 15 years old.
- Taking part in this study is your choice. You can agree to be in the study today or not. If you agree, you can change your mind and leave the study at any time.
- If you decide not to take part in this study at any time, it will not affect the regular care that you receive in your community.
- The study will first be done in a subset of communities. During this time, the study team will identify problem areas and find ways to improve the programs before conducting the full study.
- You will be in the part of the study where you will be connected with a peer support worker who can provide virtual support for HIV-related issues. They can give you information about testing for HIV and other infections passed through sex, how to take medication to prevent or treat HIV, and how to find local resources that are friendly to Black MSM.

• You may benefit from the help you get from the peer support worker. The program may continue for up to three years and if so, you will be able to continue to receive this support if you choose.

ABOUT THE STUDY

2. The overall study is testing four programs to reduce HIV in Black MSM.

Sixteen communities are participating in this research study. In eight communities, various programs will be put in place. In the other communities, these programs will not be available.

The four programs are described below:

- One program will provide training to medical providers. This training seeks to make their clinics friendlier towards Black gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men.
- The second program seeks to work with community groups to help Black MSM overcome barriers to preventing and treating HIV.
- The third program will use social media to raise awareness about HIV testing, PrEP use and provide information about HIV care and prevention.
- The last program provides peer support and health education for those living with and without HIV. This program is described in more detail in the remainder of this form.

We hope these programs will reduce barriers to HIV prevention and care and decrease the number of Black men who get HIV.

Before carrying out these programs in all eight communities, they will be put in place in two communities, for about nine months. During this time, the study team will work to find ways to improve all the programs before starting the programs in the remaining communities.

3. You are being asked to be in the part of the study that is testing virtual peer support.

You will be offered peer support and HIV-related health information. We expect up to 15,000 Black men who have sex with other men to use the program during the full study.

You will be connected with peer support workers, through a third-party platform (such as Zoom), who can help you in many ways. They can help you decide if you should get an HIV test and where to get one. If you have HIV, they will talk with you about getting medical care and taking medication to treat HIV. They can also help with how you can tell other people about your status. If you don't have HIV, the peer worker can help you with ways to protect yourself from getting HIV and STIs. This includes how to get and use pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP), which is medication that can protect you from getting HIV. The peer support workers may be able to help you with other problems and they are always willing to just listen.

If you agree to be a part of this program, you may interact with the peer support worker one-onone discussion. On rare occasions and only if agreeable to you and the peer support worker, an in-person support session may be provided. You may be asked some questions about your experience working with the peer support worker. For example, you will be asked whether you were satisfied with the support you received. You may also be asked if you made any informed decisions as it relates to HIV prevention and care in response to the support you received (for example, did you get tested for HIV?).

RISKS OF THE STUDY

4. There may be risks to being in this study.

- Sensitive questions or topics may be discussed. This may occur during conversations with your peer support worker.
- Discussing your sexual behavior and ways to protect against HIV and STIs may make you uncomfortable.
- Only people in the study can access this support. We ask that you not share your personal information with anyone else to ensure your information and the information of others who are a part of the program stay private.
- It may be possible that others will learn you have joined this study and they may treat you unfairly. For instance, your family members or friends could treat you unfairly because they think you are involved in a study about HIV. They may assume that you have HIV. The peer support workers can help you deal with any feelings or questions you have.
- There is a possibility that you may exceed your data plan limit on your personal device (cell phone or tablet) if you use it to access the program and may have to pay extra for that.
- You are asked to follow the rules of the study. If you or others share inappropriate information, your participation in the program may be stopped.
- As part of this study, you may be required to use one or more of the following: a phone or computer to complete surveys about your experience with the program. You may be asked to provide limited personal and sociodemographic information (such as your name, age, ethnicity, phone number, email address, etc.) that may be shared with the peer support workers and researchers conducting this study.
- Additionally, there may be unknown risks.

BENEFITS OF THE STUDY

5. You may benefit from the help you get from the peer support worker.

The peer support worker may give you information that you find useful. It may also make you feel better to have someone to talk to. What we learn from you may help us learn more about

HIV in your community. This information may lead to better ways to prevent and treat HIV in the future.

OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT THE STUDY

6. There may be other ways to get peer support in your community.

You will have access to a website that contains information about organizations that provide HIV care, HIV prevention, PrEP and other services available in your community.

7. We will let you know of any new information that becomes available that may make you change your mind about continue participating in the study.

8. You may be taken out of the study without your consent.

We may take you out of the study if you fail to follow the rules of the program. We may also take you out of the study if the people who fund the study (NIH), conduct the study (HPTN) or review the study (institutional review board [IRB]) stop the study.

9. You will receive xx for conducting an initial support session.

You will not receive compensation for participating in subsequent peer support sessions. You may receive xx for responding to brief surveys about your experience using the peer support program.

10. We will do our best to protect your private information.

We will make every effort to protect and ensure your privacy while in the program.

We will make every effort to protect your private information. We will only collect enough of your personal and sociodemographic information (such as your name, age, ethnicity, phone number, email address, etc.) to connect you with a peer support worker. You will get a unique study identification number and your information will only be linked to a code, not your name or any other identifying information. The HPTN and people who work for them such as the program managers and peer support workers may review your sessions to ensure the program is being done properly and for supervision of the peer support workers. It may also be reviewed by the organization that funds this study, such as the National Institutes of Health (NIH). Any Institutional Review Board(s) (IRB) overseeing this study, and US Office for Human Research Protections are allowed to review the information you provide to the study. Your records will be kept for at least 3 years after the study ends, or longer if local regulations require. However, when regulations allow it, all sessions will be deleted.

All peer support workers will be trained and agree not to reveal any sensitive information you share with them.

If we learn that you or someone else is in danger, we must take steps to keep you and others safe. For example, if you tell us that you plan to hurt or kill yourself or someone else, or if you tell us that someone is abusing or neglecting you. This may mean asking for your personal information and sharing this information with the proper authorities (hospital, police, or social services).

The researchers in this study will do everything they can to protect your privacy. We have obtained a "Certificate of Confidentiality" from NIH which can be used to legally refuse to give information that would identify you to others that are not a part of the study. For example, researchers can say "No" to a court that is trying to get information about you. But the courts can make researchers give information about you to prevent serious harm to you or others.

This certificate does not stop you, or people close to you, from telling others about your participation in the study. So, you and people close to you need to protect your information.

A description of this clinical trial will be available on <u>http://www.ClinicalTrials.gov</u>. This Web site will not include information that can identify you. At most, the Web site will include a summary of the results. You can search this Web site at any time.

11. If you get sick or injured during the study, let us know right away.

It is unlikely that you will be injured as a result of being in the study. If you are injured, please tell us right away. If your injuries require treatment, you may or may not have to pay for this treatment. There is no program to pay money or give other forms of compensation for such injuries from the NIH. You do not give up any legal rights by signing this consent form.

12. Who to contact about this study.

During the study, if you experience any problems, suffer a research-related injury, or have questions, concerns, or complaints about the study, please contact please contact the investigator listed on the first page of this document.

An institutional review board (IRB) is an independent committee established to help protect the rights of research participants. If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, and/or concerns or complaints regarding this research study, contact:

By mail: Study Subject Adviser Advarra IRB 6940 Columbia Gateway Drive, Suite 110 Columbia, MD 21046 or call toll free: 877-992-4724 or by email: adviser@advarra.com

Please reference the following number when contacting the Study Subject Adviser: Pro00056458.

SIGNATURE PAGE

HPTN 096 Getting to Zero among Black MSM in the American South: Testing the Efficacy of an Integrated Strategy

FINAL Version 3.0 3 August 2023 INFORMED CONSENT/ASSENT FOR PEER SUPPORT

If you agree to the information in this form and you voluntarily agree to join the study, please print and sign your below. A copy of this consent form will be available to you at any time.

Participant Name (print first and last name)

Date

Email Address (to receive an electronic copy of the signed consent form)

Code word or phrase for verification purposes *The peer supporter will ask you for this prior to your first session.*

Do you voluntarily agree to join the study?

____Yes

____No

Participant Signature

Checkbox: I certify that all of my information in the document above is correct. I understand that clicking "Submit" will electronically sign the form and that signing this form electronically is the equivalent of signing a physical document.

APPENDIX IIC-II: SAMPLE INFORMED CONSENT FORM FOR ADULTS AND ASSENT FOR INDIVIDUALS AGES 15 TO AGE OF MAJORITY FOR PILOT BASELINE CROSS-SECTIONAL ASSESSMENTS WITH LDMS (COMMUNITIES WITH LOCAL LDMS LABORATORY)

HPTN 096

Getting to Zero among Black Men who have Sex with Men (MSM) in the American South: Testing the Efficacy of an Integrated Strategy

FINAL Version 3.0 3 August 2023 DAIDS Document ID: 38561

SPONSORED BY: Division of AIDS, US National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, US National Institutes of Health.

INVESTIGATOR OF RECORD: [Add Name]

PHONE: [Insert Number]

INTRODUCTION

You are being asked to take part in a research study, entitled HPTN 096 or 'Getting to Zero among Black Men who have Sex with Men (MSM) in the American South.' This study is being done by the HIV Prevention Trials Network (HPTN).

Before you decide whether to take part in the study, this form explains the purpose of the study, the risks and benefits, and what will happen to you. You will be offered a copy of this consent form to keep.

1. You should know key information about this study before you join.

- You are being asked to join this study because you self-identify as a Black man who has sex with men (MSM) and are at least 15 years old.
- Taking part in this study is your choice. You can agree to be in the study today or not. If you agree, you can change your mind and leave the study at any time. If you choose not to join or to leave the study, you can still receive services from the field team in the future.
- The study will first be done in a subset of communities. During this time, the study team will identify problem areas and find ways to improve the programs before conducting the full study.
- You will be in the part of the study where we are measuring how many Black men like you have HIV. We are also checking to see how many are taking medication to treat or prevent HIV. Answering these questions will tell us if the other parts of the study are working to decrease HIV in some communities in the southern US.

- You will be offered an HIV rapid test, a home test kit or a coupon to obtain a home test kit. You do not have to take the rapid or home test kit or the coupon to be in the study.
- You will be asked to provide a blood sample from your arm and to answer two surveys one is short, and one is longer. You will be asked to do the short survey today, but you can do the longer one later.
- You may also be offered coupons to give to your friends who are Black MSM. These coupons will allow your friends to participate in the study too.
- It will take about 30-60 minutes to be in the study today, depending on whether you choose to complete the longer survey now or later.
- It may hurt a little to give blood. Some of the questions in the survey are about sex or other topics that may make you feel uncomfortable. By participating in this study, people may think you have HIV, even if you don't.
- You may not receive any direct benefits from being in this study. However, what we learn from you may help us learn more about HIV in your community. This information may lead to better ways to prevent HIV in the future.
- You will receive some money if you give blood, complete the questions and if you recruit others to the study.

ABOUT THE STUDY

2. The overall study is testing four programs to reduce HIV in Black MSM.

Sixteen communities are participating in this research study. In eight communities, various programs will be put in place. In the other communities, these programs will not be available. The four programs are described below:

- One program will provide training to medical providers. This training seeks to make their clinics friendlier towards Black gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men.
- The second program seeks to work with community groups to help Black MSM overcome barriers to preventing and treating HIV.
- The third program will work with popular people on social media to raise awareness about HIV testing, PrEP use and provide information about HIV care and prevention.
- The last program provides peer support and health education for those living with and without HIV.

We hope these programs will reduce barriers to HIV prevention and care and decrease the number of Black men who get HIV.

Before carrying out these programs in all eight communities, they will be put in place in two communities, for about nine months. During this time, the study team will work to find ways to improve all the programs before starting the programs in the remaining communities.

3. You are being asked to be in the part of the study to find out if the four programs are decreasing HIV in some communities in the southern US.

This part of the study is called the cross-sectional assessment. During the study, there will be two cross-sectional assessments. The first one will take place before the programs start, and the second one will take place after the programs end. You are being asked to take part in the first (pilot) assessment.

About 400 Black MSM will participate in the first (pilot) assessment. About 100 will be from your community.

The purpose of both assessments is to find out how many Black MSM in your community have HIV. We are also checking to see how many are taking medication to treat or prevent HIV. Finally, we will ask questions about your life and opinions.

If you decide not to be in the study, there is no penalty and there will be no impact on any future healthcare.

4. You will be offered an HIV rapid test. You will also be offered a home test kit or a coupon to obtain a home test kit.

You will be offered an HIV rapid test. You will also be offered a home test kit or a coupon to obtain a home test kit locally. You don't have to take the HIV rapid test, or the home test kit or coupon to be in the study. The home kit will include instructions on how to take the test and what your results mean. If you have a positive test result, the kit provides information on how to get counseling and care. It is okay to take the kit or coupon being offered and give it to someone else who you feel could benefit from an HIV test. You can take up to two HIV mail-in test kits or coupons. The results of these tests are not part of the study and will not be entered into the study database.

5. We will take some blood from you.

We will take blood from your arm.

You will be asked to provide up to 40 mL of blood from your arm. This is about 8 teaspoons of blood. This blood will be used to check for HIV. If you have HIV, this blood will also be used to check how much virus is in your blood, whether you are taking medications to treat HIV, and whether the virus is resistant to drugs used treat HIV. This blood will also be used to estimate the number of new HIV infections in your community and to see how HIV spreads in the community. If you do not have HIV, this blood will be used to check if you are taking any medications to prevent HIV. If you have HIV, this sample may be used to estimate the number of new HIV infections in your community. Regardless of whether you have HIV or not, this blood may be used for tests about SARS-CoV-2 or other related viruses.

This testing will be performed at the HPTN Laboratory Center, or at laboratories selected by the HPTN Laboratory Center. Results from this testing will not be returned to you or the local study

team. Your blood samples will be identified with a study number but will not include any of your personal information. If you do not give permission to store your blood long term for future research, any leftover blood will be destroyed after the study required testing is completed. Your blood samples will never be used for commercial profit.

6. You will complete two surveys – one short and one long

You will be asked to complete two surveys – one short and one longer. You will complete the short one at the same time as the blood draw. You can complete the longer one today, or later. In the surveys, we will ask some basic questions about yourself (like your age and race). We will ask you what you know about this study, your health, your social support, how others treat you related to being gay, Black or living with HIV and your access to healthcare. We will also ask you questions related to HIV (like testing and what you know about how to prevent infection).

If you decide to do the longer survey later, we will ask you for your phone and email address so that we may contact you with reminders to do this survey.

7. We may ask you to invite others to join the study.

You may be offered up to three coupons to give to your friends and other people you know who self-identify as a Black MSM and are at least 15 years old that may be interested in the study. If the people who you give coupons are eligible and chose to participate in the study, you will receive some money. If you decide to take coupons to give to other people, we will ask you for your phone number or email so that we can give you this money.

8. It will take about 30-60 minutes to be in the study today.

It may take up to 30 minutes to provide your consent, have your blood drawn, answer the short questionnaire, and receive the coupons and your money. It may take up to 30 minutes to answer the longer survey, which you can do today or later.

9. Some of your blood may be left over at the end of the study and may be used for future research with your permission.

Some of your blood may be left over after all of the study tests are completed. If you agree, your samples may be stored and used for future research. If you agree, your samples and related health information will be stored safely and securely.

Only approved researchers will be able to use these samples and health information. Some researchers will need to have access to these samples to store them and keep track of where they are, but these people will not have information that directly identifies you.

There is no time limit on how long your samples will be stored. We do not yet know the specific type of testing that will be done with these samples. They may be used to check that certain laboratory tests are performed correctly. We do not plan to do any testing of your genes on stored samples. Any future testing that is not related to the goals of this study will have to be approved by an Institutional Review Board/Ethics Committee (IRB/EC).

You can still be in this study if you decide that we cannot store your leftover blood. You can change your mind about storing and using these samples for future tests at any time by writing to the person in charge of this study. We will then destroy the leftover samples. But researchers will not be able to destroy samples or information from research that is already started.

Please indicate by providing your initials in the spaces below if you agree to long-term storage and future testing of leftover blood samples.

PARTICIPAN	T INITIALS	
Initials	Date	I DO agree to allow my leftover blood to be stored and used in future research studies.
Initials	Date	I DO NOT agree to allow my leftover blood to be stored and used in future research studies.

RISKS OF THE STUDY

10. There may be risks to being in this study.

- If you decide to take and use the HIV mail-in test kit, you may feel nervous waiting for your test result. If the test shows that you might have HIV, you may worry about your health and future.
- When we draw your blood, we will stick a needle into your arm. This may hurt for a moment, and you may have a bruise afterwards. You may feel lightheaded, or in rare cases, you may faint. There is a small chance that you could get an infection at the place the needle went into your arm.
- Some of your blood will be tested for HIV. The study staff may be required by law to report the result of these tests to the local health authority.
- Some of the questions we ask you may make you feel uncomfortable or embarrassed. However, you will be answering these questions on a tablet, a computer or your phone, so you will not have to talk about your answers with anyone. You can skip questions that make you uncomfortable.
- If you take the longer survey later, we suggest that you answer the questions in a private place. This way, others will not see your answers.
- If others find out you are in the study, they may treat you unfairly. For example, your friends or family may treat you unfairly because they think that being in the study means that you have HIV.
- Additionally, there may be unknown risks.

BENEFITS OF THE STUDY

11. There may be no direct benefit to you by being in the study.

However, what we learn from you may help us learn more about HIV in your community. This information may lead to better ways to prevent HIV in the future. You will have the choice to receive a free HIV mail-in test kit or coupon to obtain a kit. You can use this kit yourself or give it to someone else who you think could benefit from an HIV test.

OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT THE STUDY

12. There are other ways to get HIV testing in your community.

Please ask the study staff if you would like more information about local HIV testing.

13. You may be withdrawn from the study without your consent.

This may happen if you fail to follow the instructions given by the study staff. We may also take you out of the study if the people who fund the study (NIH), conduct the study (HPTN) or review the study (institutional review board [IRB]) stop the study.

14. There is no cost to you to be in this study, and you will receive some money

We will give you up to \$xx for being in the study.

When you provide the blood draw and complete the short survey, you will receive \$xx. When you complete the longer survey, you will receive: \$xx. If someone who you provide a coupon to participates in the study, you will receive: \$xx. If all three people who you give a coupon to bring back their coupons, you will receive a total of \$xx (\$xx for each person).

15. We will let you know if any new information becomes available that may make you change your mind about participating in the study.

16. We will do our best to protect your private information.

We will make every effort to protect your private information, but we cannot guarantee absolute confidentiality. We will only collect enough of your personal information to ensure that you only participate in the study one time, to provide reminders about longer survey completion as needed, and to give you your money if you recruit others to the study. None of this information will be put into the study database, and it will be kept in a locked location. In the database, your information will only be linked to a code, not your name or any other identifying information. All study staff are trained and agree not to reveal any private information you share with them. Any publication of this study will not use your name or identify you personally.

The information you provide may be reviewed to ensure the assessment is being done properly. This information may be reviewed by the HPTN and people who work for them such as the study staff. It may also be reviewed by the organization that funds this study, National Institutes of Health (NIH), its contractors and study monitors. Any Institutional Review Board(s) (IRB) overseeing this study, and US Office for Human Research Protections are allowed to review the information you provide to the study. Your records will be kept for at least 3 years after the study ends, or longer if local regulations require. Your records will be destroyed when regulations allow it.

The researchers in this study will do everything they can to protect your privacy. We have obtained a "Certificate of Confidentiality" from NIH which can be used to legally refuse to give information that would identify you to others that are not a part of the study. For example, researchers can say "No" to a court that is trying to get information about you. But the courts can make researchers give information about you to prevent serious harm to you or others.

This certificate does not stop you, or people close to you, from telling others about your participation in the study. So, you and people close to you need to protect your information.

A description of this clinical trial will be available on <u>http://www.ClinicalTrials.gov</u>. This Web site will not include information that can identify you. At most, the Web site will include a summary of the results. You can search this Web site at any time.

17. If you get sick or injured during the study, let us know right away.

It is unlikely that you will be injured as a result of being in the study. If you are injured, the study staff will help you right away. You may or may not have to pay for this treatment. You will be told where you can get additional treatment for your injuries. There is no program to pay money or give other forms of compensation for such injuries from the NIH. You do not give up any legal rights by signing and dating this consent form.

18. Who to contact about this study.

During the study, if you experience any medical problems, suffer a research-related injury, or have questions, concerns or complaints about the study, please contact [add the name of the IoR] at the telephone number listed on the first page of this consent document.

An institutional review board (IRB) is an independent committee established to help protect the rights of research participants. If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, and/or concerns or complaints regarding this research study, contact:

By mail: Study Subject Adviser, Advarra IRB 6940 Columbia Gateway Drive, Suite 110. Columbia, MD 21046 or call toll free: 877-992-4724 or by email: <u>adviser@advarra.com</u>

Please reference the following number when contacting the Study Subject Adviser: (insert PRO number)

SIGNATURE PAGE

HPTN 096 Getting to Zero among Black MSM in the American South: Testing the Efficacy of an Integrated Strategy

FINAL Version 3.0 3 August 2023 INFORMED CONSENT/ASSENT FOR CROSS-SECTIONAL ASSESSMENT

If you have read this consent form, or had it read and explained to you, and you understand the information, and you voluntarily agree to join the study, please sign your name or make your mark below.

Participant Name (print)

Participant Signature and Date

Study Staff Conducting Consent Discussion (print) Study Staff Signature and Date

Witness Name (print) (As appropriate) Witness Signature and Date

APPENDIX IIC-III: SAMPLE INFORMED CONSENT FORM FOR ADULTS AND ASSENT FOR INDIVIDUALS AGES 15 TO AGE OF MAJORITY FOR PILOT BASELINE CROSS-SECTIONAL ASSESSMENTS (COMMUNITIES WITHOUT LOCAL LDMS LABORATORY)

HPTN 096

Getting to Zero among Black Men who have Sex Men (MSM) in the American South: Testing the Efficacy of an Integrated Strategy

FINAL Version 3.0 3 August 2023 DAIDS Document ID: 38561

SPONSORED BY: Division of AIDS, US National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, US National Institutes of Health.

INVESTIGATOR OF RECORD: [Add Name]

PHONE: [Insert Number]

INTRODUCTION

You are being asked to take part in a research study, entitled HPTN 096 or 'Getting to Zero among Black Men who have Sex with Men (MSM) in the American South.' This study is being done by the HIV Prevention Trials Network (HPTN).

Before you decide whether to take part in the study, this form explains the purpose of the study, the risks and benefits, and what will happen to you. You will be offered a copy of this consent form to keep.

1. You should know key information about this study before you join.

- You are being asked to join this study because you self-identify as a Black man who has sex with men (MSM) and are at least 15 years old.
- Taking part in this study is your choice. You can agree to be in the study today or not. If you agree, you can change your mind and leave the study at any time. If you choose not to join or to leave the study, you can still receive services from the field team in the future.
- The study will first be done in a subset of communities. During this time, the study team will identify problem areas and find ways to improve the programs before conducting the full study.
- You will be in the part of the study where we are measuring how many Black men like you have HIV. We are also checking to see how many are taking medication to treat or prevent HIV. Answering these questions will tell us if the other parts of the study are working to decrease HIV in some communities in the southern US.
- You will be offered an HIV rapid test, a home test kit or a coupon to obtain a home test kit. You do not have to take the rapid or home test kit or the coupon to be in the study.
- You will be asked to provide a blood sample from your arm and answer two surveys one is short, and one is long. You will be asked to do the short survey today, but you can do the long one later.
- You may also be offered coupons to give to your friends who are Black MSM. These coupons will allow your friends to participate in the study too.
- It will take about 30-60 minutes to be in the study today, depending on whether you choose to complete the longer survey now or later.
- It may hurt a little to give blood. Some of the questions in the survey are about sex or other topics that may make you feel uncomfortable. By participating in this study, people may think you have HIV, even if you don't.
- You may not receive any direct benefits from being in this study. However, what we learn from you may help us learn more about HIV in your community. This information may lead to better ways to prevent HIV in the future.
- You will receive some money if you give blood, complete the questions and if you recruit others to the study.

ABOUT THE STUDY

2. The overall study is testing four programs to reduce HIV in Black MSM.

Sixteen communities are participating in this research study. In eight communities, various programs will be put in place. In the other communities, these programs will not be available. The four programs are described below:

- One program will provide training to medical providers. This training seeks to make their clinics friendlier towards Black gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men.
- The second program seeks to work with community groups to help Black MSM overcome barriers to preventing and treating HIV.
- The third program will work with popular people on social media to raise awareness about HIV testing, PrEP use and provide information about HIV care and prevention.
- The last program provides peer support and health education for those living with and without HIV.

We hope these programs will reduce barriers to HIV prevention and care and decrease the number of Black men who get HIV.

Before carrying out these programs in all eight communities, they will be put in place in two communities, for about nine months. During this time, the study team will work to find ways to improve all the programs before starting the programs in the remaining communities.

3. You are being asked to be in the part of the study to find out if the four programs are decreasing HIV in some communities in the southern US.

This part of the study is called the cross-sectional assessment. During the study, there will be two cross-sectional assessments. The first one will take place before the programs start, and the second one will take place after the programs end. You are being asked to take part in the first (pilot) assessment.

About 400 Black MSM will participate in the first (pilot) assessment. About 100 will be from your community.

The purpose of both assessments is to find out how many Black men in your community have HIV. We are also checking to see how many are taking medication to treat or prevent HIV. Finally, we will ask questions about your life and opinions.

If you decide not to be in the study, there is no penalty and there will be no impact on any future healthcare.

4. You will be offered an HIV rapid test. You will also be offered a home test kit or a coupon to obtain a home test kit.

You will be offered a HIV rapid test. You will also be offered a home test kit or a coupon to obtain a home test kit locally. You don't have to take the HIV rapid test, or the home test kit or coupon to be in the study. The home kit will include instructions on how to take the test and what your results mean. If you have a positive test result, the kit provides information on how to get counseling and care. It is okay to take the kit or coupon being offered and give it to someone else who you feel could benefit from an HIV test. You can take up to two HIV mail-in test kits or coupons. The results of these tests are not part of the study and will not be entered into the study database.

5. We will take some blood from you.

We will take blood from your arm.

You will be asked to provide 20 mL of blood from your arm. This is about 4 teaspoons of blood. This blood will be used to check for HIV. If you have HIV, this blood will also be used to check how much virus is in your blood. If you have HIV, this sample may be used to estimate the number of new HIV infections in your community. If you do not have HIV, this sample will be used to check if you are taking any medications to prevent HIV.

This testing will be performed at the HPTN Laboratory Center, or at laboratories selected by the HPTN Laboratory Center. Results from this testing will not be returned to you or the local study team. Your blood samples will be identified with a study number but will not include any of your personal information. If you do not give permission to store your blood long term for future research, any leftover blood will be destroyed after the study required testing is completed. Your blood samples will never be used for commercial profit.

6. You will complete two surveys – one short and one long

You will be asked to complete two surveys – one short and one long. You will complete the short one at the same time as the blood draw. You can complete the longer one today, or later. In the surveys, we will ask some basic questions about yourself (like your age and race). We will ask you what you know about this study, your health, your social support, how others treat you related to being gay, Black or living with HIV and your access to healthcare. We will also ask you questions related to HIV (like testing and what you know about how to prevent infection).

If you decide to do the longer survey later, we will ask you for your phone and email address so that we may contact you with reminders to do this survey.

7. We may ask you to invite others to join the study.

You may be offered up to three coupons to give to your friends and other people you know who self-identify as a Black MSM and are at least 15 years old that may be interested in the study. If the people who you give coupons are eligible and chose to participate in the study, you will receive some money. If you decide to take coupons to give to other people, we will ask you for your phone number or email so that we can give you this money.

8. It will take about 30-60 minutes to be in the study today.

It may take up to 30 minutes to provide your consent, have your blood drawn, answer the short questionnaire, and receive the coupons and your money. It may take up to 30 minutes to answer the longer survey, which you can do today or later.

9. Some of your blood may be left over at the end of the study and may be used for future research with your permission.

Some of your blood may be left over after all of the study tests are completed. If you agree, your samples may be stored and used for future research. If you agree, your samples and related health information will be stored safely and securely.

Only approved researchers will be able to use these samples and health information. Some researchers will need to have access to these samples to store them and keep track of where they are, but these people will not have information that directly identifies you.

There is no time limit on how long your samples will be stored. We do not yet know the specific type of testing that will be done with these samples. They may be used to check that certain laboratory tests are performed correctly. We do not plan to do any testing of your genes on stored samples. Any future testing that is not related to the goals of this study will have to be approved by an Institutional Review Board/Ethics Committee (IRB/EC).

You can still be in this study if you decide that we cannot store your leftover blood. You can change your mind about storing and using these samples for future tests at any time by writing to the person in charge of this study. We will then destroy the leftover samples. But, researchers will not be able to destroy samples or information from research that is already started.

Please indicate by providing your initials in the spaces below if you agree to long-term storage and future testing of leftover blood samples.

PARTICIPANT INITIALS

Initials	Date	I DO agree to allow my leftover blood to be stored and used in future research studies.
Initials	Date	I DO NOT agree to allow my leftover blood to be stored and used in future research studies.

RISKS OF THE STUDY

10. There may be risks to being in this study.

- If you decide to take and use the HIV mail-in test kit, you may feel nervous waiting for your test result. If the test shows that you might have HIV, you may worry about your health and future.
- When we draw your blood, we will stick a needle into your arm. This may hurt for a moment, and you may have a bruise afterwards. You may feel lightheaded, or in rare cases, you may faint. There is a small chance that you could get an infection at the place the needle went into your arm.
- Some of your blood will be tested for HIV. The study staff may be required by law to report the result of these tests to the local health authority.
- Some of the questions we ask you may make you feel uncomfortable or embarrassed. However, you will be answering these questions on a tablet, a computer or your phone, so you will not have to talk about your answers with anyone. You can skip questions that make you uncomfortable.
- If you take the longer survey later, we suggest that you answer the questions in a private place. This way, others will not see your answers.
- If others find out you are in the study, they may treat you unfairly. For example, your friends or family may treat you unfairly because they think that being in the study means that you have HIV.
- Additionally, there may be unknown risks.

BENEFITS OF THE STUDY

11. There may be no direct benefit to you by being in the study.

However, what we learn from you may help us learn more about HIV in your community. This information may lead to better ways to prevent HIV in the future. You will have the choice to

receive a free HIV mail-in test kit or coupon to obtain a kit. You can use this kit yourself or give it to someone else who you think could benefit from an HIV test.

OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT THE STUDY

12. There are other ways to get HIV testing in your community.

Please ask the study staff if you would like more information about local HIV testing.

13. You may be withdrawn from the study without your consent.

This may happen if you fail to follow the instructions given by the study staff. We may also take you out of the study if the people who fund the study (NIH), conduct the study (HPTN) or review the study (institutional review board [IRB]) stop the study.

14. There is no cost to you to be in this study, and you will receive some money.

We will give you up to \$xx for being in the study.

When you provide the blood draw and complete the short survey, you will receive \$xx. When you complete the longer survey, you will receive: \$xx. If someone who you provide a coupon to participates in the study, you will receive: \$xx. If all three people who you give a coupon to bring back their coupons, you will receive a total of \$xx (\$xx for each person).

15. We will let you know if any new information becomes available that may make you change your mind about participating in the study.

16. We will do our best to protect your private information.

We will make every effort to protect your private information, but we cannot guarantee absolute confidentiality. We will only collect enough of your personal information to ensure that you only participate in the study one time, to provide reminders about longer survey completion as needed, and to give you your money if you recruit others to the study. None of this information will be put into the study database, and it will be kept in a locked location. In the database, your information will only be linked to a code, not your name or any other identifying information. All study staff are trained and agree not to reveal any private information you share with them. Any publication of this study will not use your name or identify you personally.

The information you provide may be reviewed to ensure the assessment is being done properly. This information may be reviewed by the HPTN and people who work for them such as the study staff. It may also be reviewed by the organization that funds this study, National Institutes of Health (NIH), its contractors and study monitors. Any Institutional Review Board(s) (IRB) overseeing this study, and US Office for Human Research Protections are allowed to review the information you provide to the study. Your records will be kept for at least 3 years after the study ends, or longer if local regulations require. Your records will be destroyed when regulations allow it.

The researchers in this study will do everything they can to protect your privacy. We have obtained a "Certificate of Confidentiality" from NIH which can be used to legally refuse to give information that would identify you to others that are not a part of the study. For example, researchers can say "No" to a court that is trying to get information about you. But the courts can make researchers give information about you to prevent serious harm to you or others.

This certificate does not stop you, or people close to you, from telling others about your participation in the study. So, you and people close to you need to protect your information.

A description of this clinical trial will be available on <u>http://www.ClinicalTrials.gov.</u> This Web site will not include information that can identify you. At most, the Web site will include a summary of the results. You can search this Web site at any time.

17. If you get sick or injured during the study, let us know right away.

It is unlikely that you will be injured as a result of being in the study. If you are injured, the study staff will help you right away. You may or may not have to pay for this treatment. You will be told where you can get additional treatment for your injuries. There is no program to pay money or give other forms of compensation for such injuries from the NIH. You do not give up any legal rights by signing and dating this consent form.

18. Who to contact about this study.

During the study, if you experience any medical problems, suffer a research-related injury, or have questions, concerns or complaints about the study, please contact [add the name of the IoR] at the telephone number listed on the first page of this consent document.

An institutional review board (IRB) is an independent committee established to help protect the rights of research participants. If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, and/or concerns or complaints regarding this research study, contact:

Study Subject Adviser, Advarra IRB 6940 Columbia Gateway Drive, Suite 110. Columbia, MD 21046 or call toll free: 877-992-4724 or by email: <u>adviser@advarra.com</u>

Please reference the following number when contacting the Study Subject Adviser: (insert PRO number)

SIGNATURE PAGE

HPTN 096 Getting to Zero among Black MSM in the American South: Testing the Efficacy of an Integrated Strategy

FINAL Version 3.0 3 August 2023 INFORMED CONSENT/ASSENT FOR CROSS-SECTIONAL ASSESSMENT

If you have read this consent form, or had it read and explained to you, and you understand the information, and you voluntarily agree to join the study, please sign your name or make your mark below.

Participant Name (print)

Participant Signature and Date

Study Staff Conducting Consent Discussion (print) Study Staff Signature and Date

Witness Name (print) (As appropriate) Witness Signature and Date